
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: Wednesday, 13 November 2019
Time: 4.00 p.m.

Venue: Committee Room 2 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Pat Phillips
Tel: 0151 691 8488
e-mail: patphillips@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Board are asked whether they have any personal or 
prejudicial interests in connection with any application on the agenda 
and, if so, to declare them and state the nature of the interest.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 17 
July, 2019.

4. WIRRAL EVOLUTIONS - ANNUAL REPORT 

Presentation – Jean Stephens, Wirral Evolutions.

5. SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY (SEND) SELF 
EVALUATION 

Presentation – Paul Boyce, Corporate Director for Children Services.

6. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION WEALTH AND WELLBEING 
PROGRAMME (Pages 9 - 40)

7. AIR QUALITY IN WIRRAL - STATUS ,PROGRESS AND 
PRIORITIES (Pages 41 - 56)

Public Document Pack



8. 2019 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT - CREATIVE 
COMMUNITIES (Pages 57 - 84)

9. HEALTHY WIRRAL - UPDATE (Pages 85 - 198)

10. DEMENTIA STRATEGY (Pages 199 - 226)

11. OLDER PERSONS FRAMEWORK (Pages 227 - 256)

12. CHESHIRE & MERSEYSIDE HEALTHCARE PARTNERSHIP 

Link for information: -

https://www.cheshireandmerseysidepartnership.co.uk/ 

13. PARTNER UPDATES FOR NOTING (Pages 257 - 262)

1 Healthwatch – Karen Prior, Chief Officer Healthwatch 
(Presentation).

2 NHS – Update - Nicola Allen, Head of Medical Directorate, NHS 
(Report).

14. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The date of the next formal Board meeting is Wednesday, 11 March, 
2020 at 4pm in Committee Room 2 Town Hall, Wallasey.

https://www.cheshireandmerseysidepartnership.co.uk/


HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Wednesday, 17 July 2019

Present: Councillor P Hackett (Chair)

Ms N Allen NHS England
Dr E Anwar Public Health Consultant, Wirral Council
Mr S Banks Chief Officer, Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group
Mr P Boyce Corporate Director for Children Services, Wirral Council
Cllr C Cooke Wirral Council (In Place of Cllr P Cleary)
Dr P Cowan Chair, Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group
Ms J Evans AD Integrated Commissioning Programme, Wirral 

Council
Cllr P Gilchrist Wirral Council
Mr G Hodkinson Director for (Adult) Care & Health, Wirral Council
Cllr I Lewis Wirral Council
Cllr C Jones Wirral Council (Deputising for Cllr P Cleary)
Cllr M McLaughlin Wirral Council
Mr G O’Rourke Wirral Local Policing Commander
Mr J Oxley AD Health and Care Outcomes, Wirral Council
Ms P Simpson Director of Nursing & Quality Improvement, Wirral 

Community Health & Care NHS Foundation Trust
Ms S Talbot Assistant Director Education, Wirral Council
Cllr T Usher Wirral Council

Apologies:

Dr F Alam Medical Director, Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust

Ms L Bishop CEO, Clatterbridge Cancer Centre, NHS Foundation 
Trust

Ms C Brown AD Modernisation and Support, Wirral Council
Cllr P Cleary Wirral Council
Ms S Cumiskey CEO, Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation 

Trust
Mr P Davies Chief Officer, Healthwatch
Ms J Holmes CEO, WUTH NHS Foundation Trust
Ms K Howell CEO, Wirral Community Health & Care NHS 

Foundation Trust
Ms V McGee Chief Officer, Wirral Community Health & Care NHS 

Foundation Trust
Ms L Quigley Director, Quality and Patient Safety Wirral CCG
Mr B Simpson Chair, Strategic Housing Partnership
Ms B Stone Head of Service, Community Action, Wirral
Mr M Thomas Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



55 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked if they had a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in connection 
with any item on the agenda and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of the 
interest. 

Councillor Phil Gilchrist declared a non-pecuniary interest by virtue of being the 
Appointed Governor: Cheshire and Wirral NHS Partnership Trust

Councillor Chris Jones declared a non-pecuniary interest by virtue of being employed 
with the Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.

56 MINUTES 

Resolved - That the accuracy of the Minutes of the Health & Wellbeing Formal 
Board held on 20 March, 2019 be approved as a correct record.

57 HEALTHWATCH 

Apologies had been received from the Chief Officer at Healthwatch and the Chair of 
the Committee indicated that this item had been circulated to Board members by 
email.

Resolved - That the Healthwatch update be deferred to the next meeting of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

58 NHS - UPDATE 

Nicola Allen - NHS England, presented an NHS England Quarterly Report and 
responded to members questions.

The report outlined the national and regional activities of NHS England and NHS 
Improvement from March 2019 to June 2019 with specific updates on the priorities of 
NHS North West.

The report noted that as of 1 April 2019, NHS England and NHS Improvement came 
together to act as a single organisation. The Boards of both organisations will 
continue to operate separately, meeting as committees in common with the two 
Boards sharing an integrated management team.

Following the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan in January 2019, three further 
supporting publications had been released:

1. The Interim NHS People Plan: this report sets out how the NHS needs 
to recruit, retain and develop more staff to meet rapidly growing 
demand for healthcare.

Page 2



2. Long Term Plan Implementation Framework: the framework can be 
found here: www.longtermplan.nhs.uk The framework summarises the 
commitments made in the NHS Long Term Plan alongside further 
information to help local system leaders refine their planning and 
prioritisation.

3. Designing Integrated Care Systems in England: This is an overview for 
all health and care leaders to help them to join forces so they are better 
able to improve the health of their populations.

More than 99% of practices in England have come together to form more than 1,200 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs). GPs will recruit multi-disciplinary teams, including 
pharmacists, physiotherapists, paramedics, physician associates and social 
prescribing support workers, allowing family doctors to focus on the sickest patients. 

Cheshire and Merseyside NHS England has secured £6million investment for 2018-
2020 to support Primary Care Networks.

The PCN initiative comes alongside efforts to recruit more GPs as part of the NHS 
Long Term Plan. Locally there are several initiatives being pursued:

- Development of Physician Associate roles with 5 employed on Wirral 
LIFT.

- Clinical Pharmacists – an additional 66 (whole time equivalent)
- Practice Manager Development 
- GP Retention Schemes

The report noted that pathways and services have been developed to stream 
patients to community pharmacies when they need help with their medicines; this 
releases capacity in services that previously undertook these services.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

59 UNPLANNED CARE - UPDATE 

Jacqui Evans, Assistant Director, Integrated Commissioning Programme provided 
the Board with a verbal update on progress and developments across the unplanned 
care system.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

60 HEALTHY WIRRAL PROGRAMME UPDATE 

Simon Banks, Chief Officer, Wirral Health and Care Commissioning and NHS Wirral 
CCG and Senior Responsible Officer, Healthy Wirral presented an update report on 
the Healthy Wirral Programme and responded to questions from Members.

Page 3

http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/


The report informed that The Healthy Wirral Programme has identified a mission of 
‘Better health and wellbeing in Wirral by working together’ with the clearly stated aim 
to enable all people in Wirral to live longer and healthier lives by taking simple steps 
to improve their own health and wellbeing. 

By achieving this together we can provide the very best health and social care 
services when people really need them, as close to home as possible. Delivering this 
aim requires the Wirral partners to rise to four key challenges:

- Acting As One – exemplified in actions and behaviours. Delivering net 
system benefit.

- Improving population health – delivering the Healthy Wirral outcomes 
around better care and better health using a place based approach.

- Clinical sustainability – sustainable, high quality, appropriately staffed, 
delivered across organisational boundaries.

- Financial sustainability – managing with our allocation, taking cost out, 
avoiding costs, delivering efficiency and better value.

The paper outlined the key actions that have been undertaken to date and the 
proposed next steps to progress the Healthy Wirral Programme.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

61 HEALTHY WIRRAL OPERATIONAL PLAN 2019/20 AND 5 YEAR 
STRATEGIC PLAN 

Simon Banks, Chief Officer, Wirral Health and Care Commissioning and NHS Wirral 
CCG and Senior Responsible Officer, Healthy Wirral presented a report that outlined 
the Healthy Wirral Operational Plan 2019/20 and a five year Strategic Plan and 
responded to questions from Members.

The report noted that NHS England published the NHS Long Term Plan on 7th 
January 2019. This was accompanied by full planning guidance for 2019/20 setting 
out “must do” deliverables and financial allocations. 

The guidance set out an expectation that one year operational plans for 2019/20 
would need to be submitted to NHS England and NHS Improvement by 4th April 
2019. Each system is also required to have five year sustainability plans by autumn 
2019 that deliver the requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan at a local level. 

Resolved – That the report be noted.

62 URGENT CARE UPDATE 

Simon Banks, Chief Officer, Wirral Health and Care Commissioning and NHS Wirral 
CCG and Senior Responsible Officer, Healthy Wirral introduced a report on the 
Urgent Care Update and responded to questions from Members.

Page 4



The report noted that as a result of the public consultation, the recommendations for 
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Governing Body were to approve 
all of the following:

A) Implementation of a 24-hour Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at the Arrowe Park 
Hospital Site

B) All-age walk in access in each community hub: 

- Wallasey – Victoria Central Hospital (8am-8pm) reduction of 2 hours 
from current provision

- Birkenhead – Birkenhead Medical Centre (8am-8pm) increase of 2 
hours from current provision

- South Wirral – Eastham Clinic (12pm-8pm) no change from current 
provision

- West Wirral – UTC at Arrowe Park Hospital Site (24-hours) increase of 
10 hours from current provision

C) Changes to Gladstone (formerly Parkfield) and Moreton Minor Injury Units 

-  Gladstone (formerly Parkfield) Minor Injury & Illness Unit, New Ferry 
- Moreton Minor Injury & Illness Unit, Moreton Health Clinic, Moreton

Changes to the Minor Injury & Illness Units are in accordance with proposals outlined 
in the report, notably section 3.3.

D) Dressings 

- It is proposed to develop a specific planned/bookable dressing service 
within the West Wirral/Moreton area to ensure continuity of service for 
residents.

The report noted that Gladstone Minor Injury and Illness Unit & Moreton Minor Injury 
and Illness Unit were to be replaced with access to urgent GP/Nurse appointments in 
local GP practices.

The report stated that in reaching the decision for the recommendations, a full quality 
and equality impact assessment has been completed which provide full details of 
considerations and mitigations.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

63 FEEDBACK ON CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC) REVIEW OF 
SERVICES FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND SAFEGUARDING IN 
WIRRAL - MAY 2019 

Paul Boyce, Corporate Director for Children Services gave a verbal update regarding 
feedback on the CQC Review of Services for Looked After Children and 
Safeguarding in Wirral – May 2019 and responded to questions from Members. 

Page 5



The full report is available on the following link;
 
www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20190701_clas_wirral_final_report.pdf 

Resolved – That the presentation be noted.

64 BCF ARRANGEMENTS 2019 - 2020 

Jacqui Evans, Assistant Director, Integrated Commissioning Programme gave a 
presentation (available under Appendix 2 in the Agenda Pack) and responded to 
questions from Members.

The full report is available on the following link;

https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50060240/Report.pdf 

Resolved – That:

1 the report be noted

2 Members supported the recommendation to delegate authority to the 
Director of Care and Health with the Chair of Health & Wellbeing Board to 
formally approve the final BCF submission, in order to comply with the 
mandated timescales for formal submission to NHSE.

65 UPDATE ON NEIGHBOURHOODS AND NETWORKS 

Graham Hodkinson, Director for (Adult) Care & Health gave a verbal update to the 
Health & Wellbeing Board on Neighbourhoods and Networks and responded to 
questions from Members. 

Resolved – That the report be noted.

66 REDUCING THE STRENGTH 

Dr Elspeth Anwar gave a presentation to Members of the Health & Wellbeing Board 
on the Reducing the Strength project and responded to questions from Members.

The presentation referred to initiatives designed to tackle the problems associated 
with street drinking by removing the sale of low price, high strength alcohol products 
through voluntary agreements with local retailers. The Reducing the Strength 
initiative started in 2015 and is funded by Wirral Public Health and delivered by Wirral 
Environmental Health Team.

It was noted that the project has won a Best Project Award from the Chartered 
Institute of Environmental Health as well as a Phoenix Futures Award.

Page 6

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20190701_clas_wirral_final_report.pdf
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50060240/Report.pdf


Resolved – That the presentation be noted.

67 INCREASED INDEPENDENCE AND TRANSFORMING CARE: A 
LEARNING DISABILITY UPDATE 

Jason Oxley, Assistant Director Health and Care Outcomes provided an update and 
responded to questions from Members of the Board regarding progress made in 
commissioning services for people with Learning Disabilities with a specific focus on 
the implementation of the Transforming Care Programme (TCP) priorities in Wirral.

The update noted that the Transforming Care Programme (TCP) has taken a lead 
from social care to take a person-centred approach. It describes the need to develop 
alternative support for people with a learning disability in order that they can move on 
from Clinical and Institutional environments to receive the support that they need to 
live independently in their own homes and within their own communities.

The full report is available on the following link;

https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50060189/Report%20TCP%20Update.p
df 

Resolved – That the report be noted.

68 CHILDREN'S SERVICE IMPROVEMENT 

Paul Boyce, Corporate Director for Children Services gave a presentation on 
improvements in Children’s Services and responded to questions from Members of 
the Board. 

The presentation covered the service’s next steps following OFSTED and CQC 
inspections, readiness for inspection for SEND, inclusion and special schools, Short 
breaks and residential respite, The Youth Offer, Safer Wirral-Domestic Abuse and 
Anti-social behaviour, Community and Family Matters and Partnership for Children.

Resolved – That the presentation be noted.

69 SEND 

Sue Talbot, Assistant Director Education School Commissioning gave a presentation 
and responded to questions from Members of the Board.

The presentation laid out the new responsibilities of the 2014 Act, the services’ plans 
for the next 12 months, the current issues and risks facing services for SEND 
children and young people and highlighted that there will be a SEND inspection of 
the council.

Resolved – That the presentation be noted.

Page 7

https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50060189/Report%20TCP%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50060189/Report%20TCP%20Update.pdf


70 WIRRAL TOGETHER FOR CHILDREN YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES 

Apologies had been received from Carly Brown, Assistant Director Modernisation & 
Support, Childrens Services who had prepared a presentation on Wirral Together for 
Children Young People and Families. Paul Boyce, Corporate Director for Children 
Services summarised the presentation and responded to questions of the Board.

It was noted that a copy of the presentation was available in the meeting Agenda 
Pack.

Resolved – That the presentation be noted.

71 CHESHIRE & MERSEY HEALTHCARE PARTNERSHIP 

Link for information only

https://www.cheshireandmerseysidepartnership.co.uk/ 

72 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The Chair noted that due to changes in personnel and an increase in the number of 
politicians on the Health and Wellbeing Board he had asked the Director for Health 
and Wellbeing to make contact with the LGA to schedule a development session in 
the Autumn.

The date of the next formal Board meeting is Wednesday 13 November, 2019 at 
3:00pm in Committee Room 2 Town Hall, Wallasey.

Page 8

https://www.cheshireandmerseysidepartnership.co.uk/


1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
DATE:13TH NOVEMBER 2019

REPORT TITLE Health, productivity and inclusive economies in Liverpool 

city region.

REPORT OF Alan Higgins, Head of Programme, Public Health 

England.

REPORT SUMMARY
It is imperative that improving health is recognised as a priority for fair economic prosperity 

in Liverpool City Region.  Data is presented in the attached report to show the impact of 

poor health in the city region on productivity and the leading element of that poor health.  

The evidence and good practice on what can be done to address poor health in an economic 

context is reviewed and interventions are proposed under four headings.  The presentation 

at the meeting will summarise the interventions and ask the Board to respond to the report 

with consideration of whether, and to what extent, the Board has, or will, adopt the position 

that plans for economic development take on board poor health as a limiting factor and the 

actions that follow from this position. In addition, the Health and Work profile for Wirral is 

attached as supplementary information

Background
The Liverpool City Region (LCR) Wealth and Wellbeing Programme was initiated in July 

2018 in an agreement between the council leaders, Combined Authority and Public Health 

England to specifically address work and economic development as key determinants of 

population health.  It has progressed through engagement with a wide range of people 

across the six boroughs in LCR, through development of a public narrative on the issue and 

through analysis of the productivity gap and review of evidence of what would work to 

address the issue.

Success has been achieved in positioning Good work, health and wellbeing for all, as a 

leading theme in Local Industrial Strategy.  By December 2019 the programme will pull 

together the different strands of analysis and the views of Boards and others into a 

framework for progress over the next 18 months.

RECOMMENDATION

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



2

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to consider the findings of the attached report 
and to discuss the position of the Board in Wirral, and in LCR, with regard to the view that 
health is an imperative in economic planning and that action to address poor health should 
be prioritised in economic planning.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
1.1 The attached report is a discussion document and the recommendation is to discuss 

the findings now to feed into a report that will make recommendations in December 
2019.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None considered.
3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

None at this point
4.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

None at this point. 
5.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

None at this point.
6.0 RELEVANT RISKS

None identified at this point. 
7.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

Ongoing across LCR
8.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Action in this area would reduce inequality in health

REPORT AUTHOR: Name: Alan Higgins
Role: Head of Programme, PHE
telephone:  07880 797374
email: alan.higgins@phe.gov.uk  

APPENDICES Productivity and Health report
Wirral Work and Health profile 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Health and Wellbeing Board 14th November 2018

Page 10



1

Wirral

This profile has been designed as a resource to accompany the Liverpool City 
Region (LCR) Wealth and Wellbeing Programme. As such it should be read 
alongside other discussion papers that are available on wealth and wellbeing in LCR. 

This document is designed to prompt local discussions on the work and health 
agenda and similar profiles are available for each of the other five local authorities 
that make the LCR Combined Authority. 

This profile contains six sections:
 Section 1 provides some background information about the Metropolitan Borough 

of Wirral, including a population summary and an overview of out-of-work benefit 
claimant data.

 Section 2 explores the relationships between unemployment and other factors at 
a local level.

 Section 3 contains a ‘key lines of enquiry’ approach to help test the assumptions 
of the data contained in Section 2 and guide possible interpretations. It also 
begins to formulate ideas about what action or next steps should be considered.

 Section 4 contains links to evidence that might support identified actions.
 Section 5 contains technical information relating to the data used during 

preparation of this profile, including explanatory notes.
 Section 6 (appendices) contains definitions of the key terms used throughout this 

profile (Appendix 1) and additional data supporting Table 3 (Appendix 2) to enable 
comparisons between individual boroughs of the LCR or the national benchmark.

Work and Health Profile 2019

Key messages

 Poor health seems to be a major underlying reason of economic inactivity in 
Wirral and across LCR.

 Mental ill-health is recorded as the primary reason for more than half of out-of-
work benefit claims.  

Page 11



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

2

The Metropolitan Borough of Wirral is one of the six local authorities that make LCR 
(Figure 1). In 2018 Wirral was a home to just over 323,000 residents, of which 
145,900 were economically active. As of 2017, the main industrial sectors that Wirral 
residents were employed in were: health and social work activities (24.3%), 
wholesale and retail trade (14.6%) and education (10.7%). At £405 a week, the 
earnings of local employees match the LCR average but still fall around £35 short of 
the national benchmark (£440).

At 5.2%, the proportion of out of work families with dependent children is also 
significantly higher in Wirral than across England (4.2%). Residents of Wirral are 
generally well educated – 35.1% hold NVQ4 or above. This is more than the LCR 
average but still around 4 percentage points less than the national average (39.3%). 
The proportion of people living in 20% most deprived areas in Wirral is noticeably 
lower than the LCR average of 44.8%, though at 30.7% it is still over 10 percentage 
points higher than the England average (20.2%).

Poor health accounts for a 33% gap in productivity between LCR and the national 
average. This is equivalent to £3.2bn or 10% of the LCR Gross Value Added (GVA) 
measure of the economy.

In addressing economic inactivity attributable to health issues, there is a spectrum of 
need and opportunity: from increasing the employability of people with chronic 
conditions or disabilities to improving working conditions or solving the wider 
problems of the labour market. 

Section 1: Background information and overview of worklessness

Figure 1. Geography and population 
of the Liverpool City Region (LCR).

Deprivation is a major determinant of 
health and historically health 
inequalities have generally been 
higher in the North West than 
elsewhere. For example, average life 
expectancy is 2.5 years lower in LCR 
than in the rest of the country. The 
prevalence of ill-health is increasing 
and limiting conditions and disabilities 
remain one of the key barriers to 
employment. 

Page 12



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

3

Good work is known to be a factor in maintaining health and wellbeing. Healthy 
workers are more motivated to stay in work, return to work after sickness more 
quickly and are at lower risk of long-term illness.

The aim of this profile is, therefore, to provide an overview of employment and 
worklessness in Wirral, show the potential for intervention and prompt local 
discussion about the work and health agenda. 

Source: Labour Market Profile – Wirral and PHE Fingertips – Public Health Profiles

Page 13

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157107/report.aspx
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

4

Figure 2. Labour market summary, Wirral, January 2018 to December 2018.

Source: Annual Population Survey

Key observations

 The illustration shows that measures of local economic activity can mask where 
the opportunities for intervention are. People on out-of-work benefits can be 
defined as either economically active or economically inactive.

 A good starting point for estimating the number of people likely to take up a job 
in the near future is to consider the unemployed and those who are 
economically inactive but claim that they want a job. For Wirral, this is a pool of 
about 13,300 people (3,700 + 9,600) – nearly 5,000 fewer than the total number 
of out-of-work benefit claimants (Table 1).

 Compared to other out-of-work benefit groups, the count of ESA claimants in 
Wirral is high. It is known that the majority of people on ESA are long-term 
claimants, for whom entering work may be difficult for a variety of reasons, 
including poor health or disability.

 Local policies and actions should consider most, if not all, of the factors which 
limit claimant’s ability to return to work. Here, the support may need to go 
beyond that provided by employment advice alone. Making the labour market 
more accessible and accommodating for people with limiting health conditions 
or disabilities is another potential area for intervention.

Note: * Count less than 500 and not represented graphically. ** Sample size zero or potentially disclosive. Due to rounding 
and the lack of data for individuals classified as ‘temporary sick’ or ‘discouraged’, values and percentages within the 
economically inactive category may not add up to 44,900 and/or 100%, respectively.

Page 14

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

5

Figure 3. Participation in the labour market, Wirral, January 2018 to December 
2018.

Source: Annual Population Survey

Benefit claimant analysis
Another way of measuring worklessness is by the number of claimants for out-of-
work benefits. Of the working age population in Wirral, 12.4% claim benefits.

Table 1. Out-of-work benefit claimants, Wirral, November 2018.

Source: Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) Benefits- Work and Pensions 
Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

Note: Percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding.

Key observation

 If we accept the premise that disability or ill-health should not be a barrier to 
employment, then the proportions of people in employment in the working age 
population and the population with long-term health conditions should be 
approximately the same. Of about 88,400 people (16+) with long-term 
conditions in Wirral, more than half (53.4%) are economically inactive. This is 
similar to the LCR average (54.5%) but still 2.5 percentage points higher than 
the England average (50.9%). Poor health seems to be a major underlying 
cause of economic inactivity in Wirral. 

Adults aged 16-64 years
WirralStatistical Group 

typology
n %

LCR (%) England (%)

Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA) 780 0.4 0.9 0.7
Employment and Support 
Allowance (ESA) 

15,530 8.1 8.7 5.0

Incapacity Benefits (IB) * - 0.0 0.0
Lone parent 1,650 0.9 1.0 0.8
Others on income related 
benefit 60 0.0 0.0 0.0

All out-of-work benefits 18,020 9.4 10.7 6.6
Note: * Nil or negligible figure. Percentages calculated based on working age population data – Jan’18 to Dec’18 
(Wirral n= 190,800; LCR n= 967,600; EN n= 34,728,600). Individual percentages may not add up due to rounding.

Page 15

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

6

Table 2. Percentage of working age population who are claiming out-of-work 
benefits, Liverpool City Region (by borough), November 2018.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

Key observations

 Percentage of all out-of-work benefit claimants in Wirral is slightly lower than the 
regional (i.e. LCR) average (10.7%), but at 9.4% it still considerably exceeds 
the national average (6.6%).

 Among the six LCR boroughs, the percentage of out-of-work benefit claimants 
is relatively low in Wirral. The difference between Wirral and the two boroughs 
with the highest proportion of out-of-work benefit claimants (i.e. Knowsley and 
Liverpool) is over 3 percentage points.

LCR borough %

Halton 7.6
Knowsley 12.8
Liverpool 12.8
Sefton 8.6
St Helens 12.0
Wirral 9.4

Points for further consideration

 Comparison of the areas where ESA claimant count might be highest 
(or lowest) with the map in Figure 4 and the corresponding table.

 Closeness of the match between deprivation scores for these areas and 
the ESA counts.

Page 16

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

7

Figure 4. Percentage of ESA claimants by 2003 ward boundaries, Wirral, 
November 2018.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

Ward n %
Bebington 435 2.8
Bidston 945 6.1
Birkenhead 1,645 10.6
Bromborough 790 5.1
Clatterbridge 390 2.5
Claughton 755 4.9
Eastham 380 2.5
Egerton 920 5.9
Heswall 230 1.5
Hoylake 380 2.5
Leasowe 860 5.6
Liscard 860 5.6
Moreton 495 3.2
New Brighton 900 5.8
Oxton 605 3.9
Prenton 540 3.5
Royden 365 2.4
Seacombe 1,285 8.3
Thurstaston 310 2
Tranmere 1,190 7.7
Upton 735 4.8
Wallasey 450 2.9

Total 15,530 100.0
Note: Total number of ESA claimants 
presented here may be slightly different to that 
in Table 1 due to rounding or suppression.

Page 17

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

8

Figure 5. Treemap illustrating the conditions recorded as being the primary reason for ESA claim by age categories, 
Wirral, November 2018.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

Section 2: Data exploration

Note: The treemap displays the eight largest ranked clusters of conditions recorded as being the primary reason of an ESA claim. Please note, the age categories shown are not 
evenly sized. 

P
age 18

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

9

Table 3. Directly standardised ESA claimant rates per 100,000 population, by 
ICD-10 chapter of condition, Wirral, November 2018.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

Key observations

 The treemap uses numbers rather than rates to emphasise the number of 
people with each condition and the relative distribution of conditions across the 
ESA claimant population in Wirral.

 Of the eight conditions, mental ill-health is recorded as the primary reason for an 
ESA claim in more than half the cases.

 In Wirral, there are more people aged 16-34 on health-related out-of-work 
benefits because of a mental health condition than all ages (i.e. 16-64) because 
of a musculoskeletal condition (i.e. second most common health-related reason 
for being out-of-work in the UK).

 For all health conditions and illnesses, older workers make the most claims.

Aged 16-64 Aged 50-64Type of condition Wirral LCR England Wirral LCR England
Infections 20.8 26.7 26.1 44.7 52.4 51.9
Cancers 171.7 189.7 122.4 372.3 449.0 291.1
Blood 20.8 16.4 11.1 44.7 32.8 19.8
Endocrine 98.8 115.9 72.2 193.6 249.1 161.2
Mental 4,192.5 4,523.4 2,536.4 5,196.9 6,190.8 3,300.4
Nervous system 561.8 548.6 372.7 789.2 835.7 592.9
Eye 67.6 62.6 46.3 89.3 108.2 82.2
Ear 31.2 36.9 22.5 59.6 59.0 32.6
Circulatory 286.1 327.1 181.1 699.9 855.4 473.1
Respiratory 254.9 290.2 122.3 551.0 694.8 301.9
Digestive 140.4 144.6 71.5 253.1 275.3 132.5
Skin 31.2 37.9 20.5 44.7 72.1 37.4
Musculoskeletal 920.7 1,020.4 612.5 2,054.9 2,480.9 1,462.6
Genito/urinary 41.6 40.0 25.3 74.5 72.1 45.4
Pregnancy * 6.2 3.9 * * 0.9
Perinatal conditions * * 0.1 * * *
Congenital 
malformations 93.6 92.3 60.0 89.3 95.0 60.6

Symptoms and 
abnormalities 764.6 788.6 424.8 1,087.0 1,301.1 739.4

Injuries/poisoning 156.1 173.3 109.8 268.0 311.3 197.8
Other factors 182.1 205.1 128.2 297.8 358.6 254.5

Statistically better than LCR Statistically similar to LCR
Statistically worse than LCR

Note: * Suggests there were too few observations (< 10) in the age group of interest (16-64 or 50-64) to calculate a DSR. For 
these conditions comparisons with the regional (LCR) benchmark were not possible.

Page 19

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

10

Key observations

 For the entire working age population (16-64 years olds) in Wirral, DSRs for 
most conditions are statistically similar to the LCR values. In some cases 
however, they compare favourably with the regional benchmark.

 In the 16-64 age group, DSRs for all but one group of conditions (i.e. infections) 
are higher in Wirral than at the national level (see Appendix 2 to check 
statistical significance).

 For all but one group of conditions (i.e. congenital malformations), DSRs are 
higher among 50-64 year olds than for 16-64 year olds living in Wirral.

Points for further consideration

 Factors or local characteristics which can help explain the similarities in health 
between ESA claimants living in Wirral and across LCR.

 Comparison of the prevalence of conditions among the out-of-work population 
in Wirral with other boroughs of the Combined Authority, LCR as a whole and 
the national benchmark (see Appendix 2).

 Closeness of the match between deprivation scores and ESA counts. 
 Reasons why DSRs are generally higher among older workers.

Page 20



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

11

Table 4. Table illustrating other socio-demographic characteristics that have a 
statistical association with reported out-of-work status for the older working 
age population (50-64 years). Liverpool City Region, 2016.

Source: Unpublished 2011 Census analysis, Local Knowledge and Intelligence 
Service, PHE

Male Female
Increased 

likelihood of 
reporting out-
of-work status

Reduced 
likelihood of 

reporting out-of-
work status

Increased 
likelihood of 

reporting out--
of-work status

Reduced 
likelihood of 

reporting out-of-
work status

Single or 
divorced Access to cars/vans

Those who have 
reported that 

they have 
moved in the 

past year

Access to cars/vans

Living in rented 
accommodation

Better 
qualifications/higher 

educational 
attainment

Living in rented 
accommodation

Reporting 
themselves to be in 

‘good health’

Living with 
person who has 
a limiting long 
term illness

Reporting 
themselves to be in 

‘good health’

Reporting no 
current 

passport*

Better 
qualifications/higher 

educational 
attainment

Those who have 
reported that 

they have 
moved in the 

past year
Note: * Passport ownership was used as a proxy for wider socio-demographic phenomena (e.g. social mobility).

Page 21



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

12

Key lines of enquiry

Data quality checks

 Is the data presented in the profile accurate to the best of your knowledge?
 Do you have more granular or more up to date data that could be used (for 

example, SUS, primary care data or Jobcentre Plus data)?
 Does the quantitative data in the report concur with locally available quantitative 

or qualitative data, such as local burden of disease analysis, or lifestyle surveys?
 Does the overall picture concur with the needs identified within the local Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)?

Observations

 In which areas do the local data show a difference from the national average in 
respect of unemployment rates, types of benefit claimed, barriers to employment 
and ill-health within the out-of-work population? This should include an 
appreciation of differences that are better or worse than the national benchmark.

 Is there a difference between the health status of the general population and that 
reported within the out-of-work population?

 Does Wirral demography contain concentrations of the socio-demographic 
characteristics that have been shown to be more or less likely to be associated 
with worklessness (Table 4)?

 Are there any apparent inconsistencies or incongruences in the data presented 
(i.e. high levels of employment in areas where there are known to be a 
concentration of rented accommodation, which is known to be a characteristic 
associated with reporting out-of-work status)?

Insights

 Is there a difference between the general health profile and that of the out-of-work 
population? Can this be explained by methodology weaknesses, aspects of 
service design (e.g. by enhanced self-management programmes or diversion 
schemes, genuine concentrations of ill-health within the out-of-work population 
that are not present in the general population, aspects of service provision or 
general under-provision for hard to reach groups)?

 Can the data in the profile be connected with the result of local intelligence 
exercises to support insight, such as community development work, Healthwatch, 
patient groups and user groups?

 Which areas are at risk of having a combination of characteristics that would 
increase the likelihood of worklessness (i.e. high rates of chronic illness within 

Section 3: Interpretation

Page 22



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

13

particular black and minority ethnic (BME) communities where cohabitations is 
known to be high)?

 Can a pen picture be created for the communities that need to be targeted or the 
types of service that needs to be enhanced?

Actions

 What priorities can be identified from this work: priority communities, priority 
health conditions, priority service gaps or reconstituted provision?

 What is the nature of the response required (e.g. commission new services, 
amend current provision, specify new interventions, specify target ‘client group’, 
commission further intelligence, identify new stakeholders)?

 Where in the governance structures should the accountability and responsibility 
for action lie?

 Who will coordinate and oversee action? Will activity be directed as a function of 
health workstreams or work programme workstreams?

Further investigations

 What gaps in understanding have been identified and how will these gaps be 
addressed?

 What mechanisms are available to support further analysis (i.e. use of partnership 
local authority analysts/researchers, academic health science networks, PHE, 
private contractors, etc.)?

 What is the process for determining if the gap is a local one or one shared by a 
number of boroughs where a once-for-all approach would be better?

 How will progress be monitored and evaluated?
 Can you replicate this profile locally with near real-time data?

Page 23



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

14

The following is a list of quality sources of evidence relevant to the PHE Work and 
Health Profiles.

Based on the key themes emerging from these profiles, sample searches were 
conducted about what methods are effective in helping to get individuals currently 
out-of-work due to mental health and musculoskeletal (MSK) conditions back into 
employment.

Original searches took place between May and June 2016, and were updated in 
June 2019. Key search terms included worklessness, unemployment, mental health 
and health inequalities. Examples of the types of evidence available, with some brief 
details, are presented for information below.

Please note that no assessment was made of the quality of the material listed (please 
refer directly to the source for more details). Therefore, this is not intended to be an 
exhaustive list of the available evidence.

Sample sources and examples of the types of evidence:

Section 4: Sources of evidence

Sample evidence Example findings/details
The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (CDSR)

Return‐to‐work coordination 
programmes for improving return 
to work in workers on sick leave
Vogel et al, 2017

Little benefit of offering return‐to‐work 
coordination programmes for workers on sick 
leave for at least four weeks compared to 
usual practice.

Interventions to help depressed 
people resume work
Nieuwenhuijsen at al, 2014

Adding a work-directed intervention to a 
clinical one can reduce days on sick leave.

Supported employment for adults 
with severe mental illness
Kinoshita et al, 2013

Enhancing primary or occupational care with 
CBT can reduce sick leave compared with 
usual care.

Improving return to work in adults 
suffering from symptoms of 
distress
Arends et al, 2012

Problem solving therapy (PST) speeds up 
partial return to work (PTW) compared with no 
intervention or usual care. CBT or PST no 
more effective for full return to work than no 
treatment or usual care.

Page 24

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/cochranelibrary/search
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD011618.pub2/full
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD011618.pub2/full
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD011618.pub2/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD006237.pub3/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD006237.pub3/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD008297.pub2/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD008297.pub2/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD006389.pub2/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD006389.pub2/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD006389.pub2/full


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

15

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance documents

Rheumatoid arthritis in adults: 
management [NG100]
July 2018

This guideline covers diagnosing and 
managing rheumatoid arthritis. It is directed at 
healthcare professionals, commissioners and 
providers of healthcare as well as patients with 
RA and their families.

Bipolar disorder: assessment and 
management [CG185]
April 2018

This clinical guideline covers recognising, 
managing and treating bipolar disorder in 
children, young people and adults. It is 
directed at health and social care 
professionals, patients with bipolar disorder, 
their carers and families/ relatives.

Depression in adults: recognition 
and management [CG90]
April 2018

This clinical guideline covers identifying and 
managing depression in individuals aged 18 or 
over, in primary and secondary care. It is 
directed at healthcare professionals, people 
with depression, their families and carers.

Low back pain and sciatica in 
over 16s: assessment and 
management [NG59]
November 2016

This guideline covers assessing and managing 
low back pain (LBP) and sciatica in individuals 
aged 16 or over. It is directed at healthcare 
professionals, commissioners and providers of 
healthcare, LBP and sciatic patients, their 
families and carers.

Autism spectrum disorder in older 
adults: diagnosis and 
management [CG142]
August 2016

This clinical guidance covers diagnosing and 
managing suspected or confirmed autism 
spectrum disorder in people aged 18 or over. It 
is directed at health and social care 
professionals, commissioners and providers of 
healthcare, adults with autism, their families, 
partners and carers.

Two resource packs are available 
for the following conditions:

MSK
 Osteoarthritis
 Rheumatoid arthritis
 Low back pain

The resource packs, hosted on the NW PHE 
Khub site contain the following:
1) Links to supporting resources for 

commissioners including relevant NICE 
guidelines, commissioning and costing 
tools, implementation and audit tools

2) Compilation of all statements and 
associated measures for Quality Standards 

Page 25

http://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng100
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng100
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg185
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg185
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg90
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg90
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg142
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg142
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg142
https://www.khub.net/group/phe-north-west-public-health-information-group/library?p_p_id=20&p_p_lifecycle=0&p_p_state=normal&p_p_mode=view&p_p_col_id=column-1&p_p_col_count=1&_20_entryEnd=20&_20_displayStyle=descriptive&_20_viewEntries=1&_20_viewFolders=true&_20_folderStart=0&_20_struts_action=%2Fdocument_library%2Fview&_20_folderEnd=20&_20_entryStart=0&_20_folderId=26817492


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

16

Mental health
 Depression
 Anxiety
 Autism
 Bipolar disorder
 Psychosis and schizophrenia

(QS identify priorities for service 
improvement and define measures to track 
progress)

3) Compilation of all ‘do not do’ 
recommendations from relevant MSK and 
MH guidance – these are designed to 
support disinvestment and efficiency 
decisions

4) Links to the NICE return on investment 
tools for public health (these aim to support 
investment decisions by commissioners in 
local authorities)

5) Table of NICE service quality indicators 
relevant to the stated conditions.

Health Evidence (HE)

Effectiveness of eHealth 
interventions for reducing mental 
health conditions in employees: A 
systematic review and meta-
analysis
Stratton et al, 2017

Reasonable evidence that eHealth 
interventions can reduce mental health and 
stress symptoms post intervention and still 
have a benefit, although reduced, at follow-up.

Efficacy of mindfulness-based 
interventions on depressive 
symptoms among people with 
mental disorders: A meta-analysis 
Klanin-Yobus et al, 2012

Mindfulness can help improve depressive 
symptoms.

Vocational interventions (VI) for 
unemployed: Effects on work 
participation and mental distress. 
A systematic review
Audhoe et al, 2010

Weak evidence for vocational interventions 
(VI) improving participation in work.

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) research and policy papers

Page 26

http://www.healthevidence.org/search.aspx
https://www.healthevidence.org/view-article.aspx?a=effectiveness-ehealth-interventions-reducing-mental-health-conditions-employees-34058
https://www.healthevidence.org/view-article.aspx?a=effectiveness-ehealth-interventions-reducing-mental-health-conditions-employees-34058
https://www.healthevidence.org/view-article.aspx?a=effectiveness-ehealth-interventions-reducing-mental-health-conditions-employees-34058
https://www.healthevidence.org/view-article.aspx?a=effectiveness-ehealth-interventions-reducing-mental-health-conditions-employees-34058
https://www.healthevidence.org/view-article.aspx?a=effectiveness-ehealth-interventions-reducing-mental-health-conditions-employees-34058
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21963234
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21963234
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21963234
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21963234
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20039106
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20039106
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20039106
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20039106
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-work-pensions/about/research


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

17

Self-employment for people with 
disabilities and health conditions
DWP, 2019

Research to enhance the understanding of the 
experience of self-employment for individuals 
with disabilities and health conditions – 
particularly the challenges and types of 
support required to set up, grow and sustain 
their business.

Improving lives: The Work, Health 
and Disability Green Paper 
DWP, 2016

Review of the employment situation of 
individuals with disabilities and long term 
health conditions.

What works for whom in helping 
disabled people into work?
DWP, 2013

Quick review of international evidence to 
inform the national disability strategy.

Quantifying the effectiveness of 
interventions for people with 
common health conditions in 
enabling them to stay in or return 
to work: A rapid evidence 
assessment
DWP and University of Sheffield, 
2012

Early interventions benefit health outcomes, 
but less quality evidence for employment 
outcomes (and whether return to work is 
sustained). Greater coverage of evidence for 
MSK than MH (see particularly Table 1 for 
more details).

Health at work – an independent 
review of sickness absence
Black and Frost, 2011

Review to diagnose the effects of sickness 
absence on individuals, employers and the 
state as well as to suggest ways of combating 
the sickness absence burden.

Is work good for your health and 
well-being?
Waddell and Burton, 2006

Investigates the health benefits of work and 
concludes that that any work (not just ‘good’ 
work) is better for wellbeing than being 
unemployed, assuming that the person isn’t 
returning to the same work context that caused 
the health issue in the first place.

Public Health England reports, tools and evidence briefings

Musculoskeletal Health: applying 
All Our Health 
January, 2019

Guidance to promote musculoskeletal health in 
professional practice.

Page 27

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/564038/work-and-health-green-paper-improving-lives.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/564038/work-and-health-green-paper-improving-lives.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-works-for-whom-in-helping-disabled-people-into-work--2
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-works-for-whom-in-helping-disabled-people-into-work--2
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-effectiveness-of-interventions-for-people-with-common-health-conditions-in-enabling-them-to-stay-in-or-return-to-work-rr812
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-effectiveness-of-interventions-for-people-with-common-health-conditions-in-enabling-them-to-stay-in-or-return-to-work-rr812
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-effectiveness-of-interventions-for-people-with-common-health-conditions-in-enabling-them-to-stay-in-or-return-to-work-rr812
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-effectiveness-of-interventions-for-people-with-common-health-conditions-in-enabling-them-to-stay-in-or-return-to-work-rr812
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-effectiveness-of-interventions-for-people-with-common-health-conditions-in-enabling-them-to-stay-in-or-return-to-work-rr812
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quantifying-the-effectiveness-of-interventions-for-people-with-common-health-conditions-in-enabling-them-to-stay-in-or-return-to-work-rr812
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181060/health-at-work.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181060/health-at-work.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/214326/hwwb-is-work-good-for-you.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/214326/hwwb-is-work-good-for-you.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

18

Does remaining in work benefit 
those with musculoskeletal 
disorders?
Mar, 2018

Evidence briefing which summarises the 
benefits of staying in work for individuals with 
musculoskeletal disorders (MSKs).
Time period: 2006 – 2018

What are the methods for 
improving mental or physical 
health after a transition from 
unemployment to employment in 
those with a long-term condition 
or disability?
Mar, 2018

Evidence briefing which summarises the 
evidence on interventions for improving mental 
and physical health on returning to work for 
those with a long-term health condition or 
disability.
Time period: 2008 – 2018

How can healthcare workers help 
young people not in employment 
education or training (NEETs) 
transition into work?
Feb, 2018

Evidence briefing which summarises the 
evidence on the measures that can be taken 
by healthcare workers to help young who are 
not in employment, education or training 
(NEETs) move into work.
Time period: 1998 – 2018

What is the impact of job loss and 
unemployment on the physical 
and mental health of older adults, 
and how can they be supported 
back into work?
Feb, 2018

Evidence briefing which summarises the 
evidence on the effects job loss and 
unemployment have on the health of older 
adults, and how can healthcare professionals 
support them to return to work.
Time period: 2006 – 2018

How can health care workers help 
patients with a health condition 
and/or disability remain in or get 
back into work?
Feb, 2018

Evidence briefing which summarises the 
evidence on the ways in which healthcare 
workers can help people with chronic health 
conditions return to work.
Time period: 1998 – 2018

Movement into Employment: 
Return on Investment Tool 
October, 2017

Tool to estimate the benefits of moving an 
individual from unemployment into sustainable 
employment.

Public Health England reports, tools and evidence briefings (cont.)

Page 28

https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=3b35899d3faa18bb40f992d618824dd0
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=3b35899d3faa18bb40f992d618824dd0
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=3b35899d3faa18bb40f992d618824dd0
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=3b35899d3faa18bb40f992d618824dd0
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=3b35899d3faa18bb40f992d618824dd0
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=3b35899d3faa18bb40f992d618824dd0
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c03aa36e35c79637c2d8d03359960c6b
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c03aa36e35c79637c2d8d03359960c6b
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c03aa36e35c79637c2d8d03359960c6b
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c03aa36e35c79637c2d8d03359960c6b
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=658e13efecc15f3f320c797e751e624c
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=658e13efecc15f3f320c797e751e624c
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=658e13efecc15f3f320c797e751e624c
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=658e13efecc15f3f320c797e751e624c
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=658e13efecc15f3f320c797e751e624c
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c8c22a855c8ef9d8e3a544628fd5f9f9
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c8c22a855c8ef9d8e3a544628fd5f9f9
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c8c22a855c8ef9d8e3a544628fd5f9f9
https://phe.koha-ptfs.co.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-retrieve-file.pl?id=c8c22a855c8ef9d8e3a544628fd5f9f9
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772596/Movement_into_employment_report_v1.2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772596/Movement_into_employment_report_v1.2.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

19

Local action on health 
inequalities: reducing social 
isolation across the lifecourse
PHE and UCL Institute of Health 
Equity, 2015

Summarises evidence, outlines who is most at 
risk and identifies interventions.

Local action on health 
inequalities: 
Increasing employment 
opportunities and improving 
workplace health
PHE and UCL Institute of Health 
Equity, 2014

Summarises evidence and outlines potential 
actions locally.

Local Government Association (LGA)

Health, work and health related 
worklessness
PHE and LGA, 2016

Gives practical ways local authorities can 
reduce worklessness and presents a number 
of national case studies.

This list of sources of evidence was updated in June 2019 by Rachel Gledhill, from 
the North of England Knowledge and Library Services, PHE.

Page 29

http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/461120/3a_Social_isolation-Full-revised.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/461120/3a_Social_isolation-Full-revised.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/461120/3a_Social_isolation-Full-revised.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
http://www.local.gov.uk/
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/7632544/l16-37+Health%2C%20work+and+health+related+worklessness+-+a+guide+for+local+authorities/4fa4645d-461c-4ac5-8fa9-322269285557
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/7632544/l16-37+Health%2C%20work+and+health+related+worklessness+-+a+guide+for+local+authorities/4fa4645d-461c-4ac5-8fa9-322269285557


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

20

There are a number of important considerations to note in respect of this profile:

 The focus of the profile is on aspects of ill-health recovery and access to work for 
those currently out-of-work. Issues of productivity, short term sickness absence, 
presenteeism, and the prevention of ill-health for the in-work population are 
fundamental components of the work and health agenda but – due to limited data 
availability – they do not feature within this profile. It is possible that insight 
generated through the use of this profile might be used to inform work in the areas 
that are out of scope.

 While most data within the profile considers the full working age population, a 
small subgroup is considered in some analyses (i.e. the older working age 
population). This subgroup has been identified as being of particular significance 
since unemployment in older age is strongly predictive of reduced life expectancy 
and older age workers also perform a key role in respect of establishing 
intergenerational aspiration. Results of other sub-group analyses (e.g. of younger 
workers) are not presented here, as population samples were either too small or 
analyses showed no significant effect.

 This profile uses a variety of data and analytical techniques to explore local 
phenomena. It is important to ensure that any conclusions drawn from data 
presented here have due regard to the limitations and assumptions which 
underpin the analyses.

 Where possible, the profile includes the latest data (i.e. from November 2018), 
although some sections make use of previous findings (e.g. analysis of the 2011 
Census microdata).

Section 1 notes

Data presented in this section were released in November 2018 and include all 
claims (i.e. 100% processing of DWP records) and, therefore, are not subject to 
sampling error. However, any analysis of out-of-work benefit data is subject to 
considerable change as a result of welfare reform and the introduction of, and 
transition to, Universal Credit. Data presented here relate to the current system of 
welfare, whereas future interpretation or application of these insights needs to be 
seen in the context of potential changes to the welfare system.

It is not possible to subset employment aspirations (want a job/don’t want a job) of 
the economically inactive population by their personal characteristics (e.g. student, 
temporary sick, etc.). Hence, Figure 2 presents these two dimensions as discrete 
subsets of the overall economically inactive population.

Section 5: Technical notes

Page 30



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

21

The aim of the Statistical Group typology (Table 1) is to present each person by the 
main reason why they are claiming benefit. Each client is classified just once and 
data includes all claims, therefore it is not subject to sampling error. The lack of data 
for Incapacity Benefit (IB) claimants can be explained by the fact that Employment 
and Support Allowance (ESA) replaced Incapacity Benefit and Income Support paid 
for all new claims from 27th October 2008. Most people who receive an out-of-work 
benefit on the grounds of incapacity are, therefore, already included in the ESA 
count. The only possibility for one to be on IB today is if the benefit was awarded 
before 27th October 2008 and the claim has been ongoing ever since. For Wirral, this 
count is negligible, and data for this category were not presented to avoid disclosure.

Section 2 notes

This report lacks information on any local or indeed LCR- wide programme designed 
to tackle barriers to employment. Therefore, it does not provide detail on the 
effectiveness of any existing measures of personalised support or on the extent to 
which these measures meet their objectives. A more detailed picture could be drawn, 
for example, by looking at the initial assessment information gathered by local 
employment and recruitment agencies.

The treemap (Figure 5) displays the eight largest ranked clusters of conditions as 
reasons for ESA claims. For all boroughs in LCR the top eight conditions are the 
same and include: mental ill-health (1), musculoskeletal conditions (2), symptoms 
(3), diseases of the nervous system (4), diseases of the circulatory system (5), 
diseases of the respiratory system (6), injuries (7) and cancers (8). Please note, the 
age categories shown are not evenly sized.

The analysis presented in Table 4 is the product of some exploratory work, using 
samples of anonymised records (SARs) data, also known as Census microdata. It 
represents a summary (at LCR level) of those survey measures, where there was a 
clear differential associated with either a ‘workless’ or ‘in work’ status for males or 
females.

 The table only considers the older working age group (50-64 year olds), because 
the results of multiple logistic regression were most reliable for this age group.

 Some of the characteristics are more prominent in certain local authorities than 
others but this can be unrelated to the actual prevalence of the specific 
characteristic. For example, two areas may have a high proportion of the 
population professing Muslim religion, but in only one of these localities is Muslim 
religion differentially associated with a workless status. In this scenario, it is 
hypothesised that the interaction between religious identity and the structure of 
the local employment market is the key feature and not the religious identity per 
se.

Page 31



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

22

 Similarly, specific survey measures may operate as a proxy for wider socio-
demographic phenomena. For example, the association between workless status 
and owning a passport may represent a specific level of social mobility rather than 
simply ownership of the document itself – a solution to addressing worklessness 
is unlikely to be found in issuing people with passports (or other photo ID).

The purpose of the analysis contained in Table 4 is to prompt discussion 
about targeting and evidence application at a local level. Key lines of enquiry 
are listed in Section 3 to help provide a structure to the interpretation of this 
exploratory analysis.

Section 6 (Appendix 2) notes 

Tables A1 and A2 present age standardised ESA claimant rates in each of 
the six LCR boroughs, for the two age groups of interest: 16-64 year olds 
(Table A1) and 50-64 year olds (Table A2). The aim of these tables is 
threefold: 

1. to support the findings for this borough already summarised in Table 3
2. to allow further comparisons between the six LCR boroughs 
3. to determine if there are any statistically significant differences 

between them and the regional or national benchmark.

Page 32



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

23

This profile makes use of several key terms. To aid the understanding of data 
and findings contained in this report, those terms are further explained here. 
Where possible, definitions were derived from Nomis – the main data source 
used in preparation of this report. Further notes were added as appropriate.

Economically active – people who are either in employment (employed or 
self-employed) or actively looking for a job and who are available to start 
work with immediate effect (i.e. 2 weeks from the date of their interview).

Economically inactive – people who are neither in employment nor 
unemployed. This refers to people who are retired, or whose circumstances 
make it impossible for them to work.

Note: This population can be broken down into those who are inactive but 
want a job, and those who declare no interest in entering the labour market. 
Alternatively, it can be subset by the personal characteristics of those who 
declare themselves as economically inactive (e.g. students, individuals with 
caring responsibilities, etc.). However, it is not possible to subset employment 
aspirations by reasons of economic inactivity. In other words, we were unable 
to tell if, for example, students are more likely to want a job than those who 
look after their family/home. For this reason, Figure 2 presents these two 
classifications as separate breakdowns of the overall economically inactive 
population.

Employed – people who are in paid work (whether as employees or self-
employed) or temporarily away from work (e.g. on holiday), those on 
government supported training and employment programmes and, finally, 
those doing unpaid family work. For the ease of presentation, the umbrella 
term ‘Employed’ was used to represent all of these groups.

Unemployed – people without a job who have looked for work in the past 
four weeks and who are able to start work within the next two weeks or those 
waiting to start a job they have already obtained.

Note: In the context of this profile, both ‘Economically inactive but wanting a 
job’ and ‘Unemployed’ are thought to be in good health, with no severe 
barriers to work and doing everything they can to be in employment (Figure 
2). A sum of the respective counts is, therefore, a useful measure of the 
number of people able to move into work within a reasonably short time 
frame and at a relatively low resource investment.

Section 6 (Appendix 1): Definitions 

Page 33



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

24

Workless – people who are unemployed or economically inactive – i.e. 
whose commitments or personal circumstances make it impossible for them 
to work – irrespective of whether they are students, looking after family/home 
or if they belong to any other category of the economically inactive 
population.

Note: For the purpose of the analysis presented in Table 4, we have taken 
the 2011 Census sample of ‘unemployed’ and ‘permanently sick’ LCR 
residents as ‘workless’. Persons who reported themselves as full-time 
students, retired, looking after family/home, other or discouraged were 
excluded from the comparisons. The analysis only considers older workers 
(i.e. 50-64 year olds) because the results of multiple logistic regression were 
most reliable for this age-group.

Jobseeker’s Allowance (JSA) – is a benefit payable to the unemployed. It can also 
be claimed by people who participate in some government training schemes. To be 
eligible for JSA claimants must: 

 be 18 or over but below state pension age (though some exceptions may 
apply to 16 & 17 year olds),

 not be in full-time education,
 be in England, Scotland or Wales,
 be actively seeking work or work on average less than 16 hours per week,
 be available for work at least 40 hours per week.

Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) – is a benefit payable to 
people of working age, who are out-of-work due to ill-health or whose 
capacities to undertake work are severely restricted. ESA provides financial 
and personalised support to help those people get back into work. 
Historically, LCR has always had a high proportion of ESA claimants 
compared to the rest of the country, and the vast majority of claimants have 
been on this benefit for a longer term (i.e. at least one year). In the context of 
this profile, people on ESA are a key group, and the high ESA claimant count 
shows the importance of addressing underlying barriers to work across LCR.

Note: People on DWP benefits are categorised according to the main reason 
why they are claiming benefit. Each client is classified to a single group. 
Benefits are arranged hierarchically, so if a person claims more than one 
benefit, they are assigned to the top most benefit which they receive.

Together with lone parents, Incapacity Benefits (IB) and others on income-
related benefits, JSA and ESA claimants make the main out-of-work benefits 
reported in Table 1. These groups were chosen as the closest representation 
of all those benefit recipients who cannot be in full-time employment. People 

Page 34



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

25

claiming solely Bereavement Benefits or Disability Living Allowance (DLA) 
are not included, as they are not on out-of-work or income-based benefits. Of 
all people claiming out-of-work benefits in Wirral, the vast majority are on 
ESA (Table 1).

Page 35



Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

26

Table A1. Directly standardised ESA claimant rates per 100,000 population, by ICD-10 chapter of condition. 
Liverpool City Region boroughs, November 2018.

Aged 16-64
Halton Knowsley Liverpool Liverpool City Region EnglandType of 

condition
DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper

Infections 12.7 6.1 23.3 10.7 5.1 19.7 26.7 21.5 32.8 26.7 23.5 30.1 26.1 25.6 26.7

Cancers 202.6 172.4 236.5 235.6 205.5 268.9 189.9 175.4 205.2 189.7 181.2 198.6 122.4 121.3 123.6

Blood * * * * * * 14.8 11.0 19.6 16.4 14.0 19.2 11.1 10.8 11.5

Endocrine 76.0 58.0 97.8 139.2 116.3 165.3 130.5 118.6 143.3 115.9 109.2 122.8 72.2 71.3 73.1

Mental 2,962.8 2,843.9 3,085.3 5,279.2 5,132.8 5,428.6 5,316.0 5,238.5 5,394.5 4,523.4 4,481.3 4,565.8 2,536.4 2,531.2 2,541.7
Nervous 
system 481.1 434.0 532.0 653.2 602.4 707.2 551.8 527.0 577.4 548.6 534.0 563.5 372.7 370.7 374.7

Eye 25.3 15.5 39.1 85.7 67.9 106.6 56.4 48.6 65.0 62.6 57.7 67.7 46.3 45.6 47.0

Ear * * * 32.1 21.7 45.9 38.6 32.2 45.8 36.9 33.2 40.9 22.5 22.0 23.0

Circulatory 316.5 278.5 358.3 439.0 397.6 483.7 335.2 316.0 355.3 327.1 315.9 338.7 181.1 179.7 182.5

Respiratory 177.3 149.1 209.2 396.2 356.9 438.7 359.0 339.0 379.8 290.2 279.3 301.1 122.3 121.1 123.5

Digestive 88.6 69.1 112.0 192.7 165.6 223.1 157.2 144.1 171.2 144.6 137.1 152.3 71.5 70.6 72.4
Skin 12.7 6.1 23.3 42.8 30.6 58.3 38.6 32.2 45.8 37.9 34.2 42.0 20.5 20.1 21.0
Musculo-
skeletal 962.3 895.1 1,033.2 1,338.5 1,265.3 1,414.8 1,062.0 1,027.5 1,097.4 1,020.4 1,000.4 1,040.6 612.5 609.9 615.1

Genito/urinary 25.3 15.5 39.1 53.5 39.7 70.6 47.5 40.4 55.4 40.0 36.1 44.2 25.3 24.8 25.8

Pregnancy * * * * * * 11.9 8.5 16.2 6.2 4.7 7.9 3.9 3.7 4.1
Perinatal 
conditions * * * * * * * * * * * * 0.1 0.0 0.0

Congenital 
malformations 101.3 80.3 126.1 85.7 67.9 106.6 80.1 70.8 90.2 92.3 86.4 98.5 60.0 59.2 60.8

Symptoms 658.4 603.0 717.5 963.7 901.8 1,028.8 845.5 814.7 877.1 788.6 771.1 806.4 424.8 422.7 427.0
Injuries/
poisoning 114.0 91.6 140.1 192.7 165.1 223.1 189.9 175.4 205.2 173.3 165.1 181.8 109.8 108.7 110.9

Other factors 202.6 172.4 236.5 267.7 235.5 303.0 195.8 181.1 211.3 205.1 196.2 214.3 128.2 127.0 129.4
Note: * Suggests there were too few observations (< 10) in the age group of interest (16-64 year olds) to calculate a DSR.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

Section 6 (Appendix 2): Supporting data

P
age 36

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

27

Table A1 (cont.). Directly standardised ESA claimant rates per 100,000 population, by ICD-10 chapter of condition. 
Liverpool City Region boroughs, November 2018.

Aged 16-64
Sefton St Helens Wirral Liverpool City Region EnglandType of 

condition
DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper

Infections 24.4 17.5 33.3 27.3 18.4 39.0 20.8 14.9 28.3 26.7 23.5 30.1 26.1 25.6 26.7

Cancers 177.2 157.4 198.9 182.1 157.7 209.2 171.7 153.6 191.2 189.7 181.2 198.6 122.4 121.3 123.6

Blood 6.1 2.9 11.2 9.1 4.4 16.7 20.8 14.9 28.3 16.4 14.0 19.2 11.1 10.8 11.5

Endocrine 91.7 77.6 107.6 136.6 115.6 160.3 98.8 85.3 113.9 115.9 109.2 122.8 72.2 71.3 73.1

Mental 3,752.7 3,659.4 3,847.8 4,297.4 4,175.6 4,421.7 4,192.5 4,101.5 4,285.1 4,523.4 4,481.3 4,565.8 2,536.4 2,531.2 2,541.7
Nervous 
system 525.6 491.1 562.0 519.0 477.2 563.4 561.8 528.8 596.3 548.6 534.0 563.5 372.7 370.7 374.7

Eye 67.2 55.3 81.0 54.6 41.7 70.3 67.6 56.5 80.3 62.6 57.7 67.7 46.3 45.6 47.0

Ear 36.7 28.0 47.2 45.5 33.8 60.0 31.2 23.8 40.2 36.9 33.2 40.9 22.5 22.0 23.0

Circulatory 256.7 232.7 282.5 373.3 338.0 411.2 286.1 262.7 311.0 327.1 315.9 338.7 181.1 179.7 182.5

Respiratory 201.7 180.5 224.7 273.1 243.1 305.9 254.9 232.8 278.5 290.2 279.3 301.1 122.3 121.1 123.5

Digestive 122.2 105.9 140.7 118.4 98.9 140.5 140.4 124.2 158.2 144.6 137.1 152.3 71.5 70.6 72.4
Skin 30.6 22.7 40.3 18.2 11.1 28.1 31.2 23.8 40.2 37.9 34.2 42.0 20.5 20.1 21.0
Musculo-
skeletal 825.1 781.7 870.3 1,110.8 1,049.3 1,174.9 920.7 878.3 964.6 1,020.4 1,000.4 1,040.6 612.5 609.9 615.1

Genito/urinary 36.7 28.0 47.2 27.3 18.4 39.0 41.6 33.0 51.8 40.0 36.1 44.2 25.3 24.8 25.8

Pregnancy * * * * * * * * * 6.2 4.7 7.9 3.9 3.7 4.1
Perinatal 
conditions * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Congenital 
malformations 103.9 88.9 120.7 91.0 74.1 110.7 93.6 80.5 108.4 92.3 86.4 98.5 60.0 59.2 60.8

Symptoms 678.4 639.1 719.5 737.5 687.6 790.1 764.6 726.1 804.8 788.6 771.1 806.4 424.8 422.7 427.0
Injuries/
poisoning 146.7 128.7 166.5 200.3 174.7 228.6 156.1 138.9 174.7 173.3 165.1 181.8 109.8 108.7 110.9

Other factors 207.8 186.3 231.1 209.4 183.2 238.3 182.1 163.5 202.2 205.1 196.2 214.3 128.2 127.0 129.4
Note: * Suggests there were too few observations (< 10) in the age group of interest (16-64 year olds) to calculate a DSR.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

P
age 37

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

28

Table A2. Directly standardised ESA claimant rates per 100,000 population, by ICD-10 chapter of condition. 
Liverpool City Region boroughs, November 2018.

Aged 50-64
Halton Knowsley Liverpool Liverpool City Region EnglandType of 

condition
DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper

Infections 38.8 18.6 71.4 * * * 59.1 43.8 77.9 52.4 44.6 61.2 51.9 50.6 53.3

Cancers 466.1 386.4 557.3 478.6 405.1 561.7 543.4 494.8 595.4 449.0 425.5 473.4 291.1 287.8 294.4

Blood * * * * * * 35.4 23.9 50.6 32.8 26.7 39.9 19.8 19.0 20.7

Endocrine 194.2 144.1 256.0 319.1 259.6 388.1 354.4 315.4 396.8 249.1 231.7 267.4 161.2 158.8 163.7

Mental 4,078.3 3,835.3 4,332.6 7,371.0 7,073.5 7,677.9 8,776.4 8,577.9 8,978.3 6,190.8 6,102.8 6,279.7 3,300.4 3,289.4 3,311.4
Nervous 
system 699.1 600.7 809.1 925.4 821.9 1,038.2 1,004.0 937.7 1,073.9 835.7 803.6 868.8 592.9 588.3 597.6

Eye 77.7 47.5 120.0 159.5 118.4 210.3 129.9 106.8 156.6 108.2 96.8 120.5 82.2 80.5 84.0

Ear * * * 95.7 64.6 136.7 82.7 64.5 104.5 59.0 50.7 68.3 32.6 31.5 33.7

Circulatory 815.7 709.1 933.8 1,053.0 942.4 1,173.0 1,086.7 1,017.6 1,159.3 855.4 822.9 888.8 473.1 468.9 477.3

Respiratory 427.3 351.1 515.0 893.5 791.9 1,004.5 1,051.3 983.3 1,122.7 694.8 665.5 725.0 301.9 298.6 305.2

Digestive 155.4 111.0 211.6 319.1 259.6 388.1 378.0 337.7 421.8 275.3 257.0 294.6 132.5 130.3 134.8
Skin 38.8 18.6 71.4 95.7 64.6 136.7 94.5 74.9 117.6 72.1 62.9 82.3 37.4 36.2 38.6
Musculo-
skeletal 2,291.6 2,110.4 2,484.2 3,031.4 2,841.6 3,230.4 3,153.8 3,035.3 3,275.8 2,480.9 2,425.3 2,537.4 1,462.6 1,455.4 1,470.0

Genito/urinary 77.7 47.5 120.0 95.7 64.6 136.7 106.3 85.5 130.7 72.1 62.9 82.3 45.4 44.1 46.7

Pregnancy * * * * * * * * * * * * 0.9 0.8 1.2
Perinatal 
conditions * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Congenital 
malformations 77.7 47.5 120.0 95.7 64.6 136.7 94.5 74.9 117.6 95.0 84.4 106.6 60.6 59.1 62.1

Symptoms 1,126.4 1,000.5 1,263.8 1,563.5 1,428.2 1,708.3 1,724.3 1,637.2 1,815.4 1,301.1 1,260.9 1,342.2 739.4 734.2 744.6
Injuries/
poisoning 233.0 177.8 300.0 319.1 259.6 388.1 389.8 348.9 434.2 311.3 291.9 331.8 197.8 195.1 200.5

Other factors 388.4 316.0 472.4 478.6 405.1 561.7 448.9 404.9 496.3 380.2 358.6 402.7 254.5 251.5 157.6
Note: * Suggests there were too few observations (< 10) in the age group of interest (50-64 year olds) to calculate a DSR.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

P
age 38

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


Wirral Work and Health Profile 2019

29

Table A2 (cont.). Directly standardised ESA claimant rates per 100,000 population, by ICD-10 chapter of condition. 
Liverpool City Region boroughs, November 2018.

Aged 50-64
Sefton St Helens Wirral Liverpool City Region EnglandType of 

condition
DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper DSR CIlower Clupper

Infections 50.0 33.8 71.4 55.1 33.7 85.2 44.7 30.1 63.8 52.4 44.6 61.2 51.9 50.6 53.3

Cancers 400.3 351.3 454.3 413.5 350.0 485.2 372.3 327.5 421.4 449.0 425.5 473.4 291.1 287.8 294.4

Blood 16.7 8.0 30.7 27.6 13.2 50.7 44.7 30.1 63.8 32.8 26.7 39.9 19.8 19.0 20.7

Endocrine 166.8 135.7 202.9 220.5 174.9 274.5 193.6 161.7 229.9 249.1 231.7 267.4 161.2 158.8 163.7

Mental 4,670.2 4,498.8 4,846.4 4,989.7 4,762.4 5,225.0 5,196.9 5,025.9 5,372.2 6,190.8 6,102.8 6,279.7 3,300.4 3,289.4 3,311.4
Nervous 
system 733.9 666.9 805.8 689.2 606.4 780.1 789.2 723.4 859.3 835.7 803.6 868.8 592.9 588.3 597.6

Eye 83.4 61.9 109.9 82.7 55.8 118.1 89.3 68.2 115.0 108.2 96.8 120.5 82.2 80.5 84.0

Ear 50.0 33.8 71.4 55.1 33.7 85.2 59.6 42.6 81.1 59.0 50.7 68.3 32.6 31.5 33.7

Circulatory 567.1 508.4 630.7 964.9 866.4 1,071.4 699.9 638.0 766.1 855.4 822.9 888.8 473.1 468.9 477.3

Respiratory 417.0 366.9 472.0 578.9 503.3 662.7 551.0 496.2 610.1 694.8 665.5 725.0 301.9 298.6 305.2

Digestive 200.2 165.9 239.3 220.5 174.9 274.5 253.1 216.5 294.2 275.3 257.0 294.6 132.5 130.3 134.8
Skin 50.0 33.8 71.4 27.6 13.2 50.7 44.7 30.1 63.8 72.1 62.9 82.3 37.4 36.2 38.6
Musculo-
skeletal 1,734.6 1,630.8 1,843.3 2,591.3 2,428.3 2,762.4 2,054.9 1,947.9 2,166.3 2,480.9 2,425.3 2,537.4 1,462.6 1,455.4 1,470.0

Genito/urinary 50.0 33.8 71.4 55.1 33.7 85.2 74.5 55.3 98.2 72.1 62.9 82.3 45.4 44.1 46.7

Pregnancy * * * * * * * * * * * * 0.9 0.8 1.2
Perinatal 
conditions * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Congenital 
malformations 100.1 76.4 128.8 110.3 78.8 150.2 89.3 68.2 115.0 95.0 84.4 106.6 60.6 59.1 62.1

Symptoms 950.7 874.3 1,032.1 1,130.3 1,023.5 1,245.1 1,087.0 1,009.6 1,168.8 1,301.1 1,260.9 1,342.2 739.4 734.2 744.6
Injuries/
poisoning 266.9 227.1 311.6 330.8 274.3 395.6 268.0 230.3 310.2 311.3 291.9 331.8 197.8 195.1 200.5

Other factors 350.3 304.5 401.0 358.4 299.4 425.5 297.8 258.0 342.1 380.2 358.6 402.7 254.5 251.5 157.6
Note: * Suggests there were too few observations (< 10) in the age group of interest (50-64 year olds) to calculate a DSR.

Source: DWP Benefits- Work and Pensions Longitudinal Study (WPLS)

P
age 39

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
DATE: 13 NOVEMBER 2019

REPORT TITLE Air Quality in Wirral: Status, Progress and Priorities

REPORT OF Julie Webster, Director for Health and Wellbeing

REPORT SUMMARY
Public Health England (PHE) has identified poor air quality as the largest environmental 

threat to public health in the UK generating wide-ranging health, social, environmental and 

economic consequences1. Tackling poor air quality is therefore important for Wirral to 

become a healthier place to live, work and visit as well as a fairer, greener, more productive 

borough.   

Whilst recorded air pollution in Wirral does not exceed legal threshold limits and air quality 

is slowly improving, it is important to continue to take action to improve air quality and to 

monitor the impact on health and health inequalities. A collaborative approach is critical, and 

interventions must be sensitive to local context and influences, focused on reducing air 

pollution at source rather than mitigating the consequences. 

The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with 

detail on the current status of air quality in Wirral, its impact on the health of the population 

and progress to improve it. 

RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board note the information included within 

this report and continue to seek regular assurance that partners are taking action to improve 

air quality across the borough.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1 Public Health England (2019) Review of interventions to improve outdoor air quality and public health. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-review-of-interventions

Page 41

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-review-of-interventions


2

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
Accumulating evidence of the wide-ranging negative impacts of air pollution has triggered 

heightened action to enhance air quality on a local and national scale2. The national 

government has called for local leadership to drive efforts to improve air quality and mobilise 

action in this field. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Not applicable.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
There is an established, and evolving, body of evidence that air pollution can cause a wide 

variety of health problems in people that are exposed to it. The risk of adverse effects 

depends on several factors, including current health status, pollutant type and concentration, 

and the length of exposure. As well as the personal cost to health, the resultant problems 

can have impacts on hospital admissions, school attendance, and business productivity, 

meaning that poor air quality is also associated with substantial financial and societal 

costs1,2.  Policies to improve air quality have the potential to alleviate these costs, but they 

may also generate improvements to health via indirect means, such as through enabling 

exercise and physical activity, reducing injuries and accidents, and preventing social 

isolation.  In addition, many of the things that improve air quality will also reduce other 

environmental pollutants, such as carbon dioxide, meaning that tackling air quality can also 

increase sustainability and address the challenge of climate change.

3.1 OUTDOOR AIR QUALITY IN WIRRAL
Air pollution is made up of gases, droplets and tiny, solid particles known as particulate 

matter (PM). High levels of air pollution indicate lower air quality. All Local Authorities in the 

UK have a duty under the Environment Act 1995 Part IV to review and assess local air 

quality at a variety of locations across the area. The Annual Air Quality Status Report 2019 

(see background papers) details how Wirral Council is meeting the Local Air Quality 

Management (LAQM) obligations, and action to monitor and improve air quality. In order to 

fulfil its statutory obligations Wirral Council undertakes monitoring and reporting of air quality 

2 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2019) Clean Air Strategy. 
http://wwww.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019

Page 42

http://wwww.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019


3

across the borough to assess levels of air pollution.  This monitoring is in the form of real 

time monitoring from the two Automatic Urban Rural Network (AURN) stations in the 

borough, operated by the Department of Environment, Farming and Rural Affairs’ (DEFRA), 

and thirty one passive monitoring locations across the borough (see Annual Air Quality 

Status Report 2019 for a map and further information) strategically located to capture areas 

of relevant exposure, informed by local intelligence, historical data, and input from 

transportation services. 

In line with national air quality management guidelines air quality monitoring in Wirral 

predominantly focusses on nitrogen dioxide (NO2), reflecting a national focus on NO2 

reduction, but also measures particulate Matter (PM2.5), Ozone and Benzene. Wirral has no 

breaches of UK air quality objective levels for air pollution and therefore Wirral Council has 

not declared any Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA). In 2018, annual mean NO2 

concentrations in Wirral were below the national objective, with one exception at a Liscard 

taxi rank however this is deemed not to be a relevant exposure owing to its non-residential 

location. Since 2014, the annual mean concentrations of PM2.5 in Wirral have remained 

below World Health Organisation and European Union standards. 

Detailed information regarding the monitoring, outcomes and action being taken locally is 

included in the Annual Air Quality Status Report 2019.

3.2 IMPACT OF AIR POLLUTION ON HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Since 1970 emissions of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM2.5) and other 

volatile organic chemicals in the UK have fallen by 65 – 80% and are predicted to continue 

to reduce2. However, there is now further evidence of the harm caused by air pollution. 

Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM2.5) have well documented negative health 

impacts and are the air pollutants that are regarded as most adverse to health. Breathing in 

nitrogen dioxide is known to cause irritation in lung tissue and the evidence linking NO2 and 

asthma is strongest. However there is some evidence implicating this pollutant as a cause 

of dementia, diabetes, lung cancer, low birth weight and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 

Disease (COPD)1. Particulate matter affects health differently and evidence suggests that 

breathing in high levels may contribute to disease processes that can increase the risk of 

developing heart disease, stroke, asthma and lung cancer as well as contributing to low birth 

Page 43



4

weight and COPD1.  Vehicle exhausts, particularly diesel, are responsible for the majority of 

particulate matter (PM). 

Estimating the health impact of air pollution for Wirral’s population however presents some 

challenges. There are no routine health data that measure the combined effects of the main 

pollutants. High pollution over a longer time also exacerbates harm from other risk factors 

affecting health; for example, smoking, harmful alcohol intake, diet and obesity. Genetic 

factors also influence health outcomes. Currently air pollution is not recorded as a 

contributing cause of death on death certificates. It is also important to note that historical 

exposure to air pollution when air quality was worse may only present impact on health 

decades later. 

During 2018 there were 3,789 deaths registered in Wirral with all cancers (1,055), all 

circulatory diseases (747) and all respiratory diseases (616) accounting for 63.8% (2,418) 

of the total. Public Health England estimates, using modelled data, that 3.9% (approximately 

138) of deaths in Wirral in 2017 were attributable to particulate air pollution, lower than both 

the North West (4.1%) and England (5.1%). 

Evidence suggests that whilst air pollution can be harmful to everyone, adverse effects fall 

disproportionality on residents at extremes of age, individuals with pre-existing 

cardiovascular or respiratory illnesses, those living in close proximity to densely trafficked 

roads, and people living in less affluent areas. Therefore policies to improve air quality will 

also help reduce health inequalities within the borough. 

Further detail on the impact of air quality on health is included within Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment on Outdoor Air Quality (see background papers). This is updated on an annual 

basis in order to regularly monitor health impact and to reflect the evolving evidence in this 

field. 

3.3ACTION TO IMPROVE AIR QUALITY IN WIRRAL
There is an established hierarchy of interventions to improve air quality with preventing, 

reducing or replacing polluting activities to reduce emissions as the first priority (e.g. 

eliminate or reduce road emissions and domestic wood burners and prevention through the 

design and use of land using pollution and planning controls)1. Actions to reduce the 

concentration of air pollution once it has occurred is the second priority (e.g. changes to 

Page 44



5

traffic flow through travel management flow and urban design), and individual avoidance of 

exposure is the third (e.g. advice on steps to take during an air population episode). The 

most effective air pollution reduction strategies employ all these tactics. Furthermore, 

evidence suggests that local action should prioritise co-benefit strategies, which not only 

improve air quality, but also improve wider health outcomes. 

As no Air Quality Management Areas (areas deemed to exceed air quality objectives) have 

been declared in Wirral, the Council is not legally required to produce an Air Quality Action 

Plan. However, local air quality issues, interventions, and priorities are outlined in the annual 

Air Quality Status Report (submitted to DEFRA) and the Outdoor Air Quality Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment. The Wirral Council Air Quality Group spearheads multidisciplinary air 

quality leadership to improve air quality and achieve environmental sustainability with 

representation from technical teams across the Council (e.g. Fleet Management, 

Environmental Health, Public Health, Transport, Sustainability, Licensing, and Forward 

Planning)  co-ordinating action and ensuring that the recommendations from the Annual Air 

Quality Report are being implemented.  Additionally, there are strong collaborations between 

neighbouring local authority regions, through Wirral’s representation in the Liverpool Air 

Quality Task Force and Air Quality Technical Group (AQTECH). 

Wirral Council implements a wide range of air quality interventions, incorporating traffic-

related; non-traffic related; and public behaviour approaches. Key action includes the 

introduction of anti-idling legislation, widespread improvements to public transportation 

across Liverpool City Region, and Wirral Council’s Clean Air Campaign ‘You’re the Key’, 

launched in June 2019. In line with the evidence, most air quality initiatives in Wirral are 

focussed at the top of the hierarchy of interventions, seeking to prevent (rather than 

reduce/avoid exposure to) emissions/air pollutants. Additionally, Wirral has implemented 

some co-benefit interventions, which offer the potential to generate sustainable 

improvements in wider health and social outcomes in addition to improving air quality; for 

example, promoting active transport through improvements to cycling infrastructure to 

increase physical activity and reduce obesity. There is synergy between local air quality 

objectives and the Wirral Climate Change Strategy, which includes an on-street residential 

e-vehicle charging pilot and improved cycle parking. In July 2019 Wirral Council declared a 

Page 45



6

Climate Emergency3 and the Climate Change Strategy4 is currently being updated, providing 

further opportunity to improve air quality.

A number of local interventions are tailored to vulnerable groups to address health 

inequalities in air quality health impacts, with a particular focus on children/schools through 

the Living Streets WOW walk to school project (promoting active transportation to school) 

and the Green Air Schools Project (GASP) working with 22 local schools to raise air quality 

awareness, identify poor air quality around school boundaries, and plant vegetation to 

mitigate air pollution exposure. There is internal and external stakeholder and community 

engagement in planning and delivery of some of the air quality interventions, particularly 

through GASP and work towards a joint public education website on air quality for the 

Liverpool City Region, led by the Air Quality Technical Group (AQTECH).

The NHS Long Term Plan sets out clear expectations for the changes NHS organisations 

should make to lessen their own contribution to air pollution and protect patients and staff 

setting targets to reduce air pollution from all sources5.

In March 2019, Public Health England (PHE) published a review of interventions to improve 

outdoor air quality and public health1. An audit of local action to improve air quality in Wirral 

against the PHE recommendations was completed in September 2019 (appended to this 

report). This concluded that there is a strong, comprehensive and collaborative commitment 

to air quality locally however some areas for improvement were identified. Specifically, Wirral 

currently has no mechanism for evaluating discrete air quality interventions (aside from 

monitoring trends in pollutant levels annually) to identify and share best practice. 

Additionally, further efforts to work with community subgroups most vulnerable to the 

adverse impacts of air quality (for example within schools/nurseries or hospitals/healthcare 

settings) are indicated. A challenge in conducting the audit was the lack of a dedicated local 

air quality plan to outline a long-term comprehensive vision for maximising air quality in 

3 Wirral Council (2019) Climate Emergency. https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/climate-change-and-
sustainability/climate-emergency

4 Wirral Council (2014) Cool-the climate change strategy 2014 - 2019 https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-
council/climate-change-and-sustainability/cool-climate-change-strategy

5 Department of Health (2019) The NHS Long Term Plan. https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-
term-plan/

Page 46

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/climate-change-and-sustainability/climate-emergency
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/climate-change-and-sustainability/climate-emergency
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/climate-change-and-sustainability/cool-climate-change-strategy
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/climate-change-and-sustainability/cool-climate-change-strategy
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/


7

Wirral. The audit also highlighted the opportunity to embed air quality considerations in 

planning and development decisions across Wirral, prioritising proposals that generate net 

health gains for the local population through the Local Plan, Healthy Wirral Plan and 

regeneration projects. 

The audit report made the following recommendations:

 Air pollutants (specifically NO2 and PM2.5) continue to be strategically monitored 

across Wirral to identify long term trends and areas for action locally.

 Continue to annually review and update the Outdoor Air Quality Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment.

 Wirral Council maintains its current commitment to air quality, evidenced by the 

absence of Air Quality Management Areas, and considers extending membership of 

the Wirral Air Quality Group to include health partners and other anchor 

organisations.

 NHS partners use their Sustainable Development Management Plans to deliver on 

the air quality goals in the NHS Long Term Plan and share how they are supporting 

patients and staff to reduce the health impacts of air pollution.

 Prioritisation of air quality activities is based on the hierarchy of interventions 

(prioritising prevention of emissions over reducing/avoiding exposure). 

 Air quality initiatives continue to employ a focus on vulnerable populations and foster 

collaborations with internal/external stakeholders and the wider community. 

 Embed actions related to air quality emerging from the Health Impact Assessment of 

the Wirral Council Local Plan.

 Local air quality interventions are formally evaluated to identify/share good practice.

 The Wirral Air Quality Group drafts a dedicated local air quality plan to clearly and 

comprehensively define local air quality commitments, priorities and 

monitoring/evaluation over the next five to ten years, aligned to Liverpool City Region 

and national air quality strategies.  

 Key strategic plans for the borough embed air quality considerations across all 

actions, prioritising initiatives that deliver a net health gain within the local population.

3.4 SUMMARY
Continued improvement in air quality is challenging and will take time to achieve. National 

legislation, mass behaviour change and new infrastructure will be required to support 

Page 47



8

progress. Whilst air pollution levels in Wirral are within legal limits and estimated health 

impact are below regional and national average it is important to continue to work together 

to improve air quality. The Health and Wellbeing Board has an important role in ensuring 

that the actions included in the Annual Air Quality Status Report and the Outdoor Air Quality 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment are implemented and that opportunities to embed air 

quality improvement in key strategic plans are maximised.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. However considerable 

resource will be required to implement necessary infrastructure change to improve air 

quality.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
There are no resource implications arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
Failure to commit to addressing air quality issues on a local and national scale risks wide-

ranging impacts on public health, the environment and the economy.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
No public engagement/consultation was conducted.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
No equality impact assessment has been conducted.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to reduce 
emissions of CO2.

REPORT AUTHOR: Name: Rachael Musgrave
Role: Consultant in Public Health
telephone:  0151 666 5164
email:   rachaelmusgrave@wirral.gov.uk

Page 48



9

APPENDICES
1. Audit of Wirral Air Quality actions against PHE recommendations (2019). 

REFERENCE MATERIAL
2. Annual Air Quality Status Report (2019) https://www.wirral.gov.uk/environmental-

problems/pollution-control/air-quality

3. Outdoor Air Quality Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2019) 

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
N/A

Page 49

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/environmental-problems/pollution-control/air-quality
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/environmental-problems/pollution-control/air-quality
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/


10

APPENDIX: AIR QUALITY AUDIT SUMMARY REPORT

SUMMARY REPORT
AUDIT OF WIRRAL LOCAL AIR QUALITY ACTIONS USING PHE 

RECOMMENDATIONS
SEPTEMBER 2019

RATIONALE
Air pollution generates wide-ranging health, social, environmental and economic 
consequences. Accumulating evidence of these negative impacts has triggered heightened 
action to enhance air quality at a local and national level. A collaborative approach to 
addressing air pollution is critical, however interventions must be sensitive to local context 
and influences. The national government has called for local leadership to drive efforts to 
improve air quality and mobilise action in this field. In March 2019, Public Health England 
(PHE) published a review of interventions for addressing air quality. This report presents the 
findings of an internal audit which reviewed the air quality interventions/actions being taken 
by Wirral Council against PHE recommendations to determine compliance with national 
standards and to identify priority areas for improvement.

BACKGROUND
All Local Authorities in the UK have a duty under the Environment Act 1995 Part IV to review 
and assess local air quality. In Wirral, air quality is monitored by 31 passive (non-automatic) 
diffusion tubes and two Urban Background Air Quality Monitors, strategically located to 
capture areas of relevant exposure. Wirral has no Air Quality Management Areas (areas 
deemed to exceed stated air quality objectives), meaning no dedicated Air Quality Action 
Plan is indicated. However, local air quality issues, interventions, and priorities are outlined 
in the annual Air Quality Status Report (ASR) submitted to DEFRA, and the Outdoor Air 
Quality Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). 

Assessing the health impact of air pollution for Wirral’s population presents some 
challenges. During 2018 there were 3,789 deaths registered in Wirral with all cancers 
(1,055), all circulatory diseases (747) and all respiratory diseases (616) accounting for 
63.8% (2,418) of the total. Public Health England estimates that 3.9% (approximately 138) 
of deaths in Wirral in 2017 were attributable to particulate air pollution, lower than both the 
North West (4.1%) and England (5.1%). Therefore, whilst recorded air pollution in Wirral 
does not exceed legal threshold limits and air quality nationally is slowly improving, it is 
important to continue to take action to improve air quality and to monitor the impact on 
health.

AIM
To audit Wirral’s air quality plan against PHE recommendations for air quality interventions 
in local authorities to determine compliance with national standards.

Page 50



11

To identify areas for improvement in Wirral’s air quality plan.

AUDIT SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY
PHE’s published recommendations for air quality interventions in local authorities were 
reviewed in detail. Key recommendations were drawn out of the report, which formed the 
criteria by which local action was assessed for this audit (See Appendix). As no discrete air 
quality plan for Wirral has been produced, local air quality action detailed in the air quality 
JSNA and ASR (both updated in 2019) were assessed against the audit criteria to determine 
concordance with PHE recommendations. Local performance was measured against these 
criteria. In instances where PHE recommendations were not satisfied at the local level, 
priority areas for action were identified. 

FINDINGS
The audit revealed that Wirral’s air quality plan broadly reflects recommendations from PHE. 
The lack of a dedicated local air quality plan however means gaining a comprehensive and 
cohesive understanding of the long-term vision for air quality priorities and actions moving 
forward is challenging. For example, the contribution and mitigation of agricultural causes of 
air pollution locally are not discussed in either the JSNA or ASR.  

Strategic air quality monitoring across Wirral has consistently revealed no Air Quality 
Management Areas. Traffic-related; non-traffic related; and public behaviour interventions 
are represented within air quality initiatives underway locally. 

There is an established hierarchy of interventions to improve air quality with preventing, 
reducing or replacing polluting activities to reduce emissions as the first priority. Actions to 
reduce the concentration of air pollution once it has occurred is the second priority and 
individual avoidance of exposure is the third. The most effective pollution reduction 
strategies employ all these tactics. In line with PHE recommendations, local air quality 
interventions primarily act at the top of the hierarchy of interventions, seeking to reduce 
emissions rather than simply avoid exposure to pollutants. 

There is evidence of internal and external stakeholder and community engagement in 
planning and delivering some of the air quality interventions, with strong collaborations 
between adjacent local authority regions and co-ordinated action via the Liverpool Air 
Quality Task Force and Air Quality Technical Group (AQTECH). Furthermore, many 
interventions deliver public health co-benefits, or link to other local initiatives to improve 
wider health determinants. Specifically, there is notable synergy with the Climate Change 
Strategy. There is some effort to tailor interventions to vulnerable groups to reduce health 
inequalities, with a focus on children/schools. 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION
The audit identified the following recommendations:

1. Air pollutants (specifically NO2 and PM2.5) continue to be strategically monitored 
across Wirral to identify long term trends and areas for action locally.

Page 51



12

2. Wirral Council should continue to annually review and update the Outdoor Air Quality 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

3. Wirral Council should maintain its current commitment to air quality, evidenced by the 
absence of Air Quality Management Areas, and considers extending membership of 
the Wirral Air Quality Group to include health partners and other anchor 
organisations.

4. NHS partners use their Sustainable Development Management Plans to deliver on 
the air quality goals in the NHS Long Term Plan and share how they are supporting 
patients and staff to reduce the health impacts of air pollution.

5. Prioritisation of air quality activities implemented is based on the hierarchy of 
interventions (prioritising prevention of emissions over reducing/avoiding exposure). 

6. Air quality initiatives continue to employ a focus on vulnerable populations and foster 
collaborations with internal/external stakeholders and the wider community. 

7. Wirral Council should consider how to embed actions related to air quality emerging 
from the Health Impact Assessment of the Local Plan.

8. Local air quality interventions are formally evaluated to identify/share good practice.

9. The Wirral Air Quality Group drafts a dedicated local air quality plan to clearly and 
comprehensively define local air quality commitments, priorities and 
monitoring/evaluation over the next five to ten years, aligned to Liverpool City Region 
and national air quality strategies.  

10.Key strategic plans for the borough embed air quality considerations across all 
actions, prioritising initiatives that deliver a net health gain within the local population.

DISSEMINATION OF FINDINGS
An overview of these findings will be shared with the Wirral Air Quality Group, the Wirral 
Health Protection Board and key partners across the Council. The recommendations from 
the audit will also be presented within a report to the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
November 2019.

FURTHER WORK
A repeat audit cycle should be completed in 12 months (September 2020) to reflect 
emerging evidence and policy in this field and to determine whether recommendations 
identified by this audit have been incorporated into practice.

Page 52



13

REFERENCES
1. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2019) Clean Air Strategy.
2. Public Health England (2019) Review of interventions to improve outdoor air quality 

and public health. http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-
quality-and-health-review-of-interventions

3. Wirral Intelligence Service (2019) Outdoor Air Quality - Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/

4. Wirral Council (2019). Air Quality Annual Status Report 

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/environmental-problems/pollution-control/air-quality 

REPORT AUTHORS
Rachael Musgrave, Consultant in Public Health, Wirral Council
Sophie Patterson, Specialty Registrar in Public Health, Wirral Council

Page 53

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-review-of-interventions
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-review-of-interventions
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/environmental-problems/pollution-control/air-quality


14

APPENDIX: AUDIT CRITERIA FOR ASSESSING LOCAL ACTION

Are Pollutant Levels 
above UK/WHO 
Guidelines?
Is Public Health 
Considered in the AQ 
Plan?

Does the plan address inequalities related to AQ?

Are there synergies with other priorities/co-benefits for 
other wider determinants of health? 

Is there internal/external stakeholder/community 
engagement and linkage to health and wellbeing 
strategy?

Does the plan include evidence-based initiatives to 
engage public and promote action?

General 
Recommendations for 
AQ Interventions

Targeted interventions to identify/address local issues

Use hierarchy of interventions to prioritise AQ 
interventions

Reduce sources of pollution in populated areas

Systematically evaluate all interventions

Traffic-Related AQ 
Interventions

Reducing emissions from existing vehicles: planning for 
active travel and public transport

Promoting the uptake of low emission vehicles and 
reducing demand for more polluting forms of transport

Using spatial planning to reduce sources and exposure 
to pollution

Non-Traffic Related AQ 
Interventions

Reducing exposure to pollution from local airports, ports 
and the railway sector

Planning interventions

Agricultural interventions

Public Behaviour Raising awareness of air pollution and health

Providing information/advice to businesses/public 
explaining actions to minimise contribution to air pollution

Page 54



15

Providing information and advice to the public explaining 
how people can minimise their exposure to air pollution

Key Considerations Is 'Net Health Gain' approach to new policy/work which 
affects air pollution adopted in the local authority?

Is there a particularly focused approach on reducing the 
impact of air pollution on children?

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
DATE: 13 NOVEMBER 2019

REPORT TITLE Public Health Annual Report 2019

REPORT OF Julie Webster, Director for Health and Wellbeing

REPORT SUMMARY
The Public Health Annual Report (PHAR) 2019 is the independent annual report of the 
Director of Public Health and is a statutory requirement. The 2019 Report, Creative 
Communities, explores the role of culture as a means of improving health and wellbeing, 
presents local examples of these benefits and calls for everyone in Wirral to be part of a 
Borough of Culture legacy that leaves us happier and healthier.

The Public Health Annual Report is an important vehicle to identify key issues, flag up 
problems, report progress and inform local inter agency action. The purpose of the PHAR is 
to draw attention to local issues of importance which have an impact on population health. 
Since the Council took back responsibility for Public Health in 2013 we have published five 
reports on:
 Social isolation
 Healthy schools and children
 Domestic violence
 The roles of the Council and NHS in promoting health and wellbeing 
 Problem gambling

These reports have led to action in the reduction of people smoking in the borough to levels 
below the national average; increased support for people who were feeling socially isolated 
plus significant activity across a range of partners to highlight and reduce the damage 
caused to our communities from alcohol abuse and gambling. 

The 2019 Report seeks to influence the developing narrative around social prescribing and 
how we engage and work with local people to support them to live healthier lives. A 
comprehensive range of Information and data on the health of the population in Wirral is 
also available on the Wirral Intelligence Service website and compliments this report. We 
will report on the impact achieved from this work in next year’s annual report.

RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board endorse the recommendations of 
the Public Health Annual Report 2019 and support its publication. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

The 2019 Public Health Annual Report focuses on the role of cultural activities to improve 
health and wellbeing.

Engaging with cultural activities is good for everyone; it helps people to recover from illness, 
both physical and mental and protects against it; preventing illness and keeping us well no 
matter how young or old we are. 

2.0     OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The publication of the Public Health Annual Report is a legal requirement, no other options 
have been considered. 

3.0     BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture has provided some unforgettable and spectacular arts 
and sporting events for local people and visitors to experience. It has brought communities 
together and provided opportunities for people of all ages to experience arts and culture in 
lots of different ways. 

According to National Alliance for Arts, Health and Wellbeing, “over recent years, there has 
been a growing understanding of the impact that taking part in the arts can have on health 
and wellbeing. By supplementing medicine and care, the arts can improve the health of 
people who experience mental and/or physical health problems. Engaging in the arts can 
promote prevention of disease and build wellbeing” 1 

This year’s Public Health Annual Report looks at what is known about what works to improve 
health through arts and cultural activities; the experiences of local people interacting with 
culture and its impact upon them and makes recommendations about how we can all use 
cultural activities to improve our health and wellbeing.

A review of the evidence2 about what works to improve health through culture, identified a 
positive impact on both physical and mental health across the life course and identified those 
activities which are beneficial. The findings from this review informed the development of 
the PHAR recommendations and are presented on the Wirral Intelligence Service website.

1 All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health and Wellbeing. Inquiry Report. Creative Health: The Arts for Health and Wellbeing. July 2017
Singing in
2 Wirral Intelligence Service (2019) The impact of art and culture on health and wellbeing – a literature review. May 2019. 

Page 58



3

Across Wirral there are lots of great examples of arts and cultural activities which are having 
a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of local people. In the report we showcase this 
work which is engaging with residents of all ages.

The Public Health Annual Report is aimed at lay audiences, a key feature of the report must 
be its accessibility to the public which offers an opportunity for the Director of Public Health 
to focus on the key impact messages they want to convey. This year we focused on using 
the PHAR as a way of engaging people to discuss their health and wellbeing actively 
employing arts and culture, not only as the topic for the report, but as a vehicle to engage 
local people in the development of the report. 

All partners will need to consider how they will embed the recommendations included within 
the Report. Progress to deliver the recommendations will be reviewed and reported in the 
2020 Annual Report.

4.0FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

5.0LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no legal implications arising from this report. The Public Health Annual Report is 
a statutory duty on Directors of Public Health.

6.0RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

This report has been financed from within existing resource and the main inputs have been 
staff time of officers in Public Health, Culture, Communications and Graphics teams.

7.0RELEVANT RISKS 

To mitigate the potential lack of engagement with the report it has been co-produced with 
partners, through two workshops, and with residents through an extensive arts project (see 
8.0 Engagement/Consultation).

8.0ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

To inform the PHAR we spent time listening to the stories and experiences of residents. An 
immersive community arts project, known as ‘The Sofa Sessions’, travelled across the 
borough inviting residents to rest, relax and discuss how their life has been influenced by 
culture and creativity whilst also taking part in cultural activities. Over 1000 people interacted 
with the travelling arts project during August 2019, supported by Involve North West and 
local artists. Each ‘Sofa Session’ was attended by Community Connectors from Involve 
North West who were available to assist any residents looking for support; providing 
information about local services available to them in Wirral. The work, a large-scale tapestry, 
produced by residents through ‘The Sofa Sessions’ will be displayed in various places 
across Wirral including the Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Central Library.

Page 59



4

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is located: -

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017 

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to have no 
impact on emissions of CO2.      

REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Webster
     Director for Health and Wellbeing
     telephone: (0151 666 5142)
     email: juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Creative Communities 2019 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health

Page 60

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017
mailto:juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk


Creative Communities
Culture for Health and 
Wellbeing in Wirral 
2019 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 

Page 61



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        1

Foreword            2 

Introduction            3

The Impact of Culture           5 

Culture in Action           6

• The Open Door Centre          7

• The Williamson Art Gallery and Museum        9 

• Age UK Wirral         11

• Borough of Culture’s Animated Square      13

• The Sofa Sessions         15

Recommendations         17

    Contents

Page 62



Our year as the Liverpool City Region Borough of 
Culture provides a great opportunity for Wirral 
residents to engage with cultural activities and 
experience something new. It is a chance to 
maximise the health and wellbeing benefits of 
culture for individuals and communities through 
creative discovery and the exploring the world 
around us. I am proud and privileged therefore 
to share this year’s Director of Public Health 
Annual Report. It provides a strong evidence base 
for culture as a means to improving health and 
wellbeing, presents local examples of these benefits 
and calls for everyone in Wirral to be part of a 
Borough of Culture legacy that leaves us happier 
and healthier.

Regardless of the many individual ways in which we 
experience culture, it helps us to connect better 
to each other, enjoy and cope with life’s everyday 
challenges. There is strong evidence that arts and 
culture help to keep us well, recover from illness 
and support longer, better lives. Our case studies 
show how such initiatives improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes and are cost effective. This 
provides fresh thinking for health and care systems. 
However the benefits of investment in cultural 
activities for health and wellbeing are still not widely 
recognised. 

This report has three key recommendations which 
aim to optimise the amazing work happening 
across Wirral and identify new opportunities to 
improve health and wellbeing through cultural 
activities.

In producing this report, I’m grateful to local people 
who have shared their experiences and for the 
energy and commitment of all those who have 
supported its development; in particular more 
than 1,000 residents who participated in the Sofa 
Sessions, interacting with culture and creativity, 
to talk about health and wellbeing.  I hope that 
this report inspires and energises individuals and 
encourages increased collaboration between 
different disciplines and organisations. 
Wirral’s year of culture has been an amazing 
journey, showing off the creative and natural assets 
of our beautiful borough. By working together, we 
can create wonderful memories and a long lasting, 
positive impact on health and wellbeing.

Julie Webster
Acting Director for Health and Wellbeing

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        2

    Foreword

Page 63



Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture has 
provided some unforgettable and spectacular 
arts and sporting events for locals and visitors 
to experience. In 2019, culture has brought 
communities together and provided opportunities 
for people of all ages to experience arts and 
creativity in lots of different ways. Happiness and 
pride are the words that people have used to 
describe their experience at these events – events 
that have provided a chance people to share and 
celebrate together. These feelings are important 
indicators of our wellbeing, contributing to good 
health and reducing isolation. 

Engaging with cultural activities – regardless of 
how we do it – is good for everyone. It helps 
people to recover from illness, both physical and 
mental, and protects against it; preventing ill 
health and keeping us well no matter how young 
or old we are.

 

We must do things differently to ensure that 
health and care services are resilient now and in 
the future. This means focusing on keeping people 
well. Cultural experiences can provide ways to 
wellbeing where other interventions don’t quite 
reach. They can enrich our lives as individuals, 
helping us to better understand our place in the 
world. The case studies in this report are prime 
examples of how culture and creativity, often in 
conjunction with clinical methods of support, could 
be the logical next step in the journey toward a 
more well Wirral.

The Wirral Culture Strategy, which underpins 
the Wirral Plan 2015 – 2020, contains four 
priorities, one of which is focused on promoting 
the educational, social and wellbeing benefits 
of arts and culture, while also recognising the 
social impact within our communities. Whilst the 
role of cultural activities on health is increasingly 
understood, globally, we have yet to fully maximise 
these opportunities in health and care. This 

report looks at the current knowledge 
of ‘what works’ to improve health 

through arts and cultural activities, 
the experiences of local people 
interacting with culture and its 

impact upon them and finally makes 
recommendations about how we can all utilise 
cultural activities to improve health and wellbeing.

“The creative impulse 
is fundamental to the 
experience of being 
human” 1

1. Creative Health: The Arts for Health and Wellbeing,   
 2017. All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health  
 and Wellbeing. Inquiry Report

  Introduction

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        3

“The purpose of 
art is washing the 
dust of daily life 

off our souls” 

Pablo Picasso

Page 64

http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf
http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf
http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf


“The effect in sickness of beautiful 
objects, of variety of objects, and 
especially of brilliance of colours is 
hardly at all appreciated. People say 
the effect is on the mind. It is no such 
thing. The effect is on the body, too. 
Little as we know about the way in 
which we are offered by form, colour, 
by light, we do know this, that they 
have a physical effect. Variety of form 
and brilliance of colour in the objects 
presented to patients are actual 
means of recovery.”

Florence Nightingale, Notes on Nursing, 1859

Page 65



Globally, there is increasing understanding and 
recognition of the impact that culture can have 
on the health and wellbeing of individuals and in 
turn, their communities.  

“More and more people now appreciate 
that arts and culture can play a valuable 
part in helping tackle some of the most 
challenging social and health conditions. Active 
participation in the visual and performing arts, 
music and dance can help people facing a lonely 
old age, depression or mental illness; it can help 
maintain levels of independence and curiosity 
and, let’s not forget, it can bring great joy and 
so improve the quality of life for those engaged”  
Lord Richards of Nailsworth, 2016

As part of the development of this report a review 
of the impact that culture can have on health and 
wellbeing found that:

1. Evidence for the positive impact of arts and 
cultural activities on health at every stage of life has 
grown considerably in recent years. The evidence 
base is now extensive and not only identifies those 
activities which are beneficial, but often indicates 
the scale of these health improvements.

2. Overall, there appears to be both more - and 
slightly higher quality - evidence for the positive 
impacts of participative singing, music, dance and 
literature (reading and story-telling) on health and 
wellbeing.

3. Although a large body of literature focuses on 
mental health (primarily anxiety and depression), 
positive impacts have also been noted on a range 
of physical conditions and social factors such as 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) , 
cystic fibrosis, blood pressure and Coronary Heart 
Disease (CHD), dementia, falls, hospital admissions 
and length of stay, GP consultations, medication 
levels, child development, anti-social behaviour, 
attainment at school and in preventing and 
postponing frailty.

4. The challenge inherent in many arts and cultural 
interventions is that they do not easily lend 
themselves to showing quantifiable improvements 
(especially in people approaching the end of life for 
example). Absence of (quantifiable) evidence, is not 
however evidence of absence.

5. Future arts and cultural activities organised 
locally here in Wirral should aim to add to the 
growing evidence base for this type of intervention 
by conducting robust evaluation. Evaluation should 
include quantifiable improvements alongside more 
qualitative information in order to better inform 
commissioners.

1.  Wirral Intelligence Service (2019)  
 The impact of art and culture on health and  
 wellbeing – a literature review. May 2019. 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        5

“Wonder is  
the beginning  

of wisdom”

The Impact of Culture

Socrates

Page 66



Culture in Action

“When I look back, I am so impressed with the 
life-giving power of literature. If I were a young 
person today, trying to gain a sense of myself in 
the world, I would do that again by reading, just 
as I did when I was young.” Maya Angelou

Here we showcase some of the rich and varied  
work that local people, involved in arts and  
cultural activities, are doing across Wirral.

Page 67



The Open Door Centre is a Birkenhead based 
charity providing creative and therapeutic 
opportunities to young people accessing mental 
health support. Through music and technology, 
training and volunteering, the centre helps 
young people confront their stress, anxiety and 
depression, supporting them to develop effective 
ways to deal with these feelings. 

Having a team of volunteer mentors has been 
an integral part of the service delivery. It has also 
helped the charity promote the ideas of valued 
lived experience, compassion, informality and 
empathy to support people to overcome emotional 
challenges. 

Promoting good mental health is at the heart of 
what the charity does but it also sees its role to 
upskill and provide opportunities for local people 
to gain experience whilst improving their career 
and academic prospects. It is often difficult for 
people to gain practical experience in mental health 
roles and that is something the charity wanted to 
change. It was apparent that so many fantastic 
individuals were drawn to the sector for all the 
right reasons such as personal lived experience 
and wanting to help others. The charity is pleased 
it can offer training and practical opportunities 
to these individuals, but it also means that as an 
organisation with currently 35 volunteer mentors, 
they can adequately support a large number of 
people in a timely and cost-effective way – and with 
impressive outcomes. Members who work with  the 
charity like the fact that they are supported by a 
mentor through an 8-week Cognitive Behavioural 

Therapy (CBT) and mindfulness-based intervention, 
called Bazaar. The majority of mentors are young 
adults (early 20’s), dress casually and if you walked 
into the centre, you would not necessarily know 
who the mentor or member is. This helps break 
down the barriers and formalities that drive a lot of 
the stigma young people feel about mental health 
care. It is also common for a member to complete 
support with the charity and further down the line 
find themselves completing training and becoming 
mentors themselves. 

The Open Door Centre

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        7

Volunteer mentors

Page 68



“I am forever grateful for the 
sessions I took part in at 
the Open Door Centre. The 
staff are so attentive and 
compassionate and really 
reassured me when I first 
arrived, which was very difficult 
for me. From then on I knew I 
was in safe hands and found 
the distraction techniques, 
mindfulness, Thought Bully 
and thought tracking really 
useful and these are tools that 
I intend to use for life.”

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        8

The centre’s ‘Bazaar – A Marketplace for the Mind’ 
programme delivers one-to-one cognitive behavioural 
therapy sessions inside cosy therapy spaces (or, sheds). 

With nine in total, the spaces are used by members 
working alongside a mentor during this 8 week course to 
improve their mental health.

Page 69



The Williamson Art Gallery, based in Oxton, 
provides space to display masterpieces, ceramics, 
and sculptures. Housing the largest public 
collection of Della Robbia pottery in the UK and 
home to some internationally important paintings, 
exhibitions at the Williamson Art Gallery & Museum 
are always free. They also welcome educational, 
party and group visits. Pamela Sullivan is a 
freelance artist working at the Williamson 
Art Gallery and Museum. Teaching adult art 
classes in drawing, painting and printmaking, 
she works with vulnerable young people and 
families from a range of diverse backgrounds. 
Outside of the gallery setting she works in 
the wider Wirral community. Her work involves 
the re use and up cycling of found materials 
including plastics, paper and cardboard. With local 
communities in Wirral she has created large scale 
cardboard trees and ‘city scapes’ for projects at 
the New Ferry Butterfly Park as well as 80ft trees at 
the Bombed Out Church in Liverpool for the 2012 
Biennial Arts Festival. 

Being part of these projects, whether through 
simply creating a drawing or painting, has proven 
vitally important for the health and wellbeing 
of those communities involved. The Williamson 
provides a local hub where people from different 
backgrounds including those who feel isolated or 
excluded, can come together to participate in and 
enjoy the arts. Pamela’s work as an artist in this 
space helps to deliver wellbeing outcomes ranging 
from alleviating anxiety to developing confidence 
and resilience.

The Williamson Art  
Gallery & Museum

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        9

Pamela Sullivan  
and the Cityscape 
exhibition

Bidston Observatory  
Time and Tide exhibition

Page 70



“Attending the art class at the 
Williamson Art Gallery was a life saver 
for me and helped me through a very 
difficult time. I had no self confidence 

to start with so went with a friend. 
The benefits have been two fold, 
my confidence has grown and 
my self esteem has returned 

all of this as well as acquiring 
new skills and having a safe place 

to experiment with painting and 
drawing. The course has got me 
through cancer and the long draining 
illness that finally took my mum last 
year. The art class allowed me to 
escape into my imagination, having 
two hours just for me was a life saver.”

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        10

Wirral Eco Schools Plastics Project

Cardboard Trees exhibition

Page 71



Combining the promotion of health with celebrating 
arts, culture and heritage is at the heart of many 
of Age UK Wirral’s projects.  The Great Wirral 
Conversations have brought together people from 
different generations in events that have explored 
topics as diverse as motherhood, (through bringing 
together ‘experienced’ ladies with new mothers), 
and life in the forces, (by linking Wirral’s veterans 
with local secondary school history students). 

Health promotion projects such as Joining Forces, 
a Ministry of Defence funded initiative supporting 
local older veterans, and the Men’s Project at 
Maritime Park, supporting health promotion and 
tackling the social isolation of former seafarers, 
have used Wirral’s rich military and maritime 
heritage, and the range of stunning resources 
that the Borough has to offer. Utilising some of 
Wirral’s finest assets, including Lady Lever and 
Williamson Art Galleries, as a catalyst for bringing 
people together Age UK Wirral have fostered new 
friendships, diverse connections and created 
shared memories.

Celebration of arts, culture and heritage is also 
core to the organisation’s cognitive stimulation 
therapy work with people living with dementia. 
Members of Devonshire Days have been involved 
in a collaborative arts project that culminated in 
their work being displayed at a local art gallery, 
which was a massive boost to the confidence of 
all involved. Reminder Finders, the organisation’s 
group for people in the earlier stages of dementia, 
uses physical and online resources to stimulate 
reminiscence sessions by recalling changes in art, 
sport, music and local history over the generations.

Extending access to art and sport in its many 
forms is a powerful medium for tackling isolation 
and loneliness locally. The organisation’s Health 
& Activity Department facilitates more than 60 
different classes and activities a week, ranging from 
walking and cycling groups taking advantage of 
Wirral’s rich outdoor spaces through to building-
based classes including anything from Yoga, 
Zumba, creative writing through to playing the 
ukulele! A recent project saw one of the groups 
redecorate and restore the organisation’s very own 
Superlambanana, which now has pride of place 
in the courtyard at Age UK Wirral’s Care Home for 
people with dementia.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        11

Age UK Wirral

“Celebration of arts, culture 
and heritage is core to the 

organisation’s cognitive 
stimulation therapy work.”

Page 72



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        12

Age UK Wirral’s very own Superlambanana

Age UK photography exhibition

The Great Wirral Conversations: 
Bringing together intergenerational 
groups

Page 73



In March 2019, Birkenhead Town Hall came alive 
for Animated Square, the first spectacular event of 
Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture. The Grade II 
listed building was transformed into the canvas for 
a large-scale projected light show.

Focus in the build-up to the light show was on 
some inspiring musical performances by four 
Wirral-based choir groups. The groups included 
school children from the local area, as well as adults 
of all ages, backgrounds and abilities. 

Curated on a non-audition basis, groups were 
accessible to anyone who had an interest in being 
part of the event. One of the groups, RiverSign, 
was a signing choir made up of adults across 
Merseyside who sign songs whilst performing and 
cater to audience members who are deaf, or hard 
of hearing. 

RiverSign being part of the event promoted 
inclusivity in music, irrespective of barriers to 
performing such as disabilities, deafness, being 
hard of hearing and learning difficulties. Rehearsal 
and performance spaces reflected this, offering 
adequate provision for those with mobility 
restrictions to enable them to take part with ease.

The legacy from the choir performances lies in the 
memories and career pathways of local children, 
as well as increased engagement and collaboration 
across local choirs, with RiverSign in particular 
reflecting their enjoyment of being part of a ‘live’ 
performance. They were able to work with other 
community groups during rehearsals and are 
looking to develop these relationships further to 
help raise their profile in the local area.

Borough of Culture  
Animated Square

The Wilfred Owen Choir and The Luminelles 
were made up of 44 students between the ages 
of 11-18. The performance was an empowering 
and educational opportunity to take part in a 
heritage-focused cultural event which told the 
story and celebrated the history of where they live. 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        13Page 74



Above: Illuminated in 3D onto the building 
itself, the display was inspired by the history 
of Birkenhead, attracting thousands for the 
second consecutive year.

Below: Members of Riversign performing at 
Animated Square.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        14

“A member of our choir 
said someone approached 
her after the performance 
in tears to say the whole 
performance was so 
emotional. It doesn’t get 
better than that.”  
Pete Martin,  
Director RiverSign Choir

Page 75



To inform this report we also spent time listening 
to the stories and experiences of local residents. 
Throughout August 2019 an immersive community 
arts project, known as ‘The Sofa Sessions’, travelled 
across the borough inviting residents to rest, relax 
and discuss how their life has been influenced by 
culture whilst also taking part in various creative 
activities.

Inspired by the Boroughof Culture’s Radio Local 
events in Liscard, which delivered innovative 
engagement with the local community through 
culture, more than 1000 people interacted with the 
travelling arts piece, supported by Involve North 
West and local artists, leaving their mark on it at  
events across Wirral including:

•   Ilchester Family Fun Day in North Birkenhead 

•   Wirral Evolutions’ Health & Wellbeing Art Project  
 in Eastham

•   Bee Wirral’s Annual Family Fun Day in    
 Birkenhead

•   Beechwood Festival Day (Beechwood Estate) 

•   Mencap’s One Wirral Festival in Birkenhead Park 

•   Carrbridge Centre, Woodchurch

•   Summer Park Event, The Walled Garden in   
 Central Park, Wallasey

•   Building Bridges Family Fun Day, Birkenhead

•   Summer Activities session at West Kirby Library

•   Drop-in art event at The Barn, Pye Road in   
 Heswall 

 Family Drop-In at Williamson Art Gallery, Oxton

Each ‘Sofa Session’ was attended by Community 
Connectors from Involve North West who were 
available to assist any residents looking for support; 
providing information about local services available 
to them in Wirral.
The work, which also included a large-scale tapestry 
known as ‘The Wellbeing Tree’, produced by local 
residents through ‘The Sofa Sessions’ will be 
displayed in various places across Wirral including 
the Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Central 
Library.

The Sofa Sessions

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        15

The Wellbeing Tree tapestry; 
The Sofa designed by Pam Sullivan;
Members from Wirral Evolutions’ day 
centre in Eastham taking part in  
the Sofa Sessions

Page 76



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        16

“Reading and sewing  
makes me happy.”

“When I’m drawing I don’t think 
about the negative things in life.”

Artist Pam Sullivan with The 
Wellbeing Tree tapestry

Youngsters getting creative 
at the Sofa Sessions

Sessions offered people 
the chance to rest, 
relax and discuss how 
their lives had been 
influenced by culture 

Page 77



We have a unique opportunity to use Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture as a 
springboard for developing a deeper and shared understanding of how public 
engagement in arts and culture can contribute to physical and mental health, 
emotional wellbeing, community resilience, health maintenance and improvement.

This report demonstrates the contribution that arts and culture can make to a 
healthy and health-creating borough. The following recommendations, which have 
been developed in collaboration with networks of local people, focus on ensuring 
that we fully capitalise on the huge opportunity presented by Borough of Culture to 
make a lasting impact on the health and wellbeing of local people through culture 
and the arts.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        17

Recommendations

Page 78



1 

1 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        18

Seek out opportunities in our 
lives and communities for arts 
and culture – to help to keep 
us well and live longer, better 
lives.

Building on existing networks, bring together 
stakeholders from the arts and health and care 
sectors to support the delivery of health and 
wellbeing through arts and culture. For partners 
this should focus on disseminating good practice, 
co-ordinating funding opportunities and informing 
policy and commissioning. 

Improve awareness of the benefits that arts and 
culture can bring to health and wellbeing through 
the workforce, with current patients and with 
other local people.

Promote a Wirral wide focus on ‘wellness’, working 
with people before they become sick or develop 
illness in the first place by developing a positive 
relationship with arts and culture.

Encourage residents to reimagine new kinds 
of connected communities in order to develop 
their own strengths and abilities so they can live 
independent and fulfilling lives.

The Sofa Sessions (above) took inspiration 
from Radio Local, a one-off live hyperlocal 
radio station that was built around 
Wirral’s people and places as part of 
Borough of Culture.

Page 79



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        19

 

Ensure that the legacy of 
Wirral’s Borough of Culture 
year contributes to the 
development of a healthy and 
health-creating borough. 

2

The review of the Wirral Culture Strategy provides 
an opportunity to recognise the success achieved 
over the last five years whilst looking at new ways 
to improve outcomes. The recommendations 
contained within this report should inform the 
development of the refreshed Wirral Culture 
Strategy.

Explore the development of a local cultural 
legacy programme to mobilise action in local 
communities and advocate for health through arts 
and culture.

Incorporate arts and culture into the Healthy 
Wirral Plan, seeking opportunities to leverage 
change.

Building on methodologies which have been 
developed to evaluate the Borough of Culture, 
foster a common approach to research into  
the potential of culture to tackle some of the  
deep-rooted and complex challenges in Wirral.

Following the successful Borough of Culture 
volunteering programme, support volunteers 
who want to progress to further volunteering 
or employment. This will ensure that their 
enthusiasm, skills and expertise can be used to 
encourage volunteering activity and build capacity 
in the borough’s voluntary, community and faith 
sector.

The Witching Hour performances, live in 
Birkenhead Park with arts company Periplum. 
Birkenhead Town Hall’s Animated Square 
illuminations.

Page 80



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        20

 

Secure a commitment from 
health partners to work with 
arts and cultural organisations 
to ensure that culture for 
health and wellbeing becomes 
integral to organisational, and 
commissioning strategies.

3 

Healthy Wirral partners should seize any 
opportunity to spread messages that encourage 
public engagement in the creative arts as a route 
to achieving health and wellbeing goals.

Health and care partners review the evidence as 
to the efficacy of the arts and culture in benefiting 
health and integrate this into local plans, 
pathway redesign and asset development where 
appropriate.

Commissioners should give consideration as 
to how the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
can secure cultural benefits, e.g. public art or 
community cultural investment funds.

Cultural participation forms a vital part of 
social prescribing. Wirral Health and Care 
Commissioners should ensure that arts and 
culture is part of the developing social prescribing 
offer.

Establish a network of partners to support the 
delivery of the recommendations included within 
this report. 

Community Connectors from 
Involve Northwest
 

Page 81



Give us your feedback

Let me know what you think of this report.

Email:  
juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

Write:  
Julie Webster 
Wirral Council
Marriss House
Hamilton Street
Wirral
CH41 5AL

For more information: 
Wirral Intelligence Service 
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/public-health-annual-reports/

Special thanks go to the following people who supported the production of this report:

Pam Sullivan, Michelle Daverin, Justine Molyneux, the Community Connector Team at 
Involve North West, Jamie Anderson, Gail Mooney, Kate Menear, Alison Bailey-Smith, Clare 
McColgon, Kathy Warren, Lee Pennington, Greg Edwards, Jane Morgan, Lucy Barrow,  
Nikki Boardman and all those who participated in the two stakeholder workshops.

Thanks also go to the PHAR editorial team:  
Nikki Jones, Tessa Woodhouse, Sarah Kinsella, Rachel Howey and Rachael Musgrave.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        21Page 82

mailto:juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/public-health-annual-reports/


Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



1

WIRRAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
13TH NOVEMBER 2019

REPORT TITLE Healthy Wirral 5 Year Strategy
REPORT OF Healthy Wirral Programme

REPORT SUMMARY
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough, and supports the delivery of both Wirral 
20/20 pledges in relation to Health and Wellbeing, the delivery of Health and Wellbeing 
ambitions within ‘Wirral Together’ and the development of the Wirral Local Plan.

In common with all health and care systems across Cheshire and Merseyside, Wirral is 
expected to establish and implement its plans to achieve the best possible health and 
wellbeing outcomes for its population within the funding available to the system. The 5 
Year Strategy describes our ambitions and key strategic priorities to achieve the Healthy 
Wirral vision of enabling all people in Wirral to live longer and healthier lives.  The ‘Healthy 
Wirral’ partnership and the associated programme is seen as the prime system-wide 
approach to delivering sustainable and affordable long term changes to the way that the 
health and wellbeing of the Wirral Population is supported.

RECOMMENDATION/S
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to endorse the attached strategy and support its 
progress to publication.

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The purpose of the report is to share the draft strategy with the Joint Strategic 
Commissioning Board (JSCB), and note any suggested changes or developments 
with the aim of receiving board endorsement.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Healthy Wirral Programme represents a system wide approach to the 
commissioning and delivery of health and care transformation on Wirral in order to 
achieve clinically and financially sustainable place based care, as described within 
the strategy. As such there is no alternative option to consider for the system.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Healthy Wirral Programme has identified a mission of ‘Better health and 
wellbeing in Wirral by working together’ with the clearly stated aim to enable all 
people in Wirral to live longer and healthier lives by taking simple steps to improve 
their own health and  wellbeing. By achieving this together we can provide the very 
best health and social care services when people really need them, as close to 
home as possible. Delivering this aim requires the Wirral partners to rise to four key 
challenges:

 Acting As One – exemplified in actions and behaviours. Delivering net system 
benefit

 Improving population health – delivering the Healthy Wirral outcomes around 
better care and better health using a place based approach.

 Clinical sustainability –sustainable, high quality, appropriately staffed, 
delivered across organisational boundaries.

 Financial sustainability – managing with our allocation, taking cost out, 
avoiding costs, delivering efficiency and better value.

3.2 The Healthy Wirral 5 Year Strategy is intended to be the Place Strategy for Health & 
Care for 2019-2024. The strategy establishes the key priorities for Wirral Partners to 
achieve the Healthy Wirral vision of enabling all people in Wirral to live longer and 
healthier lives. The strategy takes a Population health approach to achieving this 
through actions to support:
 Making Wirral a healthy place to live.
 Utilising population health management.
 Focusing on preventing ill health.
 Upscaling NHS action on prevention and tackling health inequalities.
 Supporting people with long-term conditions to live well.
 Improving the services we deliver and changing how we deliver them to better 

serve our population.

Page 86



3

 Returning the Wirral system to financial balance.

3.3 The Strategy development is necessarily aligned with the delivery of the NHS Long 
Term Plan and incorporates those non-negotiable expectations linked to the 
national policy direction.  However Wirral partners are clear and committed to the 
principles of delivering a strategy that is relevant to and owned by the local 
population and partner organisations. 

3.4 A detailed engagement process is being undertaken, including Wirral Health and 
Care Staff, Clinicians and organizational leaders, Third Sector Partners and the 
Wirral Public. Their input will shape the final version of the plan that is presented 
below in draft form. Oversight of the development of this strategy is being led by the 
Healthy Wirral Partners Board; however the final strategy will be delivered for 
approval by the Wirral Health and Wellbeing Board before publication and launch.

The strategy document is provided at Appendix 1.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Wirral Health and Care System has continued to face significant financial 
pressures, particularly in Acute Care and commissioned out of Hospital Packages of 
care. The overall system ended 2018/19 with an overall deficit of £26.5m. 

4.2 The individual organisational control totals have been set at very challenging levels, 
resulting in a planned CIP / QIPP requirement of £40.4million in 2019-20, being 
7.5% of the total CCG’s allocation. Therefore, key actions now focus on:
 The delivery of  3-5 year system wide recovery and sustainability plan 
 The delivery of a challenging system wide efficiencies programme 
 Continuation of the Healthy Wirral collaborative system management approach, 

as NHS Wirral CCG will continue to work in collaboration with its partners to 
support overall system recovery and continued sustainability. 

 A well-developed set of mitigation plans against to address key risks

4.3 The proposed plans see the Wirral “Place” working together as an overall system, 
largely to deliver genuine improvements for patients and to return the “Place” to 
financial sustainability in the longer term. In supporting these plans, Healthy Wirral 
system partners have also committed to delivering future system sustainability.  
System efficiencies will be sought through the agency of key Heathy Wirral primary 
and core programmes and the delivery of effective place-based neighbourhood 
health and care approaches.  Our plans are being aligned with longer term 
transformation priorities to ensure that change can be achieved that are sustainable 
at a system level.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Healthy Wirral programme will be delivered within the statutory and legal 
frameworks set for health and care in England.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

Page 87



4

6.1 These are being considered within the Healthy Wirral programme and provided by 
the participant organisations.  

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The strategy describes our ambitions to deliver the vision and aims of the Healthy 
Wirral Programme.  Notwithstanding the good progress made in establishing 
programme structure, governance and oversight the risk level relates to the 
significant financial challenge the system continues to face and managing the 
complexities of aligning diverse partners in the delivery of the key priorities

7.2 These risks are mitigated through the well-established leadership and governance 
framework of the Healthy Wirral partnership, and an agreed programme 
management approach which will ensure that the system holds itself to account for 
the delivery of strategic milestones. 

7.3 The Healthy Wirral Partners Board has developed a Board Assurance Framework 
that will identify the principles risks to the delivery of the strategic programme aims 
and how these will be mitigated. The most significant risks are a further 
deterioration of the financial position of the Wirral health and care economy and of 
associated clinical and performance standards.  These can only be mitigated by the 
adoption of an “acting as one” approach to sustainability planning.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Engagement and consultation is taking place the both familiarise Wirral Partners 
and local people with the concepts of Healthy Wirral, and how local plans for Health 
and Care will align with National requirements, including the NHS Long Term Plan.  
A number of specific engagement approaches are being undertaken to provide 
opportunities to contribute to the identification and shaping of the strategic priorities.  
These include:
 Engagement with Health and Care Staff across Wirral through a survey process 

which is to be followed up with some specific engagement sessions
 Workshop sessions with third sector partners brokered through Community 

Action Wirral 
 Engagement with the NHS Wirral CCG Patient and Public Advisory Group
 Workshop session with Wirral Health and Care Commissioning Staff
 Engagement presentations at the Wirral Bridge Forum
 Public Roadshow sessions arranged in partnership with Healthwatch Wirral

8.2 Communications and Engagement is a key enabling work stream for the 
programme and a communications and engagement plan is in place.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Healthy Wirral programme will give due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity, 
and to foster good relations between people and who share a protected 
characteristic (as cited under the Equality Act 2010) and those who do not share it.  
The Healthy Wirral programme will also give regard to the need to reduce 

Page 88



5

inequalities between patients in access to, and outcomes from health and care 
services and to ensure services are provided in an integrated ways where this might 
reduce health inequalities. 

9.2 In terms of the potential impact of the proposals set out within the strategy the 
delivery vehicle will be through the Healthy Wirral programme infrastructure.  This 
comprises a wide range of delivery projects and governance structures have been 
put in place for the programme which requires the work streams to individually 
review their equality, quality and privacy impact assessments.

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Eyre 
Healthy Wirral Programme Manager
telephone:  (0151) 651 0011 ext 401169
email:  Julian.eyre@nhs.net

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - Draft Healthy Wirral 5 Year Strategy 

REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Joint Strategic Commissioning Board

Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019
12 November 2019

17 July 2019
03 September 2019

Page 89

mailto:Julian.eyre@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 | P a g e  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Healthy Wirral Place Programme 

 

Our Vision for Wirral 2019-2024 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

‘Our vision is to enable all people in 

Wirral to live longer and healthier lives by 

taking simple steps of their own to 

improve their health and wellbeing. By 

achieving this together we can provide 

the very best health and social care 

services when people really need them, 

as close to home as possible’. 

 

Page 92



 

3 | P a g e  
 

Contents 

 

01 Foreword 4 

02 Introduction 7 

03 Wirral Place  9 

04 Healthy Wirral: Wirral’s Integrated Health and Care System 10 

05 Why do we need change? 12 

06 Our approach to improving health and wellbeing 15 

07 Working in partnership to make Wirral a healthier place to live 17 

08 Our Key Goals for delivering a Healthy Wirral 21 

09 The NHS Long Term Plan and what it means for Wirral 41 

10 Using taxpayers money wisely 44 

11 Outcomes and Conclusions 46 

12 Appendices 

 Appendix 1: Our Operational Plan for 2019-20 

 Appendix 2:  Our Delivery Plans for 2020-2024 

47 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Foreword 

We are delighted to present our Vision and priorities for Healthy Wirral. This 

represents a significant development in our partnership to deliver better health and 

care through a place based approach on Wirral.  We can only achieve this through 

the support and efforts of all our partners across the Wirral.   

 

Wirral continues to face significant challenges but also has great opportunities and 

we are confident that the progress we have seen in the last year will continue and 

allow us to work with our communities and staff to build a Healthy Wirral. Delivering 

successful change across Wirral is entirely dependent on all of our partners working 

together.  The Healthy Wirral programme continues to build partnerships with people 

and organisations that are focused on improving health and wellbeing for Wirral 

People. 

 

The Healthy Wirral partnership is an alliance of partners working together to achieve 

sustainable improvements in the health and wellbeing of the people of Wirral. 

2018/19 has been a year of consolidation of our partnerships and building our future 

plans. 2019/20 and beyond will see the delivery of these plans through our long term 

strategy which will be developed from this vision.  

 

 

     

Simon Banks         David Eva    

Healthy Wirral       Healthy Wirral 

Senior Responsible Officer    Independent Chair 

Chief Officer NHS Wirral  

Clinical Commissioning Group    

Page 94



 

5 | P a g e  
 

     

Janelle Holmes     Sheena Cumiskey 

Chief Executive     Chief Executive 

Wirral University Teaching Hospitals  Cheshire & Wirral Partnership        

NHS Trust      NHS Trust 

      

Karen Howell      Boo Stone 

Chief Executive     Head of Service 

Wirral Community Health & Care NHS Trust Community Action Wirral 

 

     

Dr Abhi Mantgani    Natalie Young-Calvert 

Executive Director    Chief Officer 

Wirral GP Federation (GPW-Fed)  Primary Care Wirral GP Federation 

 

Page 95



 

6 | P a g e  
 

         

Graham Hodkinson    Chris Jones 

Director of Health and Care   Chair of Health & Wellbeing Board 

Wirral Council        

Wirral Health and Care Commissioning    

  

     

Karen Prior     Julie Webster 

Chief Officer     Director for Health and Wellbeing 

Wirral Healthwatch    Wirral Council     

      Wirral Health and Care Commissioning 

  

Page 96



 

7 | P a g e  
 

Introduction 

Delivering real change for Wirral people requires our services and communities to 

work more closely together in natural communities or ‘Place’.  In order to do this 

those organisations that plan and deliver services should establish place-based 

approaches in which they take joint responsibility to work with each other and with 

Wirral people to improve health and care for all citizens. This requires our 

organisations to collaborate to manage the common resources available to them; 

making the best of each ‘Wirral Pound’. To do this effectively requires us to 

understand deeply the characteristics of our community and population if we are to 

focus our resources on the right things, and deliver long term, and sustainable health 

and wellbeing improvements. 

To help us to achieve this, key Wirral partners including our local health and care 

organisations, general practices and third sector representatives along with Wirral 

Council have formed the Healthy Wirral partnership and we will be working with 

our staff and the public to make our local health and care services better and 

sustainable. We have already integrated our commissioning functions across health, 

social care and public health.  This means that our planning will be more joined up 

and will work better.   

We are developing our Healthy Wirral Plan for the next 5 years in order to focus our 

resources and energies on the right priorities.  These will be based on our local 

assessments of population health and need, and on understanding how well we 

perform against agreed best practice. We recognise how important it is that we 

carefully consider what we need to do and engage the people of Wirral in seeking 

their views and opinions so that the plan reflects the key priorities for Wirral and 

guides how we will go about doing our work. 

We do know that in the future more services will be organised locally and people will 

supported better by a range of professionals, some of which will be new such as 

Social Prescribers and Physicians Assistants. We also want to ensure that we are 

working more effectively with voluntary organisations and groups to help people stay 

healthy and active in their local communities. 

Place Based Care in Wirral has taken significant steps in 2018 with the formation of 

Wirral neighbourhoods. Wirral has been divided into nine neighbourhoods, all with a 

population of communities between 30-50,000 people.  We have started to use the 

information we have to determine what the people in these neighbourhoods need, 

and work with local teams and organisations providing services and support in these 

areas including public, private and voluntary sector organisations.  The recent 

introduction of Primary Care Networks as part of the NHS Long Term Plan 

complements our neighbourhood approach, recognising the importance of the role 

that General Practitioners and primary care staff play in local communities. 

Page 97



 

8 | P a g e  
 

 

The Healthy Wirral Partners are committed to engaging the people of Wirral as we 

move forward with our plans.  We will continue to identify opportunities for Wirral 

people to give their views and get involved in shaping their local health and care 

services. 

  

Page 98



 

9 | P a g e  
 

Wirral Place 

Wirral is a borough of contrasts, both in its physical characteristics and 

demographics. Rural areas and urban and industrialised areas sit side by side in a 

compact peninsula of just 60 square miles and 24 miles of coastline. Wirral has 

many strengths which includes a growing economy and being strategically placed to 

take advantage of its role within the Liverpool City Region and the Northern 

Powerhouse. It has a proven record of supporting businesses and has a dynamic 

small business economy coupled with a strong visitor economy.  

There is a strong contrast between the highly urbanised areas in the east, which 

contain some of the poorest communities in England and the wealthier commuter 

settlements in the west which benefit from a high quality natural environment. Life 

expectancy varies by around 10 years between wards in the East and West of 

Wirral, reflecting the large inequalities which are apparent in the Borough. 

Wirral Place Facts:  

- Population: 322,796 - one of the largest metropolitan boroughs in England. 

- 24 miles of coastline and just over half the land area of the Wirral is open 

countryside. Over 60 percent of which is used for farming.   

- Wirral has more Green Flag parks and green spaces (27 in total) than any 

other local authority in the North West. 

- Wirral has the highest rate of employment (74.8%) in the Liverpool city region 

(LCR) and is above that of the North West (73.5%) and only slightly lower 

than National average (75.0%). 

- Over 7,400 businesses providing employment for 116,000 people 

- Health is Wirral’s largest employment sector; employing 24.3% of the entire 

workforce,  

- Unemployment rates in the East of the Borough (Birkenhead and Wallasey 

constituencies) are higher than for the North West and England  

- There are over 1,500 voluntary, community and faith sector organisations in 

Wirral 

- A total of 152,540 homes of which 15.2% (23,183) were affordable / social 

homes 

- GCSE attainment is above the North West and England average. 

- 32% of the Wirral population live in the 20% most deprived areas in England 

- 19% of children (aged 0-15) live in poverty in Wirral (with rates much higher in 

the East of the Borough). 

- Wirral has an older population when compared to England as a whole. 1 in 3 

people aged over 65 (over 20,000 people) live alone in Wirral 

- 1 in 8 households are defined as being in fuel poverty and over a quarter of 

households have no access to a car 

- 833 children under the care of the local authority (looked after children). A 

much higher rate than for England.  

Not sure if 

this list can 

be made 

into an 

infographic/ 

more 

interesting 

by the CSU? 

Page 99



 

10 | P a g e  
 

Healthy Wirral: Wirral’s Integrated Health and Care System 

Our commitment to align our priorities and plans is enshrined within the health and 

wellbeing partnership referred to as Healthy Wirral which brings together our 

strategic planning into a single, place based narrative as a “Golden Thread” for the 

Wirral health and social care system and for local people.  

The Healthy Wirral Partnership is made up of the following organisations working 

together and on behalf of Wirral communities: 

 Wirral Community Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust  

 NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group  

 Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  

 Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  

 Wirral Borough Council  

 Primary Care Wirral Federation  

 Wirral GP Federation (GPW-Fed Ltd) 

 Clatterbridge Cancer Centre 

 Community Action Wirral 

 Healthwatch Wirral 

Healthy Wirral partners recognise that it will only be through collective, actions as an 

integrated care system that we will deliver the best health and wellbeing outcomes 

for Wirral people.  In order to meet our mission of ‘Better health and wellbeing in 

Wirral by working together’ Healthy Wirral partners have agreed a broad vision which 

is:  

 

‘To enable all people in Wirral to live longer and healthier lives by taking simple steps 

of their own to improve their health and wellbeing. By achieving this together we can 

provide the very best health and social care services when people really need them, 

as close to home as possible’.  

This vision stresses the importance of preventing ill health and our people being in 

the right place at the right time. Recognising also the need to live within our means 

as a system, we also aim to maximise the value of the Wirral pound, by ensuring that 

this is invested in place based care that will deliver quality outcomes for Wirral 

people. 

This reflects our partners’ commitment to work together collaboratively to achieve a 

healthy and sustainable future for Wirral through adopting the following principles: 

1. Acting As One – exemplified in our  actions and behaviours; focused on 

delivering benefits by putting the whole system first 

2. Improving population health – delivering the Healthy Wirral outcomes around 

better care and better health using a place-based approach. 

Page 100



 

11 | P a g e  
 

3. Clinical sustainability – ensuring sustainable, high quality, appropriately staffed 

services, that are not affected by boundaries between organisations 

4. Financial sustainability – managing with our budgets, delivering efficiency and 

better value. 

 

Healthy Wirral partners have committed to working towards acting as one in the 

interests of delivering the best outcomes for Wirral people and commits to the 

following principles:  

 We will agree the most important outcomes to achieve, based on a clear 

understanding of our population’s health. 

 We will ensure that we commission the integrated provision of services for our 

population which best delivers these outcomes. 

 Our Providers commit to respond collectively; sharing financial risk and 

reducing inefficiency to ensure they achieve agreed standards of clinical 

quality and performance. 

 We will work to achieve sound financial control and the effective use of 

resources for the benefit of Wirral people. 

 We will ensure there is public value to every investment made, in terms of 

better health, better care and better value. 

 We will operate an open and transparent approach to all our financial 

transactions 

 We will view a failure of performance in any one area as a failure for the 

system and therefore of all partners. 

 

  

Page 101



 

12 | P a g e  
 

Why do we need to change? 

Many people in Wirral are living longer healthier lives. However, considerable 

challenges remain. Wirral lags behind other areas of the country on some key health 

outcomes and not all communities have benefited from the same rates of 

improvement to their health and wellbeing. We need to change: 

 To improve health and wellbeing outcomes 

As shown in the picture below Wirral performs worse than England for some key 

health and wellbeing outcomes including smoking in pregnancy, admissions to 

hospital due to alcohol, preventable deaths from cancer and respiratory disease, and 

injuries due to falls. 

 

 To reduce avoidable inequalities in health 

Although life expectancy has increased steadily over the past 20 years, recently 

improvements in life expectancy have stalled, and while people are living longer not 

all these years are lived in good health. This means people in Wirral are spending 

less of their lives in good health. In addition, there remain persistent and significant 

differences in how long a person will live and how many years they can expect to live 

in good health depending upon where people are born in Wirral. These differences in 

life expectancy and healthy life expectancy are unjust, unfair and stark.  

Page 102



 

13 | P a g e  
 

 

 Because we know how to support people to live healthy lives 

High quality health and care services are important for keeping people healthy. 

Whilst it is essential that our health and care services are excellent, estimates 

suggest they only make up a fifth of what keeps us healthy. Good health is about 

much more than access to healthcare and we know that the choices we make about 

our diet or whether we exercise, smoke or drink alcohol are affected by a wide range 

of factors. 

The landmark Marmot Review: Fair Society, Healthy Lives outlined the causes of 

health inequalities and the actions required to reduce them. As can be seen in the 

picture below health inequalities are not caused by one single issue, but a complex 

mix of environmental and social factors which play out in a local area, or place - this 

means that local areas have a critical role to play in reducing health inequalities. 

The best way of ensuring healthy behaviors and a long life in good health is to have 

a good start in life, a good education, a warm and loving home, a connected 

community and enough income to meet our needs. 

To put it even more simply, a job, home and friends are the things that matter 

most. 

And because we understand that reducing health inequalities is about jobs that local 

people can get, decent housing and preventing people becoming isolated, it follows 

that we also recognise that places and communities have the most critical role to 

play. 

If we all work together to get this right our neighbourhoods are more productive and 

prosperous, and we support and encourage people to use the NHS less and later in 

life, to stay well for longer, and when unwell to stay in their home for longer, and to 

stay in work for longer.  

Page 103

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf


 

14 | P a g e  
 

The causes of Health inequalities 

 

In order to address our local challenges in Wirral, we recognise we need to move 

away from a health and care system just focused on diagnosing and treating illness 

towards one that is based on promoting wellbeing and preventing ill health. 

  

Page 104



 

15 | P a g e  
 

Our approach to improving health and wellbeing 

We believe that the best way to improve health outcomes for the people of Wirral is 

to take a population health approach, working together in partnership with 

individuals, communities and wider partners to understand in detail the health of our 

population and put together plans to improve health. 

 

Our approach to Understanding and Improving Population Health in Wirral: 

• Recognises health has many complex influences - but that the wider 

determinants of health are the most important driver of health and wellbeing 

(a good start in life, a good education, a warm and loving home, a connected 

community and enough income to meet our needs). 

• Our income and wealth, education, housing, transport and leisure). 

• Has clear focus on health inequalities and tackling causes of inequalities  

• Is driven by health intelligence & evidence  

• Is patient & community focussed using a life course approach  

 

Page 105



 

16 | P a g e  
 

We will use a Population health management approach to helps us understand 

and predict future health and care needs so that we can better target support, make 

better use of resources and reduce health inequalities. 

 

 

 

  

Population Health Management uses data driven insight and 
evidence of best practices to inform targeted interventions to 

improve the health & wellbeing of specific populations & cohorts 

Focuses on the wider determinants of health not just 
health and care 

Uses data to make informed judgements 

Supports resource prioritisation 

Enables us all to work together 

Releases time away from digital for improved patient 
interaction 

Page 106



 

17 | P a g e  
 

Working in partnership to make Wirral a healthier place to live 

Whilst it is essential that our health and care services are providing high quality care, 

they are only one aspect of the many things that contribute to positive health and 

wellbeing. These issues cannot be addressed through the health and care system 

alone it requires working closely with individuals, communities and wider partner 

agencies focussing upon the things that drives our health and that can improve and 

maintain it over time. 

Our partnership with Wirral Council ensures that factors such as housing, education 

and local environments are considered, and we can all work together to support 

people to lead healthier lives. Our aim is that the Healthy Wirral Plan will directly link 

to the wider Wirral Council Plan so that our actions complement and enhance Wirral 

Council’s ambitions around these areas, for example helping to build peoples 

personal resilience through the opportunities that Wirral’s Borough of Culture offer 

around the impact of culture and sport on peoples wellbeing . 

Wirral’s Councils Plan sets out 5 key outcomes that we want to achieve by 2025: 

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and 

achieve their aspirations 

 A cleaner, greener borough which defends and improves our environment 

 Brighter futures for our young people and families –regardless of their 

background or where they live 

 Safe, pleasant and clean communities where people want to live and raise 

their families 

 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active 

lifestyles, with public services there to support them when they need it 

 

Page 107



 

18 | P a g e  
 

  

Working with our local communities 

As well as shaping the physical and lived environment through the Local Plan we are 

working with local people to inform what we do and how we will do it. To do this we 

have set up People’s Panels in each neighbourhood so that what we are doing 

reflects the assets of, and challenges for, local people. By sharing stories and 

evidence in this way we can work together to uncover and address complex issues. 

This builds on our efforts to develop a new relationship between people and public 

services using an Asset Based Community Development (ABCD) approach which 

recognises that communities can drive the development process themselves by 

identifying and mobilising existing, but often unrecognised assets including 

volunteers, and thereby responding to and creating local economic opportunity.  This 

has resulted in the emergence of a now established Community of Practice network 

led by local people and community organisations coming together. It has also 

changed the approach to prevention services and since 2017 the Community 

Connector service has been working with people encouraging and supporting 

behaviour change starting with their strengths and not those issues that 

professionals think need addressing to improve health outcomes.  

The Local Plan 

The Local Plan is a statutory document that sets out the place/planning ambition for 

Wirral and guides decisions on planning applications for local developments. Wirral’s 

Local Plan is currently being updated to reflect the Council’s long-term vision, 

objectives and spatial strategy for the Borough. The Council’s highest corporate priority 

is to produce a quality Local Plan for Wirral which complies fully with all relevant Local 

Plan legislation and national policy. 

The Local Plan will contain policies to guide new housing, business development and 

infrastructure, and to inform decisions that impact on the environment. This plan will 

set out the guidelines for development in Wirral for the next 30 years.  The link 

between the environment and public health is well established and the impact on 

health, both negative and positive, is acknowledged. Supporting the creation of healthy 

communities and environments through good design, active travel and physical activity 

and providing access to facilities and services and high-quality open spaces is key to 

improving the health of Wirral residents and reducing health inequalities. Conversely 

living in poor housing, in a deprived neighbourhood with a lack of access to open 

space impacts negatively on physical and mental health.  

Health inequalities is a significant issue for Wirral and there is a clear geographical 

divide in terms of health outcomes across the population. Ensuring that the Plan 

enables opportunities to address inequalities arising from employment, affordable and 

quality housing and the wider lived environment where people can aspire, thrive and 

become more personally resilient is a key challenge.  

 

Page 108



 

19 | P a g e  
 

A Commitment to Social Value 

The vision for Social Value across Cheshire and Merseyside is that everyone 

recognises their contribution to Social Value, including the changes it can bring 

about to reduce avoidable inequalities and improve health and wellbeing.  Social 

Value is about using the resources and assets we have more strategically, to 

produce a wider benefit. It also requires us to build on the strengths of people and 

communities to enable people to live a valued and dignified life.   

Wirral is committed to this approach and our plan is to involve organisations and 

their workforce including our local industries, and Wirral people in the aim of 

delivering social value and adhering to the principles of the Cheshire and Merseyside 

Social Value charter.   

Supporting our population will include helping them to be proactive in their lifestyle 

choices and consequently changing the relationship with public services to reflect 

this.  Our health and care organisations need to think beyond their organisational 

boundaries towards people and the place that they live.  Our workforce needs to 

think differently in their relationships with local people and with other organisations.   

Our commitment to social value also requires our public sector as ‘Anchor 

Organisations’ to use their purchasing power to build capabilities, strengths and 

assets within our communities, ensuring that Wirral is a great ‘Place’ to live and 

work.  Wirral Health and Care Commissioning (WHCC) will ensure that future 

commissioning activity requires all providers to demonstrate delivery of social value.   

A key theme of Social Value is the promotion of growth and development 

opportunities for all within a community and ensuring that they have access to 

opportunities to develop new skills and gain meaningful employment.  NHS 

organisations are one of the largest employers on Wirral and therefore the 

opportunities are clear for this theme and our NHS employers have been requested 

to support the Wirral Council scheme supporting care leavers into employment. 

Page 109



 

20 | P a g e  
 

  

  

Page 110



 

21 | P a g e  
 

Our Key Goals for delivering a Healthy Wirral 

The work we are undertaking supports the broader national and regional context of 

the NHS Five Year Forward View and the NHS Long term Plan as well as a clear 

commitment to the delivery of Place aligned to Wirral Councils’ Local Plan and 

Industrial Strategy.   

Our aim is to deliver the required change through a comprehensive Healthy Wirral 

Delivery Programme; enabling system-wide collective problem solving and setting 

challenging and innovative transformation programmes. We recognise that achieving 

real and lasting change will require us to ensure our programme is driven by the 

principles of population health, supports our people to have the confidence and 

capability to respond to changes and is focused on the neighbourhoods and 

communities where people live their lives. System partners have committed to 

collectively and collaboratively consider how new models of care can best support 

delivery of our aims. Our transformation programme is summarised in the picture 

below: 

 

We want to ensure that our programmes are clear, focused on delivering better 

outcomes for Wirral people, families and carers and that they complement each 

other.  These programmes will aim to ensure that the changes made result in 

improved health and wellbeing for people living and working in Wirral, and are 

Page 111



 

22 | P a g e  
 

focused on the specific needs of communities and where people live. All of our 

programmes must be informed by comprehensive population health intelligence, 

consider how their priorities link to each other, and focus on place based service 

delivery at local community and neighbourhood level. 

Our Population Health Programme 

We have described our Population Health approach and how we are working in 

partnership to make Wirral a healthier place to live in the sections above.  

 

Our Healthy Wirral Population Health Programme focusses upon upscaling action on 

prevention and reducing health inequalities. This includes: 

 

- Preventing ill health (with a focus upon tobacco 

control, promoting healthy weight, reducing 

harms from alcohol, and CVD prevention) 

- Supporting people with long-term conditions to 

live well 

 

Our local approach is informed by the Cheshire & 

Merseyside population health framework. 

 

It is important to note that Population health is not a 

stand-alone programme but one that informs and cuts 

across all Healthy Wirral Programmes. 

 

Preventing ill health 

 

Tobacco Control: Wirral’s vision is to make smoking 

history for our children. 

 

Smoking remains the single greatest risk factor for poor health and early death in 

Wirral.  Smoking still kills and we cannot say that the job of tobacco control is done 

when one in five deaths each year in Wirral is related to smoking. People in the most 

deprived areas are twice as more likely to smoke.  

 

Smoking Facts: 

 1 in 10 people smoke in Wirral (30,488) 

 The annual cost to the wider society is £77.7 million 

 1 in 8 pregnant women smoke at the time of delivery 

 1 in 4 young people get offered illegal tobacco  

 

Wirral will continue to work in a systematic approach to: 

Page 112



 

23 | P a g e  
 

 Reduce the number of people who smoke in the borough with a focus on the 

most vulnerable groups  

 Support our local NHS trusts in developing smoke free policies and offering 

in-patients support to quit 

 Reduce the number of women who continue to smoke during pregnancy 

through introducing a smoke-free pregnancy pathway 

 Reduce and prevent the uptake of smoking among young people including 

working with Trading Standards to reduce illicit tobacco and underage sales. 

 

Promoting a healthy weight 

Obesity is one of the most serious health challenges of the 21st century – it is a 

complex issue with several different but often interlinked causes. No single measure 

is likely to be effective on its own in tackling obesity it requires action across 

agencies, sectors and with local people.  Local environments in which people live, 

play, and work often encourage excess calorie consumption and inactive lifestyles. 

Achieving a healthy weight is not just the responsibility of the individual, and to make 

a difference at a population level we will require a collaborative approach that 

creates system wide change. 

A range of actions need to be put in place to tackle these environmental causes of 

obesity. This can be done with local authority department (including planning, 

transport, environmental services and economic regeneration), local businesses, 

NHS estates and other stakeholders 

In Wirral we will be promoting a whole systems approach to obesity, this includes: 

 Adopting a ‘Health in All Policies’1 approach. 

 Working with local communities and elected members to identify actions that 

need to be put in place in relation to active travel, town planning, transport, 

economic regeneration.  

 

Reducing Alcohol Harm  

 

Alcohol misuse is a major cause of avoidable morbidity and mortality within Wirral.  It 

is linked to over 200 medical conditions and is a major cause of avoidable hospital 

admissions and premature death.  Alcohol also causes significant harm to local 

communities through anti-social behaviour and violence.  

The NHS Long Term Plan focussed on strengthening alcohol prevention across the 

NHS, with a particular focus on acute trusts and partners. There is a range of activity 

                                                           
1
 Health in All Policies (HiAP) is an approach to policies that systematically and explicitly takes into account the 

health implications of the decisions made; targets the key social determinants of health; looks for synergies 
between health and other core objectives of Councils and the work we do with partners; and tries to avoid 
causing harm with the aim of improving the health of the population and reducing inequity. 

Page 113



 

24 | P a g e  
 

that is planned to scale up action on alcohol across Cheshire and Merseyside, which 

Wirral will be part of. Activity to reduce alcohol harm in Wirral includes;  

 Ensuring we deliver services according to an evidenced based alcohol care 

pathway  

 Creation of an alcohol dashboard to monitor action on alcohol prevention  

 Development and implementation of minimum competencies for alcohol care 

teams & development of training offer 

 Upscaling of alcohol identification and brief advice (IBA) activities  

 Insight and engagement work on alcohol minimum unit pricing 

 Delivering the Reduce the strength programme to limit sales of high strength, 

cheap alcohol. 

 Working with licensing and community safety to reduce the impact alcohol has 

on our local communities 

 

Preventing cardiovascular disease (CVD) 

 

Over the last few decades, great strides have been taken in reducing premature 

deaths due to CVD in Wirral. However, the problem still remains a significant cause 

of disability, death and health inequalities. 

 

In order to prevent cardiovascular disease in Wirral we will: 

 Promote and improve uptake of the NHS Health Check Programme  

 Improve the detection and treatment of the high-risk conditions of Atrial 

Fibrillation, hypertension (high BP) and high cholesterol 

 Support the implementation and ongoing enhancement of the NHS Diabetes  

Prevention Programme 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

25 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Supporting people with long-term conditions to live well  

In Wirral we aim to support people with long-term condition to develop the 

knowledge, skills and confidence they need to more effectively manage and make 

informed decisions about their own health and health care and live more 

independently. 

We will support people to do this by: 

 Implementing the Comprehensive Model of Personalised Care, which fully 

embeds the six standard components – shared decision making; personalised 

care and support planning; enabling choice; social prescribing and community 

based support; supported self-management; and personal health budgets and 

integrated personal budgets – across the NHS and the wider health and care 

system. 

 Working collaboratively with our Primary Care Networks and the community 

and voluntary sector to recruit additional social prescribing link workers to 

enable more people to be able to be referred to social prescribing schemes. 

Blood Pressure  

  

High Blood pressure is Cheshire and Merseyside’s most common condition and risk factor 

for Cardiovascular Disease (CVD). Healthy Wirral supports the delivery and ambition of 

Cheshire and Merseyside’s strategy; Saving lives: Reducing the pressure.  

Wirral will continue to take a systems approach to the prevention, detection and 

management of blood pressure. This includes;  

 Implementation of the BEACON pilot recommendations,  

 Continued promotion to encourage high uptake of CVD health checks; 

 Community testing and engagement for example training up workplace champions 

and promotion of the Happy Hearts website and campaigns such as Know your 

Numbers.  

 

Page 115



 

26 | P a g e  
 

Social prescribing link workers connect people to wider community support 

which that can help improve their health and well-being and to engage and 

deal with some of their underlying causes of ill health.  

 Ensuring approaches such as health coaching, peer support and self-

management education are systematically put in place to help people build 

knowledge, skills and confidence.  

 We will utilise digital technology to support people to self-care for example 

through the Best You App 

 Supporting health and care staff to have coaching conversations focussed 

upon what matters to that person and their individual strengths and needs. 

We will link this to Making Every Contact Count (MECC) a behaviour change 

approach that can drive a culture shift towards prevention addressing lifestyle 

behaviours and includes conversations relating to the wider determinants of 

health such as debt management, housing and welfare rights advice and 

directing people to services that can provide support.  

 

 

Our People 

The overall vision and aim of the Healthy Wirral People Programme is to ensure Healthy 

Wirral has the people capability (capacity, competence and confidence) required to meet 

local population needs delivered through person-centred care. 

The programme is intentionally called a “people” and not “workforce” programme as it 

recognises that the capability (capacity, competence and confidence) required to improve 

people’s lives runs within and across communities and is not just contained within the 

“workforce” of statutory organisations such as the NHS. If the health and care needs of the 

people of Wirral are to be met then the full capability contained within all people should be 

unlocked. 

 

Page 116



 

27 | P a g e  
 

The People Programme is specifically focused on responding to and helping to shape the 

requirements for developing Wirral place, and has also taken into account the NHS Interim 

People Plan and the Workforce Strategy 2019-2024 for Cheshire and Merseyside 

Healthcare Partnership in that it seeks to support and deliver the priorities contained within 

those documents in a way that is sensitive to the local Wirral context. 

These priorities can be summarised as follows: 

 Making the NHS the best place to work 

 Improving our leadership culture 

 Addressing urgent workforce shortages in nursing 

 Delivering 21st century care 

 A new operating model 

Within this framework we have engaged with a wide range of stakeholders across Wirral 

over the past six months to identify the specific people challenges within and across 

organisations and sectors. This led to a Wirral-specific set of priorities, which are focused on 

the following themes: 

1. Aligning Capability – Identify and develop the people capability required to meet 

local needs within Neighbourhoods 

2. Leadership Capability - Support the development of leadership capability within each 

neighbourhood and Healthy Wirral senior system leaders. 

3. Conversational Capability - Develop the capability (capacity, competence and 

confidence which leads to trusting relationships across all organisations centred on a 

common-purpose. 

4. Attract, Develop and Retain Capability within the Healthy Wirral System – This 

covers a number of areas namely: 

a) Develop a Wirral approach to career progression 

b) Develop a Wirral Apprenticeship(s)     

c) Develop a Wirral approach to the identification of (and training for) new 

roles.  

d) Develop a Wirral approach to workforce modelling which focuses on 

knowledge, skills and behaviours and new roles     

e) Develop a Healthy Wirral approach to recruitment and 

retention.                                                                     

5. Wellbeing - Develop a Wirral approach to improving the wellbeing of those who work 

or volunteer for health and care providers. 

Each of these priorities will be addressed through working groups made up of 

representatives from a range of sectors across the Wirral. These groups will continue to 

refine what can be delivered over the next 5 years and beyond. 

Page 117



 

28 | P a g e  
 

Our Neighbourhoods: Improving Health and wellbeing where you live 

 

Our Vision is that the Neighbourhood programme will be at the heart of improving 

health and wellbeing in Wirral. Wirral partners are committed to establishing true 

place based working building on the existing Wirral Neighbourhood Place model. We 

believe that by working  together we will provide effective support, as close to 

people’s homes as possible, delivered by the right person at the right time.  We will 

work across the public sector and with the voluntary and community sector to 

support people to better manage their own health effectively in their local 

neighbourhoods. 

 

Much has already been achieved at a place level to-date with a focus on the 

development of integrated teams and building strong relationships with Primary Care 

partners. Our initial focus on supporting better outcomes for frail people has seen a 

significant reduction in unnecessary hospital admissions for people aged over 65. 

 

There are many positive examples of practical changes on the ground which has 

directly led to improved services for local people. These include: 

 The development of service guides for Health and Care professionals in order 

to provide a better understanding of local support and services. 

 Building strong relationships, integrated working and communication between 

teams delivering local services including third sector and Health partners. 

 Local educational events to improve the support for local people living with 

long term conditions. 

 Developing integrated Social Prescribing roles in local teams to respond to 

local needs. 

 

The introduction of Primary Care Networks (PCN’s) sets out how G.P practices will 

work together to improve the health of their populations through  greater provision of 

personalised and integrated health and social care. In July 2019 the 51 GP practices 

in Wirral established 5 Primary Care Networks, comprising 7 delivery units. This has 

provided an opportunity to reaffirm Wirral’s place based model of which General 

Practice and Primary Care services are a fundamental part. Wirral’s place model will 

also harness the energy and input of the wider community to tackle the wider 

determinates of health through their understanding of local needs, and through 

creating strong and resilient communities. 

 

Our programme to deliver these changes will be further optimised to support the 

development of Neighbourhoods. This will be driven by our local priorities in Wirral 

which are well aligned with national and regional priorities. The development and 

strengthening of our third sector as key partners is a fundamental priority for this 

Page 118



 

29 | P a g e  
 

programme, as is collaborative working and engagement with our system together 

with strong clinical leadership. 

 

This new approach will establish strong links with the wider Healthy Wirral   and 

Health and Care system programmes, including digitally enabled primary care, 

outpatient care and giving people greater control over their own health and 

wellbeing. 

 

Our local Neighbourhoods and associated networks are seen as the cornerstone of 

the Healthy Wirral programme and fundamental to the future of responsive, 

population health focused care, delivered close to home wherever possible and 

appropriate. Our streams of work have been focused on providing a clear and easy 

to navigate approach that interacts and links with all our partners to locally provide 

the best care outcomes  

 

Our intention is to offer a local service, tailored to the needs of the local population 

which means: 

 Population health issues are identified by detailed neighbourhood intelligence 

and data 

 Existing strong local relationships with communities, statutory and third sector 

partners are supported to grow and flourish 

 Neighbourhood priorities feed into a neighbourhood delivery plan that all 

partners recognise and support 

 We help individuals and their families and carers within neighbourhoods to 

manage their own health effectively with the right support as, when and where 

they need it. 

 Through intelligence driven action and mobilisation of communities, there is a 

measurable improvement in population health 

 We drive up the quality and consistency of care, improve safety and patient 

experience, driven by a culture of continuous improvement 

 

Children and Families 

 

The vision of the Wirral Children, Young People and Families Partnership is to ‘Make 

Wirral Great for Children, Young People and Families’ by:  

 Empowering and supporting families and communities to raise healthy and 

resilient children and young people  

 Delivering action that reduces the potential of risk or harm to our children, with 

particular emphasis on the most vulnerable families  

 Ensuring children, young people and their families have access to the right help 

and support at the right time, in the right place  

Page 119



 

30 | P a g e  
 

 Reducing the need for children being looked after. For those that do require this, 

ensuring they are better off as a result of being in care  

 Raising aspirations, celebrating achievement and improving attainment for all 

children and young people to reach their full potential  

 Providing children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

access to opportunity to positively contribute to the wider community and support 

their transition into adulthood  

 Through the wider Wirral Partnership, improving living conditions for local families 

through better employment, housing, transport, leisure, environment and safer 

neighbourhoods  

 

The Healthy Wirral Programme has a major part to play in helping to ensure the 

above objectives are achieved. More specifically over the next five years, the 

programme will contribute to the wider partnership objectives for Children, Young 

People and Families by:  

 Ensuring the delivery of an effective and locally integrated Healthy Child 

Programme  

 Ensuring the delivery of a safe and effective Childhood Immunisation Programme 

 Redesigning the Early Help and Prevention offer to vulnerable families (in 

partnership with the Local Authority), committing to a focus of resources where 

the need is greatest  

 Reviewing and developing maternity peri-natal and post-natal care services to 

ensure women have choices about their care, have access to better information, 

have better continuity of care and are supported to make good lifestyle choices 

during pregnancy  

 Agreeing a community ‘deal’ with children, young people and families, where 

each is clear where responsibilities lie for health and wellbeing 

 Improving the mental health support offer to children, young people and families 

 Developing better and more integrated care options within the community for 

children and young people with complex needs, so that they do not become 

hospital inpatients 

 Training and Empowering frontline staff to work in a ‘trauma-informed’ way, 

seeking ways to break the cycle of adverse childhood experiences amongst 

vulnerable families 

 

Planned Care  

Planned Care  

For planned care the overarching principle and purpose is to improve the pathways of care 

for people living with long term conditions and to have a more proactive approach towards 

the prevention of ill health including advice guidance, and supporting self-care.  In line with 

Page 120



 

31 | P a g e  
 

the strategy for place based care on Wirral, our aim is to move care out of the hospital and 

into the community and place wherever this is appropriate. 

Our planned care goals are closely linked to the core aims of Healthy Wirral focused on 

improving people’s involvement in and ownership of their own health and care.  These goals 

are also linked with the development and enablement of our neighbourhoods to tackle the 

wider determinants of health.  The transformation of planned care includes involvement of all 

our stakeholders and providers across the entire pathway of care.  The involvement of an 

individual and their friends and family is key to how services will be delivered; the focus will 

be about care wrapped around the person.  The use of technology and IT in promoting self-

care will be integral to our approach and more patients will be able to access, and input, 

information regarding their health using technology  

Following significant work with Healthy Wirral system partners and consulting with expert 

colleagues on what our health intelligence tells us, a number of priorities for intervention 

have been identified linked to those areas where Wirral is not performing as well as 

comparable places. The priority areas also reflect the ambitions set out in the NHS Long 

Term plan.   Project teams have been established with key clinical leads, commissioners and 

provider leads to establish transformation programmes across entire pathways in each of the 

following areas for: 

 Respiratory  conditions 

 Cardio Vascular Disease  

 Gastro-intestinal conditions 

 

This work will incorporate the implementation of the registries within the Wirral Care Record 

and will utilise the opportunities identified in the national Elective Care Handbooks published 

by NHS England.  As part of this a focus of the transformation will be on prevention and 

working on reducing the long term risk for Wirral people of living more years in ill health due 

to long term conditions.   

 

Healthy Wirral will continue to work on the priority areas of Cheshire and Merseyside Health 

and Care Partnership which are aligned to our priority areas.  This will include further 

development of a number of pathways including: 

 Stroke,  

 End of life care 

 Chronic kidney disease 

 Diabetes 

 Ophthalmology  

Improvements in our cancer pathways will be linked to the work of the Cheshire and 

Merseyside Cancer Alliance and their five year plan. Our priority will be tackling local 

variation in cancer prevalence and treatment.  The focus will be on prevention, increasing 

cancer screening uptake, and early diagnosis to enable treatment commencement without 

delay.  

In line with the ambition of the NHS Long Term Plan and through reviewing the health 

intelligence about Wirral services we have identified outpatient redesign as a key strategic 

priority. Our work will be focused on our hospital getting the basics right and implementing 

Page 121



 

32 | P a g e  
 

new ways of working such as advice and guidance. The aim will be to ensure that people are 

only asked to attend the hospital in person for an outpatient appointment when absolutely 

necessary.  The increased use of technology will be key to improving outpatient services.  

We will also identify opportunities to move more services out of the hospital and into the 

community wherever this is possible. In future years the focus of work will explore services 

that could be better provided within the community and development and implementation of 

a model of care for long term conditions, including dermatology, gynaecology, cardiology 

and diabetes. 

   

 

Unplanned Care 

Our vision for Wirral’s unplanned care services is for a responsive, reliable and efficient 

system that fulfils the following key principles: 

o Standardised and simple access 

o Services that take into account physical, mental, social and wellbeing needs 

of the person and where possible, involve their family and friends at every 

step of treatment 

o Convenience and delivery closer to home wherever possible 

o Achieving the 4-hour waiting standard for Emergency Department (ED) 

o Staff have the right information about their patients, and patients have the 

right information about their care options 

o All Health and Care partners working together  

o Services that Wirral people are proud of and staff are proud to be a part of 

Our priorities that we would aim to deliver over the next five years will be centred on three 

key ambitions: 

 Supporting people to remain in their own homes and communities wherever possible 

and prevent unnecessary admissions to hospital or attendance at A&E 

 Ensuring responsive and appropriate care is available when people have a need for 

urgent or emergency care.  Focusing support on ensuring people do not have to 

remain in hospital any longer than they need to. 

  Ensuring people receive appropriate and timely discharge from hospital to their 

home or home-like environment 

We have identified a number of priorities that we would wish to deliver over the next 5 years 

to meet these ambitions and achieve our vision. Changes to services and pathways will be 

clinically led with involvement from across Wirral.  These priorities to delivery our ambitions 

include: 

 Ensuring that services are delivered as close to where people are when this is 

possible and that people are aware of the services available. This is making the best 

use of the resources we have to ensure we have the right services to provide the 

care needed in the right place at the right time, and wherever possible to avoid the 

need of admission to hospital through the provision of effective alternatives within the 

community and neighbourhoods, and empowering people to ‘choose well’ to access 

the right care for their needs.   

 

Page 122



 

33 | P a g e  
 

 Enabling people to be supported to stay at home by the completion of the 

transformational changes to establish an enhanced Single Point of Access (SPA).  

This will support rapid access from the community to hospital and community 

services, mental health, physical health, social care and voluntary sector services. 

 Develop the Urgent Treatment Centre and as a result improve the experience of 

people attending the Arrowe Park Site for urgent health care. 

 Improve and maintain ambulance handover and turnaround times and eliminate 

corridor waits within our A&E department. 

 Establish an Acute Frailty Service to reduce avoidable admissions for frail and elderly 

people; delivering comprehensive geriatric assessments in A and E and assessment 

units. 

 Eliminate undue long hospital stays for people by ensuring that the right decisions 

are made and the right services are available to support people to return home or 

close to home as quickly and safely as possible 

 Improving the 7 day home first pathway and community model to meet system 

requirements, optimising the opportunity for people to regain their independence in or 

near to their own homes 

 Develop a system for integrated capacity tracking across the whole system to allow 

us to fully understand and plan our urgent care services across all care sectors 

 

 

Mental Health 

Our vision is to establish an integrated Mental Health service with seamless patient 

pathways, aligning primary and secondary mental health services and integrated 

with community level interventions including social prescribing and with wider 

partners such as the police and voluntary services, in order to support Wirral people 

to live their own lives well.  

 

Our priorities that we would aim to deliver over the next five years will include 

 Review and develop specialist perinatal mental health care to ensure 

increased access for women from pre conception to 24 months post birth and 

offer an assessment to partners of women accessing specialist care to enable 

support and signposting as required. In partnership with Insight Concern we 

are looking to develop a pilot of maternity outreach clinic to combine 

maternity, reproductive health and psychological therapies for women 

experiencing mental health difficulties. 

 Ensure our planning for Children and Young People’s mental health is aligned 

with wider plans for Children and Families including special educational needs 

and disability (SEND).  This will include improving the access to wider NHS 

funded services through the Children and Young People pathway launch and 

a wider communication campaign. Pilot and implement joint working with adult 

liaison and street triage service to widen access for Children and Young 

Peoples crisis care. Ensure continued good standards of assessment and 

Page 123



 

34 | P a g e  
 

treatment for eating disorders.   Consider national and STP guidance re the 

implementation and alignment of services for 0-25 and develop project scope 

for implementation.  

 Ensure delivery of referral treatment times and recovery targets through the 

development of our ‘Talking Together, Live Well Wirral’ services including 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT), and particularly review 

access to services for older adults. Fully implement Long Term Condition 

IAPT pathways in at least 4 condition pathways 

 Consider wider community integration for Personality Disorder, Mental Health 

rehabilitation and eating disorder services with primary care; evaluating the 

learning from adult severe mental illness (SMI). Implement the 

recommendations from the physical health and mental health task and finish 

group to deliver an integrated care model in line with the neighbourhoods, 

initially focusing on SMI. 

 Implement the enhanced Mental Health Crisis Resolution Home Treatment 

(CRHT) service for adults 

 Ensure therapeutic acute mental health inpatient care remains appropriate to 

meet demand 

 Continue to support the progress of the Wirral Suicide reduction programme, 

and improvements to suicide bereavement support, considering any wider 

Cheshire and Merseyside benefits. 

 Ensure services are effective to provide Problem Gambling mental health 

support including early help and prevention approaches with children, young 

people and families 

 Review the provision of mental and emotional health services for homeless 

people across Primary Care, Mental Health and Public health contracts and 

explore further specialist provision for rough sleepers 

 

Learning Disabilities and Autism 

Our vision is that through transformation of our all age learning disability programme 

we will deliver positive outcomes for Wirral residents through a preventative model 

which supports independence and prevents unnecessary care admissions. These 

intentions strive to enable people to live longer and healthier lives and ensure 

effective and efficient use of the financial resources available. 

Our priorities that we would aim to deliver over the next five years will include 

                                                                                        

 Enhance community services in order to support people with Learning 

disabilities and or Autism to be able to live in the community and have a real 

alternative to hospital, thus preventing unnecessary admissions and facilitate 

timely and safe discharges. 

 Further work to progress the ‘Stopping Over Medication of People with a 

learning disability and /or autism’ (STOMP) and Supporting Treatment and 

Page 124



 

35 | P a g e  
 

Appropriate Medication in Paediatrics (STAMP) agenda with a focus on a 

stronger start for children and young people in line with NHS Long Term Plan 

recommendations. 

 Ensure that we deliver the expectations of the Transforming Care Programme 

including:  

o Commitment to reducing the number of inpatient beds by increasing 

the availability of community-based support. 

o Bringing people back from out of area 

o Increase in annual health checks & increase screening rates 

o Delivering intensive support function of the community learning 

disability teams, adult & children 

 We will continue to improve care for those with Learning Disabilities by 

learning from lived experience as well as from Learning Disability Mortality 

Reviews (LeDeR). These reviews will always be undertaken within six months 

of the notification of death and all reviews will be analysed to address the 

themes identified with recommendations being reported through a local 

LeDeR report. 

 Commissioning and delivering post diagnostic autism services 

 Ensure community services are robust and can provide the right care at the 

right time in the right environment in order to increase people’s ability to 

remain in the community and increase self-management and independence 

where possible. 

 Reduced admissions and facilitate timely discharges so that there is less 

reliance on inpatient facilities and ensure that nobody loses one day in the 

community than is necessary for their good health and well-being. We will 

look at the feasibility of establishing crisis and recovery housing as an 

alternative to hospital admission or when home care isn’t appropriate 

 Continuation of research to ensure that there is a range of technology to 

support people to maintain their independence and be supported in the 

community 

 Increasing Annual Health Checks and screening to improve the physical 

health and wellbeing of people with a learning Disability or Autism and 

increase their opportunities to live well for longer. 

 To develop more community services for people with learning disabilities and/ 

or autism who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a 

mental health condition. 

 We will take an integrated approach to the development and delivery of 

appropriate housing options for people with complex mental health and 

learning disabilities.  This will also include looking at the feasibility of 

establishing crisis and recovery accommodation which is an alternative to 

hospital admissions or when a residential home is not appropriate. 

 

Page 125



 

36 | P a g e  
 

 

Getting the Best from Medicines in Wirral 

Medicines account for a significant amount of the money spent in health care in 

Wirral and are the most common healthcare intervention across the system.  In 

2018/19 we spent over £67M delivering over 8.5 million medicine items. The most 

expensive medicine is one that is not taken correctly or not taken at all and in Wirral, 

it is estimated that there is £2.2million of medicines waste.  

Our vision is to improve health outcomes from medicines by ensuring high quality 

and appropriate prescribing and through improving patient information and 

understanding of medication regimes to ensure they are taken as intended. Our 

programme aspires to create an environment that supports individuals, families and 

communities to maximise their health, wellbeing, independence and quality of life 

with a greater focus on prevention, increased self-care / mutual support and early 

intervention, resulting in a reduction in unwarranted variation in the quality of care 

delivered.  

We will deliver this by making best use of the clinical skills of pharmacists and 

pharmacy technicians working across Wirral.  By working together we will optimise 

the impact of the medicines we use and gain the best value from our medicines 

expenditure to enable the use of innovative new medicines where they are available 

and appropriate. By focusing on quality and safety we will ensure that good value for 

the ‘Wirral pound’ is achieved whilst providing the best outcomes for people. 

Resistance to antibiotics is one of the biggest challenges facing health care systems 

across the world.  The over use of antibiotics increases the risk of resistant microbes 

and data shows that in Wirral the levels of antibiotic prescribing is high.  In the past 5 

years teams have worked hard to deliver a 12% reduction in prescriptions dispensed 

but there is still much we need to do to respond to this challenge. 

Our people are our strongest asset and are key to our plans to optimise medicines 

use.  This vision requires a strong workforce model to underpin our developments 

with staff working across our healthcare system to build a greater understanding of 

the challenges we face and the solutions needed to maximise our medicines 

outcomes. 

Our focus over the next 5 years would be on the following priorities: 

 Developing integrated medicines services to support our patients to get the 
right medicine at the right time wherever they live in Wirral 

 Reducing unwarranted variation in prescribing practices in hospitals and our 
primary care networks to get the best outcomes from our medicines and 
support a sustainable future for our population 

 Increasing the numbers of clinical pharmacists working in GP practices to 
release GP time and improve access to medicines where appropriate 

Page 126



 

37 | P a g e  
 

 Integrating our 91 community pharmacies into their local primary care network 
delivery systems. Work will focus on prevention and treatment of minor 
ailments. With referrals from GP surgeries, NHS111 online and hospitals, 
community pharmacies will support General Practices to deliver the ambitions 
set out within the NHS Long Term Plan. 

 Working alongside and signposting to social prescribers to release GP and 
urgent care capacity 

 Increasing the number of new medicines referrals from hospital to community 
pharmacy to support patients to take new medicines as intended 

 Maximising the impact of the electronic referral system from hospital to 
community pharmacy to support safe transfer of care 

 Working to enable patients to self-care where appropriate to release GP and 
urgent care capacity  

 Ensuring the effective and safe use of  medicines for patients in care homes  

 Continuing to explore opportunities to improve medicines outcomes for 
patients with mental health conditions  

 Decreasing inappropriate antibiotic prescribing and course lengths to lower 
resistance to antibiotics. 

 Maximise the use of patient’s own medicines to reduce risks of medicines 
errors when patients move between hospital and home 

 Using the Wirral Care record to support population health management in 
respiratory and diabetes pathways 

 Developing a medicines and pharmacy services communication plan to 
support the health prevention and the appropriate access agenda 

 Learning from errors where mistakes happen 

 Building a resilient and sustainable pharmacy workforce 

Page 127



 

38 | P a g e  
 

 

Technology and Innovation 

Achieving our vision for prevention and early intervention and delivery of services will 

require us to think differently and innovatively in order to give Wirral people the right 

tools to manage their own health more effectively and to give health and care staff 

the deliver high quality and safe care more responsively and effectively, and free up 

time for them to provide focused and preventative care.  Harnessing data and digital 

technology will help us understand our populations’ health and wellbeing better, and 

mobilise the right approaches to focus on providing the right care at the right time 

and in the right place.  

New ways of assessing health risks, early diagnosis and providing preventative care 

are being established the new digital technology. Wirral has taken a lead on some of 

these areas, and particularly on how we bring together and use information to give 

us deep understanding of our populations’ health at a local level to allow us to plan 

Reducing inappropriate antibiotic prescribing  

 

Anti-microbial resistance (AMR) is Public Health England’s highest priority and is 

of global importance.  AMR means bacteria developing the ability to survive 

exposure to antibiotics which are designed to kill them or stop their growth.  If we 

don’t urgently address the problem, we may soon be unable to effectively treat 

common infections. Regionally AMR has been identified as a population health 

priority area within the Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership 

(HCP).  

 

In the Wirral we have established a multi-agency AMR Strategy group with a 

focus upon achieving: 

 A lower burden of infection through improved infection prevention and 

improved vaccination uptake rates. Preventing and controlling infections 

will lead to fewer antimicrobial drugs being used, meaning less risk of 

bacteria developing resistance.  

 Working in partnership to ensure the optimal use of antimicrobials and 

good stewardship across all sectors, improving and maintaining 

antimicrobial usage levels in line with national best practice.  

 

 

Page 128



 

39 | P a g e  
 

care better, identify people at risk of illness and intervene earlier to reduce illness 

and help people live better with long term conditions. 

Our work on the Wirral Care Record will help connect all health and care systems so 

that services are linked and information is not lost between different parts of the 

system.  Patients shouldn’t have to tell their story over and over again as health and 

care staff will be able to see up to the minute information relevant to their care 

 

 

 

Across our neighbourhoods and care sectors we are working to deploy existing and 

new technology that will support people to maintain their independence, support our 

care providers to deliver better, safer care and deliver better outcomes for people. 

We will explore a range of technology options across a breadth of services, including 

early intervention and prevention, mobile technology, care home developments for 

triage and falls prevention services.  It will also include the use of ‘apps’ and self-help 

systems, to support people with long term conditions and technologies to support 

people in complex settings to improve care outcomes and enhance people’s 

independence and safety in their home environments 

Page 129



 

40 | P a g e  
 

We are talking to our leading clinicians, professionals and technical experts across 

the Wirral Health and Care to identify the best national and local innovations and 

cutting edge technologies to ensure that these ideas are built into all of our 

programmes so that our resources are directed at the most effective solutions to 

prevent ill health, improve the management of health conditions, improve 

communication and support people to remain well and happy in their own homes and 

communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilising new technologies to improve services and support people 
to live well 

The Healthy Wirral Programme is bringing partners from across health and social 
care together to work in new ways, using technology wherever appropriate to 
improve patience experience, keep people in good health for longer and to deliver 
new services that better meet people’s needs. 

• Across older people’s care homes in Wirral video technology is enabling a nursing 
team, based at Arrowe Park Hospital, to assess and diagnose patients without the 
need to call paramedics or take people to A&E.  This means that many frail people 
can be treated in their home, reducing anxiety and disturbance and the stress of 
attending hospital 

• Digital assistants can help people with learning disabilities, dementia and poor 
mental health to live more independently.  This equipment is tailored specifically to 
individual needs and can prompt people to take their medicines, show them how to 
complete tasks such as preparing a meal and allow them to keep in touch with 
friends and support workers.  The devices also connect to sensors around the home 
to alert care workers to any problems such as  falls or other emergencies. 

• Working with housing partners, Wirral Council is fitting in-home sensors that work 
together with wearable devices to monitor wellbeing and health, enabling people to 
live at home safely and providing early alerts to health problems such as 
infections.  Wearable devices with GPS and communication technologies allow 
people who are at risk of falling, seizures or panic attacks to leave their own homes 
and take part in community activities, safe in the knowledge that if they need help, 
family or services will be alerted. 

• Wirral Council has also invested in new technologies that enable care workers to 
provide services more effectively and efficiently, making sure that everyone gets the 
care they need at the right time.  New computer systems are also streamlining 
hospital discharge processes, matching care providers to people leaving hospital, 
meaning that people can go home without delay and helping the hospital free up 
beds for other patients. 

  

Page 130



 

41 | P a g e  
 

 

 

The NHS Long Term Plan and what it means for Wirral 

We all know that people across the country place a very high value on the NHS and 

are protective of the services it provides.  However, the way in which healthcare is 

delivered today in the 21st century is very different to when the NHS was established 

in 1947 and the NHS is now facing increasing challenges for a number of reasons. 

In response to these rising pressures, the NHS has published its Long Term Plan 

which sets out the challenges the NHS faces today and the challenges it will face in 

the next decade.  This follows a commitment for increased funding to the NHS by the 

Government. The plan places a great emphasis on closer working between health 

and social care, helping people to stay healthy and preventing people becoming 

unwell.  There will also be more use of digital technology and health and care staff 

working together as teams to deliver better care to people. 

1. Doing things differently: we will give people more control over their own health 

and the care they receive, encourage more collaboration between GPs, their teams 

and community services, as ‘primary care networks’, to increase the services they 

can provide jointly, and increase the focus on NHS organisations working with their 

local partners, as ‘Integrated Care Systems’, to plan and deliver services which meet 

the needs of their communities.  

2. Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities: the NHS will increase its 

contribution to tackling some of the most significant causes of ill health, including 

new action to help people stop smoking, overcome drinking problems and avoid 

Type 2 diabetes, with a particular focus on the communities and groups of people 

most affected by these problems.  

3. Backing our workforce: we will continue to increase the NHS workforce, training 

and recruiting more professionals – including thousands more clinical placements for 

undergraduate nurses, hundreds more medical school places, and more routes into 

the NHS such as apprenticeships. We will also make the NHS a better place to work, 

so more staff stay in the NHS and feel able to make better use of their skills and 

experience for patients.  

4. Making better use of data and digital technology: we will provide more 

convenient access to services and health information for patients, with the new NHS 

App as a digital ‘front door’, better access to digital tools and patient records for staff, 

and improvements to the planning and delivery of services based on the analysis of 

patient and population data.  

5. Getting the most out of taxpayers’ investment in the NHS: we will continue 

working with doctors and other health professionals to identify ways to reduce 

duplication in how clinical services are delivered, make better use of the NHS’ 

Page 131



 

42 | P a g e  
 

combined buying power to get commonly-used products for cheaper, and reduce 

spend on administration. 

 

So what does this mean for Wirral? 

Wirral will receive extra money but this is not the only answer to the things we must 

do to make our local health and care system work better and to be sustainable.   

We also know that many people do not get the ‘joined up’ health and care they need 

because different services are provided by different organisations and this can 

sometimes result in delays and creates extra pressure for our local services. 

Our vision for Wirral will be focused on our local priorities; however these are well 

aligned with the aims of the national plan.  It is important that local people are 

involved in the development of the detailed plans to deliver our vision.  Working 

closely with Wirral Healthwatch we have started this process by asking local people 

about what the changes set out in the NHS Long Term Plan should look like in your 

community; what you think it should do to make care better for your community and 

what you can do to keep well. In particular we asked: 

What do you think: 

•would help people live healthier lives? 

•would make health services better? 

And how do you think: 

• it would be easier for people to take control of their own health and wellbeing? 

• it would make support better for people with long-term conditions? 

We received over 300 responses to the questionnaires and the following priorities 

were identified: 

 When asked to consider what is most important to people to help them to lead a 

healthy life, having access to the help and treatment needed when it is wanted , 

having access to health information and education, access to health and wellbeing 

activity, access to community and transport support, and timely services to 

healthcare 

 When people were asked what they felt was important to keep independence and 

stay healthy in later life, being able to stay in their own home for as long as 

possible was by far the most important factor. Additionally community and home 

support, tackling loneliness, communication and accessibility were seen as 

priorities 

Page 132



 

43 | P a g e  
 

 When asked about managing and choosing support and treatment, people told us 

that choosing the right treatment being a joint decision between them and the 

relevant health and care professional is most important to them. They also felt that 

community care and support, finance, resources and investment, appointments 

and use of technology were important. 

 People in the Wirral told us that being able to talk to their doctor or other health 

professional wherever they were, and having absolute confidence that their 

personal data is managed well and kept secure, were both the most important 

factors when interacting with the NHS.  

 When we asked people to think about what needs to change to help them to 

successfully manage their own health and care people said better use of 

technology, communication and support, accessible GP appointments and 

information and self-help provision. People said they felt individual support for 

those in need in order to reassure other family members was important as well as 

more home care support. 

 People with Cancer told us they were positive about the quality of assessment, 

treatment and support, as well as the time they had to wait at each stage, 

although access to on-going support was felt to be an important area to consider.  

 People with multiple long-term conditions generally felt it was harder to access 

support and that communication should be improved to help this. 

  

Page 133



 

44 | P a g e  
 

Using Taxpayers Money Wisely 
The NHS in Wirral spends over £530 million a year on health provision. As part of the 

financial increases pledged within the NHS Long Term Plan Wirral is set to receive 

extra money over the next 5 years, but this alone will not be sufficient to support the 

changes that we need to make to ensure our local health and care system works 

better and is sustainable.   

 

Wirral has some significant financial challenges including a forecast deficit of £14m 

in 2019/20 and we are consistently spending more than we receive.  This has arisen 

at least in part because of the increases in demand for services, and in relation to 

the health and wellbeing challenges we have outlined earlier.   Similarly our local 

authority services have faced significant financial challenges in recent years, 

alongside increasing demand for both adult and children’s social services. Clearly we 

will need to do things differently and as part of this Healthy Wirral system partners 

are committed to delivering a sustainable future for our system. 

 

We recognise that we can begin to address these challenges if our plans for the 

future are focused on keeping people healthy and supported in their own 

communities, they promote the effective use of technology and ensure that the 

services we provide are integrated and not duplicated. 

 

Through our future investment in health and care in Wirral we want to change the 

balance between care in hospital and in the community, and increase the range and 

convenience of care provided in local communities. Our aim is to keep people as 

well and independent as possible, and reduce the pressure on our hospitals.  

Through the establishment of Primary Care Networks we want to ensure that your 

General Practices have the capacity to provide enhanced services, linked in to a 

wide range of community based services and support and are able intervene earlier 

to prevent people’s health from deteriorating.  Through our neighbourhoods we want 

to focus on the wider influences on health and help people to manage their own 

health and wellbeing better, with the right support in place.  

 

In order to get the most out of taxpayer’s investment in the NHS, we will continue to 

work closely with health and care professionals in Wirral to ensure our clinical 

services are as efficient and cost effective as possible, and that we reduce any 

unnecessary duplication of services.  We will continue to explore how we can use 

our buying power to reduce spend on products and medicines; ensuring that the 

‘Wirral pound’ is invested wisely and efficiently for Wirral people.  We will also seek 

to achieve these efficiencies through our Healthy Wirral key programmes and 

through the delivery of effective place-based neighbourhood health and care 

approaches. Our plan is to ensure that Wirral achieves financial balance as a system 

by 2021/22 assuming that the future resources we receive continue at similar levels 

to that in 2019/20. 

Page 134



 

45 | P a g e  
 

Our strategy over the next few years is to contain our costs and minimise the amount 

of growth funding required for providers through the development of our Healthy 

Wirral programmes which will then form the basis of our additional savings plan.  

  

Page 135



 

46 | P a g e  
 

Outcomes and Conclusions 
We want to ensure that our plans are clear, focused on delivering a better place for 

Wirral people and they deliver clear, straightforward and understandable outcomes. 

 

We have identified our priorities to focus on building a place that supports everyone 

from childhood through to older age to be as healthy and independent as they can 

be.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
This Vision document is about how we would like to work towards these outcomes, 

which can only be achieved through combining the strengths of all our communities 

and partners to support each other, fully participate in community life and use the 

best of our resources and abilities. It is designed to stimulate discussion and debate 

about what a healthy future for Wirral would look like, and how we can achieve it 

together.  We have shared what we are proud of and what concerns us, particularly 

where inequalities that are unacceptable and avoidable and prevent people from 

being as healthy and happy as possible. Our ‘Healthy Wirral’ partners have pledged 

to work collectively and in partnership on behalf of our communities and as part of 

the wider Wirral system to make Wirral the best it can be and ensure that we are all 

able to have the best possible quality of life and health.  

 

 

Our Key Outcomes are: 

1. We create a place that supports the Health and Wellbeing of 

everyone living in Wirral in the places that they live 

2. Through understanding our populations health we enable more 

people to remain healthier  and independent for longer and live well  

3. Families and communities are empowered and supported to raise 

healthy and resilient children and young people and give them the 

best start in life 

4. Wirral people and their families feel informed and involved in 

managing their health and in accessing their care seamlessly from 

organisations that talk to each other 

 

Page 136



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Our System Operating Plan for 2019/20 

 

 
  

Page 137



2 
 

Contents Page 

Healthy Wirral: Wirral’s Integrated Health and Care System 3 
Population Health Characteristics and challenges 4 
System Priorities and Deliverables 
Healthy Wirral Programme 
 

5 

Integration of health and care systems and partners 
Integrating Health and Care Commissioning 
Integrating Health and Care Provision 
 

8 
8 
8 

Our Approaches to Understanding and Improving Population 
Health 
Population Health Intelligence 
Population Health Priorities 

• Alcohol Misuse 
• Smoking 
• Air Quality 
• Wirral Residents (Wirral 2020) and Health Inequalities 
• Self-care  
• Health Protection Priorities for Wirral  

9 
 

9 
10 
10 
11 
12 
12 
12 
13 

Our Place-Based System Approach 
 

14 

Key transformation programmes 
• Planned Care 
• Unplanned Care 
• Mental Health 
• Learning Disabilities and Autism 
• Women, Children and Families 
• Medicines Optimisation 

 

16 
16 
17 
19 
20 
21 
23 

Activity Assumptions  25 
Capacity Planning 
System Capacity and Demand Planning 
Winter Capacity Planning 

26 
26 
26 

Workforce 27 
System Financial Position and risk management 
 

28 

Efficiencies 
 

30 

Appendices 32 
  

Page 138



3 
 

Healthy Wirral System Operating Plan 2019/20 
 

Healthy Wirral: Wirral’s Integrated Health and Care System 
Wirral system partners recognise that it will only be through collective, actions as an 
integrated care system that we will deliver the best population health and wellbeing 
outcomes.  In order to meet our mission of  ‘Better health and wellbeing in Wirral by 
working together’ Healthy Wirral partners have agreed a broad vision which is:  
 
‘To enable all people in Wirral to live longer and healthier lives by taking simple steps 
of their own to improve their health and wellbeing. By achieving this together we can 
provide the very best health and social care services when people really need them, as 
close to home as possible’.  
 
This vision stresses the importance of preventing ill health and our people being in the 
right place at the right time. Recognising also the need to live within our means as a 
system, we also aim to maximise the value of the Wirral pound, by ensuring that this is 
invested in place based care that will deliver evidenced based, quantifiable quality 
outcomes for the population of the Wirral. Our strategy is summarised in a plan on a 
page at Appendix 1 
 
To achieve this, Healthy Wirral partners have committed to working towards acting as 
one in the interests of delivering the best outcomes for the Wirral Population etc. and 
commits to the following principles  
 

• As a system, we will take collective accountability for the Outcomes that we 
agree are our most important to achieve 

• Wirral Council & NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will work 
together to develop integrated and outcome-based strategic commissioning that 
Wirral providers can respond to in partnership and which enables progress 
against the indicators of success identified for the outcomes we agree are most 
important. 

• To develop integrated commissioning and provision of services for our 
population using prime provider/alliance contracting models and which best 
deliver the results required to enable our agreed outcomes 

• Providers commit to sharing financial risk, managing clinical quality, reducing 
inefficiency and waste, and to be accountable to strategic commissioners for 
achievement of pre-agreed quality and financial performance measures.  

• To commit to achieving as a “system” a financial control total that maximises the 
effective use of resources for the benefit of the population of the Wirral. 

• To ensure there is a ‘public value’ return on every investment made, pre-agreed 
by all partners, for all commissioning activity and which is measured as better 
health, better care and better value. 

• To ensure there is sufficiency of ‘better value’ benefits arising to enable the 

Page 139



4 
 

system to return to financial balance. 
• To disinvest at pace where expected / required ‘public value’ return on 

investment has not been secured and has no credible plan to recover in a timely 
fashion. 

• To operate an “open book” policy for all financial transactions 
• GP Federations represent and act on behalf of all GPs as a whole 
• To view a failure of performance in any one area as a failure for the “system” 

and therefore of all partners individually. 
 
Population Health Characteristics and challenges 
Wirral’s population is just over 321,000 people, with a G.P registered population of 
337,000. It is a borough of contrasts, both in its physical characteristics and 
demographics. Rural, urban and industrialised areas sit side by side in a compact 
peninsula. Despite its small area, the health and wellbeing of people in Wirral is varied, 
both across the peninsula itself and when compared with the England average 
 
Wirral is one of the 20% most deprived districts in England and about 24% of children 
live in low income families, with significant problems relating to alcohol usage in both 
adults and young people. Life expectancy is 11.7 years lower for men and 9.7 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas of Wirral compared to the least deprived 
areas. 
 
The number of physically active adults across Wirral is significantly lower than the 
England average. These issues present a difficult challenge for public health, 
commissioners and providers of health and care services across the region. 
 
For the younger population there are some key issues to address: 

• One in four children in reception are overweight or obese 
• One in three children in Year 6 are overweight or obese 
• The number of Looked after Children is still too high. 
• Key issues have been identified as affecting the mental health and wellbeing of 

pupils with lack of self-confidence, low self-esteem and poor self-image having 
the greatest impact, followed by exam/school pressure, behavioural problems 
and issues in the home/family environment. 

 
People are living longer and it is estimated that by 2031 the proportion of older people 
aged 65 and over will have increased faster than any other age group and are 
therefore more likely to be living with complex health conditions, necessitating regular 
intervention from health and care services. Consequently, health and social care 
services across Wirral - in line with the rest of England – are experiencing a period of 
sustained financial pressure. Demand for health and care services are 
Increasing, placing significant pressures on the funding for health and care. 
 

Page 140



5 
 

The largest cause of avoidable death in Wirral for the period 2014-16 was 
Cancer (neoplasms), accounting for 1 in 3 of all avoidable deaths in this period. The 
next largest cause was cardiovascular disease (CVD), which accounted for 1 in 4 of all 
avoidable deaths. Reductions in smoking and other risk factors produce reductions in 
CVD more quickly than cancer. Hence, deaths from CVD are falling while deaths from 
cancer are not reducing as quickly. Alcohol consumption remains a significant cause of 
avoidable death including alcohol-related liver disease and other causes such as 
circulatory disease, cancer and digestive disease. 

 
 
 
System Priorities and Deliverables 
Healthy Wirral Programme 
The system commitment to align their priorities and plans for care design is enshrined 
within the health and wellbeing partnership referred to as Healthy Wirral which brings 
together our strategic plans into a single, place based, narrative as a “Golden Thread” 
for the Wirral health and social care system and local people. The Healthy Wirral 
Partners Board therefore came together in May and June 2017 to agree a single Case 
for Change, Mission, Vision, Strategy, Benefits and set of Strategic Outcomes that key 
local stakeholders could buy into providing partners with a core baseline against which 

Page 141



6 
 

to transform 
 
The following system partners have gained their governing bodies’ commitment to the 
vision and principles of Healthy Wirral through formal adoption of a memorandum of 
understanding: 

• Wirral Community Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust  
• NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group  
• Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  
• Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  
• Wirral Borough Council  
• Primary Care Wirral Federation  
• Wirral GP Federation (GPW-Fed Ltd) 

This reflects an intent between the Parties to work together collaboratively to achieve 
the system ambition for long term financial and clinical sustainability. This requires the 
Parties to work collaboratively to deliver sustainable transformation across the system 
and support the following principles: 

1. Acting As One – exemplified in actions and behaviours. Delivering net system 
benefit 

2. Improving population health – delivering the Healthy Wirral outcomes around 
better care and better health using a place based approach. 

3. Clinical sustainability –sustainable, high quality, appropriately staffed, 
organisationally agnostic services. 

4. Financial sustainability – managing with our allocation, taking cost out, avoiding 
costs, delivering efficiency and better value. 

 

This work is being undertaken within the broader national and regional context of the 
Five Year Forward View and the NHS Long term Plan as well as a clear commitment to 
the delivery of Place aligned to Wirral Together and the Wirral 2030 plan.  This system 
plan summarises the actions achieved so far and planned actions to meet the 
requirements of the 2019/20 NHS Operational Plan, and further describes our 
ambitions and programmes to deliver our long term vision for improved population 
health and wellbeing in Wirral.  

This will be pursued through the Healthy Wirral Delivery Programmes summarised in 
figure 1 below, and enabling system-wide collective problem solving and challenging 
the ambition of transformation plans. System partners have committed to collectively & 
collaboratively consider how new models of care and potential future organisational 
arrangements can best support delivery of agreed plans.   
 

Page 142



7 
 

 
Figure 1 
 

Page 143



8 
 

Wirral partners have agreed a comprehensive governance and programme 
management structure to hold themselves and each other to account for the delivery of 
the programme aims and quality outcomes.  This is shown in the diagram below: 

 
 
Integration of health and care systems and partners 
Integrating Health and Care Commissioning  
NHS Wirral CCG and sections of Wirral Council came together from May 2018 to form 
a single commissioning function, Wirral Health and Care Commissioning (WHaCC).  
WHaCC will jointly commission all age health, care and public health services for the 
Wirral population. WHaCC will be responsible for setting the commissioning agenda 
and will lead the development of a Place Based Care System (PBCS) in Wirral. The 
focus will be on people and place, not on organisations. The transformation of service 
delivery is expected to reduce need for high cost acute care and improve health and 
wellbeing, reducing the need for long term care. The aim is to improve the outcomes 
for the people of Wirral and also to deliver sustainable services, both clinically and 
financially. Placed based care is being developed in response to the challenges Wirral 
health and care system faces of constrained funding, increasing demand, 
fragmentation of services and the need to deliver better health, better care and better 
value for the people of Wirral.  
 
The ambition of providing services at the most appropriate local ‘place’ level has led to 

Page 144



9 
 

development of the '51-9-1 model' based on supporting health and delivering care at 
the most appropriate level. The intention is for services and pathways of care to be 
delivered through the 51 (as at January 2018) General Practices, nine neighbourhoods 
and one district. Further development of our nine neighbourhoods is a priority for 
2019/20 as this will be the cornerstone of place based care. Neighbourhood teams, 
with representatives from a variety of health, care and community disciplines and 
organisations; led by a GP, will focus on the implementation of care to meet the needs 
of people within the neighbourhood. 
 
Integrating Health and Care Provision 
Social care services play an important role in enabling vulnerable people to maintain 
independence and keep well in Wirral. The cost of Adult Social Care is, however 
significant and it does not operate in isolation. The inter-dependency between Health 
and Care systems has become increasingly clear over recent years.  
 
Following negotiations between key health and care partners in Wirral, adult social 
care services were transferred into Wirral Community NHS Foundation Trust in June 
2017. Following this, in August 2018 the all Age Disability Social Care teams were 
transferred into Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.  This has 
served to integrate the frontline assessment and support planning processes for 
vulnerable adults and older people across the health and care delivery pathway, and 
which will provide joined up seamless health and social care delivery services for 
Wirral people. 
 
Following a period of stabilisation and integration of these teams into their new 
organisations, and organisational development processes to establish strong 
operational and contract management processes, it is planned that 2019/20 will be a 
year of transformation, establishing true integration of health and care teams, enabling 
integrated partnership working for local people through strong multi-disciplinary teams 
operating at a neighbourhood level 
 
Our Approaches to Understanding and Improving Population Health 
Population Health Intelligence 
Healthy Wirral partners have established an integrated Population Health Intelligence 
Work Programme with the Aim of Improving the health and wellbeing of our 
communities through the effective use of population health intelligence. 
 
The programme delivery group has brought together subject matter experts from 
across the Wirral health and care system and provides a strategic lead for Healthy 
Wirral Population Health Intelligence. The programme will support the use of 
intelligence, including the analytics opportunities offered by the developing Wirral Care 
Record to identify opportunities to improve care quality, efficiency and equity. The 
programme will also support and evaluate service transformation 

Page 145



10 
 

 
The programme group will also improve understanding of the analytical capacity and 
capability within the system and develop a plan to meet future analytical capability 
requirements. Key system benefits that have been identified  include: 

• Enhancing the experience of care 
• Improving the health and well-being of the population 
• Reducing per capita cost of health care and improve productivity 
• Addressing health and care inequalities 
• Increasing the well-being and engagement of the workforce 

 
Population Health Priorities 
Public Health information and the analytical work undertaken by system colleagues, 
including the Wirral Intelligence Service provide us with a clear set of priorities to focus 
on in terms of population health planning and management.  These are summarised 
below: 

• Alcohol Misuse 
Alcohol misuse causes a huge burden of health problems and harm at all 
stages of life, directly causing over 60 medical conditions from birth defects 
to cancer. Regularly drinking above recommended levels increases the risk of 
alcohol-related morbidity including certain types of cancer, liver disease and 
heart disease and can negatively impact on family life.  
 
The estimated economic cost for Wirral is £131 million per year, comprising of 
costs to the health and social care systems (£41million), criminal justice costs 
(£31million), and lost productivity (£61 million). Alcohol is thought to cost the 
Wirral health care system alone £29 million each year. It is estimated that 5.4% 
of the Wirral population are high risk drinkers, and of these 4.5% are dependent 
drinkers. This produces an estimated incidence of some level of alcohol-related 
brain damage affecting between 14,400 and 17,280 local people. If the most 
appropriate response is not offered in good time then their ability to respond 
positively to the treatment and support offered will be significantly compromised. 
As a result, not only will individual prognosis be poorer but the future demands 
made on the health and social care system will consequently be greater. 
 
The key priorities identified to tackle these issues on Wirral are: 

1. Encouraging a responsible relationship with alcohol through opportunistic 
early identification and brief advice (IBA). This has proved to be effective 
in reducing alcohol consumption and related problems.  Our strategy will 
be to engage the widest partnership in adopting this approach, 
underpinned by promoting the wider workforce to incorporate IBA into 
their Making Every Contact Count approach. 

2. Supporting those who need help with alcohol misuse through strong 
engagement, treatment and recovery response for all those with 

Page 146



11 
 

difficulties arising from their alcohol use, not just those people that are 
already alcohol dependent. Work will be undertaken to ensure this 
approach is supported by all partners across the health, social care and 
criminal justice systems, with effective pathways of care in place between 
them. 

 
• Smoking 

Smoking remains the single greatest risk factor for poor health and early death 
in Wirral and is the principal cause of health inequalities.  Smoking still kills and 
we cannot say that the job of tobacco control is done when one in five deaths 
each year in Wirral is related to smoking. Wirral Partnership’s Smokefree 
Strategy’s overall aim to ‘make smoking history for our children’. Every child 
deserves the best start in life and therefore there needs to be a scaled up focus 
on supporting pregnant smokers to quit. In order to reduce the smoking rates 
and prevent young people starting to smoke we will ensure effective system 
wide tobacco control and smoking cessation measures are in place across the 
whole of Wirral’s health and care economy. 
 
We will seek assurance that:  
1. The system vision is clear that we aim to ‘make smoking history for our 

children’ 
2. Training is mandated for the medical workforce to have the competence and 

confidence to discuss and initiate the treatment of tobacco addiction and the 
use of e-cigarettes 

3. Ensure, via local contracts, there is one assessment and treatment pathway 
for smokers admitted to secondary care. 

4. Standardise and implement a systematic and robust handover of treatment 
plan from secondary and tertiary care to primary care upon discharge 

5. Ensure robust systematic smoking cessation pathways are built into all long 
term conditions management programmes e.g. diabetes; respiratory 
conditions such as COPD & asthma; cardiovascular conditions; cancers  
and mental health conditions 

6. Embed tobacco control and smoking cessation in all contracts with a 
commitment to support smokers to quit or be temporarily abstinent; 
consistency in smoke free policies (e.g. using of e-cigs/vaping) and 
involvement in campaigns (e.g. Stoptober) and monitor performance.  

7. Create and enable working environments which makes it easy for smokers 
to quit  

8. Framing tobacco control activities around a childhood protection and 
prevention focus and help increase support for future actions 

9. Deliver regular targeted campaigns on the dangers of illicit tobacco that are 
supported across the local system 

10. Make good use of mass media campaigns to promote smoking cessation 

Page 147



12 
 

and raise awareness of the harms of smoking e.g. Stoptober. 
 

• Air Quality 
Nationally there is growing evidence that air pollution is a significant contributor 
to preventable ill health and early death. Air pollution can compromise health 
outcomes, leading to a range of illnesses, increases in hospital admissions and 
premature deaths. An assessment of air quality in Wirral reports there are no air 
quality management areas in Wirral. However reducing air pollutants remains a 
local public health priority. Improving air quality relies of national and joined up 
local action. Wirral is working with colleagues across the Liverpool City Region 
and North West to develop the approach locally. 

 
• Wirral Residents (Wirral 2020) and Health Inequalities 

Only 10% of a population’s health and wellbeing is linked to access to health 
care. Instead it is political, social, economic, environmental and cultural factors 
which make the greatest contribution to health and or ill health. Creating a 
healthy population therefore requires greater action on these factors, not simply 
on treating ill health further downstream. The Wirral Plan, published in June 
2015, sets out a series of 20 pledges based on a set of priorities and goals  
shared  by all system partners contributes to improving the social determinants 
of health and is therefore a central component of our efforts to increase healthy 
life expectancy and reduce health inequalities. 
 
As the Wirral Plan, and its 20 underpinning pledges, nears 2020 work is 
underway to develop the priorities and plans for the Wirral Partnership over the 
next decade. The plan for 2030 will need to connect to the other key system 
policy drivers e.g. NHS Long Term Plan and Healthy Wirral as well as the wider 
programme of growth and regeneration. Partners from across the wide Wirral 
Partnership system are starting to shape this. 
 
Wealth and wellbeing are intrinsically related. Wirral has embarked on a major 
programme of physical regeneration through the Wirral Growth Company 
coupled with emerging strategy in relation to inclusive, internal growth within the 
local economy. This work has huge potential for improving the health of local 
residents. 
 
Furthermore, the Wirral Partnership is developing a new approach to working 
with local people called Wirral Together. This intends to redefine the relationship 
between agencies and local people in order to achieve better outcomes and 
deliver sustainable public services. 
 

• Self-care  
Building on the Wirral Plan Healthier Lives pledge to 'support local people to 

Page 148



13 
 

take control over their own health and wellbeing', the focus of the Self Care 
work plan is to help build connected, resilient communities and empowering 
people in their own health and wellbeing.  A more proactive, holistic and 
personalised approach, involving greater engagement with people and 
communities is recognised as the only sustainable path.                                                                                                                                                        
 
Wirral has been nationally recognised with examples of existing best practice 
related to promoting self-care and empowering communities.  The overarching 
aim is to build on the existing work and develop a coordinated and systematic 
approach to Self-Care and takes a whole population approach incorporating 
actions across different population groups, this includes:                                                       

• Creating whole population health and wellbeing: by mobilising community 
assets and building social networks through community development, 
asset based approaches, volunteering, and social action. 

• A proactive and universal offer of support to people with long term physical 
and mental health conditions to build knowledge, skills and confidence 
leading to improved ability to self-manage and build community capacity. 
This means that as well as providing appropriate medical care, services 
work with people to find ways of meeting their own needs, and the needs 
of others, in the place where they live. 

• Intensive approaches to empowering people with more complex needs to 
have greater choice and control over the care they receive. 
 

• Health Protection Priorities for Wirral  
Healthy Wirral Partners are committed to prioritise and work as a system to 
ensure we have robust health protection arrangements in place and deliver 
against identified health protection priorities. We have reviewed local data and 
this has highlighted three priorities which we consider require sustained action 
across the health and care system. These are: 

1. The development of a system wide approach to Infection Prevention and 
Control in order to reduce the incidence of healthcare associated 
infections 

2. Reducing antimicrobial resistance 
3. Reducing the variation and uptake of cancer screening and national 

immunisation programmes.  
 

These priorities provide a targeted focus on key challenges where improvement 
is required or needs are greatest. In addition, we will continue to assure that 
statutory duties to protect health are discharged and that local organisations are 
resilient to threats to health through effective planning and preparation as well 
as being equipped to respond to incidents, outbreaks and emergencies.  
 
The local health protection system will work as part of a broader network across 

Page 149



14 
 

Cheshire and Merseyside contributing to the development of health protection 
functions delivered by Public Health England and NHS England as well as 
working with other local areas to maximise our resources, reduce duplication 
and share best practice. The Wirral Health Protection Group has responsibility 
to ensure that Wirral has a robust health protection system which effectively 
controls and prevents population level health issues. Members of the local 
health protection system represented on the Wirral Health Protection Group 
include: 
 

 
Our Place-Based System Approach 
A focus on providing services at the most appropriate local ‘place’ level has led to the 
'51-9-1 model' based on supporting health and delivering care at the most appropriate 
level. The intention is for services to be delivered through 51 General Practices, nine 
neighbourhoods and one district. Each of the nine neighbourhoods will be made up of 
a population of between 30- 50,000 residents using health and care needs of the 
population as the building stone for the geographic boundary.  
 
Primary care leaders, including General Practice (GPs), will be at the centre of the 
PBCS, transforming community-based services and care pathways for a defined 
population. 
 

o 51 Wirral general practices, ‘population health’ approach 
o 9 neighbourhoods serving communities of 30-50,000 people, supporting better 

coordination and a risk-based approached to care planning 
o 1 Wirral district 

 
Neighbourhoods consist of an integrated workforce, with a strong focus on 
partnerships spanning primary, secondary, mental health and social care and 
importantly community and voluntary groups. Neighbourhoods will also utilise the 
support (assets) available in their area to the benefit of their particular population. The 

Page 150



15 
 

aim is to improve outcomes for people and to deliver consistent and continuity of care. 
 
The neighbourhood leadership team will be led by a GP to ensure co-ordination of the 
neighbourhood team in the delivery of health and care pathways. There will be a clear 
focus on the delivery of prevention, early intervention and proactive care to reduce the 
demand for reactive and specialist care. 
 
Our vision for Neighbourhoods is:  
Together we will provide effective care, as close to the resident’s home as possible, 
delivered by the right person at the right time 
 
Our plans to deliver this will involve: 

o Organisation of care around people’s holistic needs - physical health, mental 
health and social care.  

o Development of services that are clinically and financially sustainable 
through greater integration of care, reduction in duplication across a pathway 
and flexibility in approach of delivery to meet local population needs.  

o Collaboration and involvement with a wider range of organisations from 
different sectors, including the identification and use of ‘community assets’  

o Partnership working with families, carers and public and local 
neighbourhoods to transform the way that services are delivered and improve 
the focus on population health and wellbeing.  

o Sharing of expertise and skills from different organisations to benefit how 
health and care is delivered.  

o Make community based care the central focus of the health and care system  
o Releasing GP time to enable more effective, efficient and sustainable 

practices  
 
Progress to date (including frailty) 
We have made significant progress in defining and establishment of Neighbourhoods. 
GP Co-ordinators have been appointed to each of the nine neighbourhoods, leadership 
teams have been established and meet regularly. The neighbourhood teams have 
focused their early activity on the identification and management of frailty within their 
population, producing both neighbourhood level and practice level frailty plans 
submitted and commencing delivery of their action plans.  Significant work has been 
undertaken in the alignment of resources and improving the links of community 
resources within neighbourhoods. Third sector links and provision have also been 
established and strengthened.  This work has been supported by the development of 
robust and detailed population health intelligence aggregated at a neighbourhood level 
with the introduction of Neighbourhood intelligence profiles. 
 
Key deliverables for 2019/20 
Our key system actions to develop and establish our place based delivery approach 

Page 151



16 
 

will involve the following: 
• Design and development of an agreed target operating model for 

neighbourhoods that provides a consistent approach to care pathways 
• Embedding Wirral Care record as a neighbourhood focused population health 

intelligence and clinical management tool 
• Ensuring the co-design of care models, working in partnership with the key 

primary programme teams to ensure the key pathway developments for planned 
and unplanned care, mental health, learning disabilities and women children 
and families have a clear and coherent neighbourhood focus 

• Continued and stronger integration and engagement with third sector partners 
and community, voluntary and faith organisations 

• Strategic and operational alignment with the opportunities for the neighbourhood 
offer afforded through wider service integration, such as housing and fire & 
rescue services (Wirral Together)  

• Over the course of 2019 we will develop a systematic approach to improving 
population health agreed and adopted by Healthy Wirral Partners. Focusing on 
prevention and early intervention and taking a life course approach. This plan 
will build upon Cheshire and Merseyside Population Health Programme work 
streams and support delivery of local Healthy Wirral priorities, including the 
development of social prescribing pathways. It will also link to the Wirral Plan 
and Wirral Together. 

 
Key transformation programmes 
The implementation of place-based approaches to the management of population 
health and wellbeing through our 51-9-1 model, and in particular through 
neighbourhoods provides the core strategic aim for the system, and the means through 
which our priority programmes of care will be focused. These programmes are 
summarised below, together with their priorities for delivery in 2019/20. 
 
Planned Care  
Our vision for Planned Care 
Our vision is to transform planned care to provide organisationally agnostic and 
integrated, end to end pathways of care focused on primary prevention and 
management at neighbourhood levels, supported by responsive specialist care. 
 
Progress to date 
Significant work has been undertaken in year to support the development of effective 
planned care, focusing on improvement of referral to Treatment times and the 
transformation of Musculo-skeletal (MSK) services. 
 
Wirral implemented a new MSK Integrated Triage Service in 2018; this applies the key 
principles of the MSK First Contact model and is achieving reductions to diagnostics 
and reductions in secondary care referrals in line with the model. 

Page 152



17 
 

 
Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (WUTH), Wirral largest 
provider has commissioned an Outpatient Transformation Programme, its remit being 
to undertake a full review of existing Outpatient services within the Acute Hospital.   
 
A strategic action plan is in place at WUTH to improve the delivery of cancer services 
for patients, supported by individual tumour level action plans where appropriate. A 
wider partnership approach is in place to monitor patients diagnosed and treated out of 
area with cancer Managers and commissioners meeting regularly and exchanging 
dialogue to improve cancer services regionally as part of the Cancer Alliance.   
 
Key deliverables for 2019/20 
Following significant work with Healthy Wirral system partners and colleagues within 
Right Care and Model Hospitals, a portfolio of priorities for intervention have been 
identified linked to areas where Wirral is an outlier with comparator systems. The 
priority areas also reflect the ask within the NHS Long Term plan.   Project teams will 
be established with key clinical leads, commissioners and provider leads to establish 
transformation programmes in each of the following areas: 

• Respiratory 
• Cardio Vascular Disease  
• Gastro-intestinal conditions 
• Outpatient redesign  

Unplanned Care  
Our vision for Unplanned Care 
Our vision for Wirral’s Unplanned care services is for a responsive, reliable and 
efficient system that fulfils the following key principles: 

o Standardised and simple access 
o Services that take into account physical, mental, social and wellbeing 

needs at every step of treatment 
o Convenience and delivery closer to home 
o Achieving the 4-hour waiting standard for Emergency Department (ED) 
o Staff have the right information about their patients 
o Health and Care partners working together  
o Services staff are proud to be a part of 

 
Progress to date 
Notable progress has been made in relation to the following priorities: 

• Delivering and maintaining Delayed Transfer of Care (DToC) performance 
• Streaming from ED to Primary Care is now delivering, with new model in place 

since 5th Nov 2018 
• Single Point of Access is now co-located, bringing together 3 areas (mental 

health, physical health and social care duty) 
• High Impact change model evidences delivery of Trusted Assessor, effective 

Page 153



18 
 

teletriage and improved support to care homes, reducing ED attendances and 
calls to 111 and 999. 

• Developing the integrated urgent care (IUCCAS) model via NHS 111 and 999 
 
Key deliverables for 2019/20 
Our priority deliverables for 2019-20 are: 
 

• Development of a system wide capacity and demand model to identify the range 
of services required 

• Implementation of the result of the consultation exercise around community 
Unplanned care services 

• Delivery of the urgent treatment centre with redesigned and improved 
Unplanned care pathways 

• Further development of the Integrated Urgent Care Clinical Assessment 
Services (IUCCAS) 

• Making the best use of the Better Care Fund to ensure we have the right 
services to provide the care needed  

• Support development of neighbourhoods to provide the right level of support, 
closer to home, for people with complex needs 

• Reducing long stay patients by 40% (21 plus day Length of Stay) against 17/18 
baseline by end of Q4 

• Rapidly improving the 7 day home first pathway and community model to meet 
system requirements, optimising the future model 

• Improve and maintain ambulance handover and turnaround times and eliminate 
corridor waits. 

• Reduce avoidable admissions by establishing an Acute Frailty Service, 
delivering comprehensive geriatric assessments in A and E and assessment 
units. 

• Redesign ED and assessment area pathways by developing and implementing 
a comprehensive model of SDEC to increase the proportion of acute admissions 
discharged on the day of admittance to 1/3rd. 

 
In addition to these there are some early deliverables that we will focus upon as a 
system namely: 

• Complete the transformational changes to establish an enhanced Single Point 
of Access (SPA) to support rapid access from the community to secondary care 
(including HOT clinics), Mental Health, Physical Health, Social Care and 
voluntary sector. 

• Develop and fully implement the new 111 offer, supported by appropriately 
developed Directory of Services (DOS), including the providing 50% calls with 
clinical assessment and 40% people triaged booked into face to face 
appointment, and developing, implementing and embedding the Clinical 

Page 154

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/primary-care/pharmacy/urgent-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/primary-care/pharmacy/urgent-care/


19 
 

Assessment Service (CAS) 
• Reducing acute Long Stay Occupancy by 25% (21 plus day Length of Stay) and 

set local targets for 7 and 14 day shorter lengths of stay in Q1 
• Fully implement SAFER approach in T2A community beds to ensure flow and 

maximise use of resource 
 
The Unplanned care programme will have a significant impact on activity levels within 
ED along with a reduction in non-elective admissions and length of stay which will also 
free up bed capacity at WUTH. 
 
It is anticipated that ED attendances will reduce by approximately 10,000 (9%) on 
2018/19 and an opportunity to reduce non elective admissions by approximately 2,500 
(5%), however it is not expected that costs will be released in the first instance as 
occupancy levels on wards are at almost 100% and need to reduce to safer levels, this 
will then enable flow through the hospital before any capacity can be released in year 
on a stepped cost basis. It is also anticipated that this scheme will avoid growth in 
future years and therefore release CCG growth allocation as a whole system saving. 
 
Mental Health 
 
Our vision for Mental Health 
Our vision is to establish an integrated service with seamless patient pathways, 
aligning primary and secondary mental health services and integrated with community 
level interventions including social prescribing. 
 
Good progress to achieve our vision has been made to date.  Action has been focused 
on the Talking Together, Live Well Wirral programme which has been developed within 
the wider IAPT service specification written during 2018.  A procurement exercise 
undertaken, resulting in award to Insight Healthcare who will deliver the IAPT service in 
line with a number of strategic partners, both statutory and third sector from April 2019. 
 
Key deliverables for 2019/20 

Our key deliverables for Mental Health in 2019/20 are 

• The development of enhanced crisis care services for adults, children and 
young people.  Following a workshop in January 2019 work will be undertaken 
to deliver place based and region wide support specifically relating to sanctuary 
based provision which will be delivered through the beyond place of safety 
project and consideration of social crisis support through signposting to third 
sector advice and support services.  The crisis care concordat will be refreshed 
as part of this work. 

• To enhance the effectiveness of delivery of physical health into Mental Health 
services, work will be undertaken to enable Mental Health practitioners to be 

Page 155



20 
 

placed into Primary care in line with our neighbourhood model.  An initial 
business case received 2018,and in addition learning is to be considered from 
the ADHD shared care discussions 

• Refresh of Wirral Dementia strategy following extensive engagement and 
alignment to the North West clinical network pathway. Task and finish group 
establishment to consider wider opportunities for dementia transformation 
across all provider organisations 

• Talking Together Live Well Wirral – IAPT programme. Work with new service 
provider to achieve progress against IAPT targets in line with national 
standards, a period of 6 month mobilisation/transition is expected.  Local 
development of an Emotional Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board which 
will feed into the creation of a Mental Health programme board to deliver the 
Healthy Wirral Mental Health priorities. 

 
 
Learning Disabilities and Autism 
Our vision for Learning Disabilities and Autism 
Our vision is that through transformation of our all age learning disability programme 
we will deliver positive outcomes for Wirral residents through a preventative model 
which supports independence and prevents unnecessary care admissions. These 
intentions strive to enable people to live longer and healthier lives and ensure effective 
and efficient use of the financial resources available. 
 
Progress to date 
National specifications for both the Community Learning Disability Teams and 
Assessment and Treatment Units have been localised and are being implemented 
across Cheshire & Wirral, with Wirral leading this work. Non recurrent pump priming 
monies have been obtained from NHSE to support the delivery of the Intensive 
Support Service function of the Community Learning Disability Teams across Cheshire 
& Wirral. Recurrent money for this function has now also been identified from the 
planned redesign of short breaks services and this will support the long term delivery of 
the Transforming Care Programme.                                                                          
 
Areas of work have commenced regarding increasing the number of health checks 
completed, including health action plans. Current figures (50%) indicate that the 
completion rate is below that expected so a scoping exercise has commenced to 
understand the reasons for the figures, involving the GP lead for LD, business 
intelligence and health facilitators from Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust. A draft information pack has been developed for primary care and 
inclusion at GP members/neighbourhood sessions. The target by 2020 75%. 
 
A project group for STOMP/STAMP has been established and pilot projects have been 
completed. Information has been disseminated to primary care and initial work 

Page 156



21 
 

regarding awareness/e learning for GPs has been completed and will be progressed 
in19-20.  
 
As part of the All Age Disability Strategy Action Plan Wirral has achieved an increase 
to 50% in the number of people with a long term condition or disability who are 
employed. This is an increase from 37% at the start of the Wirral Plan in 2015/16. 
 
Key deliverables for 2019/20 
Wirral Plan target and All Age Disability Strategy Action Plan priority. 

• Commissioning Accommodation Based Support. Several new supported 
housing schemes are planned for 2019/20 with two opened which have 
supported discharge from A+T beds and sustained community support for 
people.                                                                                        

• Commissioning Preventative Services to Maximise Wellbeing. 
• Further work to address the STAMP agenda and this will be undertaken with a 

similar approach that we have utilised for our STOMP action plan, with a focus 
on a stronger start for children and young people in line with NHS Long Term 
Plan recommendations. 

• Transforming Care Programme deliverables:  
o Commitment to reducing the number of inpatient beds by increasing the 

availability of community-based support. 
o Bringing people back from out of area 
o Increase in annual health checks & increase screening rates 
o Delivering intensive support function of the community learning disability 

teams, adult & children 
o Commissioning and delivering post diagnostic autism services  

 
Women, Children and Families 
Our vision for Women, Children and Families 
It is widely acknowledged that getting it right in the early years should be our long term 
prevention strategy. Our vision is that through supporting children, parents and families 
that children on the Wirral will have every opportunity to thrive emotionally, physically 
and educationally. At a recent Wirral Partnership workshop for children and young 
people it was agreed that a strategic Board should be established to take this work 
forward to ensure that all agencies are working towards a shared vision. 
 
Progress to date 
The Healthy Child Programme (0-19 years) provides a framework to support 
collaborative work and more integrated delivery of services for children and young 
people. The 0-5 element of the Healthy Child Programme is led by health visiting 
services and the 5-19 element is led by school nursing services, providing place-based 
services and working in partnership with education and other providers. Additional 
support around Health Improvement including areas such as emotional health and 

Page 157



22 
 

wellbeing, sexual health and substance misuse further compliments this offer. The 
universal reach of the Healthy Child Programme provides an invaluable opportunity 
from early in a child’s life to identify families that are in need of additional support and 
children who are at risk of poor outcomes. The 0-19 Service has been in operation in 
Wirral for just over 4 years and has seen progress in a number of areas, including 
uptake of developmental reviews for children, the implementation of integrated reviews 
and the establishment of health and wellbeing hubs in 4 localities to increase access to 
services. 
 
Key deliverables for 2019/20 
Our immediate priorities for 2019/20 are as follows: 

• To re-commission the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme (Core Programme) 
• To complete further insight work to inform service developments around risk 

taking behaviour/emotional health and wellbeing 
• To develop a  strategic and systematic approach to therapeutic/trauma informed 

practice to  respond to Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE’s)  for children 
and parents 

• To further develop the Strategic  Maternity Public Health Action Plan in line with 
the NHS Long Term Plan 

 
Our key aim will be to establish a clear and dynamic, system-wide strategic work plan 
to deliver our vision for women, children, young people and their families.  It is 
envisaged that this plan will encompass the following priority areas and will set some 
firm foundation for our long term plan for Wirral: 
 

• A more strategic joined up approach to meeting local needs, including effective 
joint commissioning arrangements 

• Appropriate services/support in place to meet the needs of children, young 
people, families and schools from the earliest opportunity, including pre-birth 

• Public Health and preventative/early help  approach  
• Helping children engage with learning 
• Promoting and improving children and young people's mental health 
• Completing our review and acting on the recommendations for SEND 
• Using Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA) as a driver for change 
• Working with families to eliminate the toxic trio of domestic violence, parental 

mental ill health and parental substance misuse 
• Linking Children and Young People’s health and wellbeing to Place and 

Neighbourhoods 
• Workforce development; more appropriate support to meet future needs 

 
 
 

Page 158



23 
 

Medicines Optimisation 
Our vision for Medicines Optimisation 
The Medicines Value Programme for Wirral has been established to improve health 
outcomes from medicines through improving patient information, making best use of 
the clinical skills of pharmacists and pharmacy technicians, and implementing clinically 
effective prescribing and medicines reviews to ensure we are getting the best value 
from our medicines expenditure.  
It aims to: 

• Enable people to access treatment that is clinically effective, based on 
the latest scientific discovery, at as low a price as possible  

• Support people to take their medicines as intended, with appropriate 
medicines reviews, so that they get the health outcomes they want 

 
Progress to date  
Clinical Pharmacists (GPCP) in GP practices  

• Working across both primary and secondary care since April 
• GPCP programme now live in 13 practices (partially NHSE funded) 
• Introduced deteriorating patient hotline for community pharmacy to directly 

contact GPCPs 
Biosimilars  

• Biosimilar oversight group established 
• Rituximab, etanercept and infliximab savings delivered based on 2017/18 use 

(no growth) £1m 
• Adalimumab contract award December 2018 (saving 2018/19 800k)  
• Funding request submitted  at STP level for Programme Transformational 

funding to support consistent implementation of systems to optimise high cost 
drugs including maximising the use of biosimilars in place 

MOCH 
• Staff recruited under NHSE Pilot in January to support existing care home 

pharmacists.  
Mental Health 

• CWP Targeted Electronic Referrals to Community Pharmacy; concentrating on 
antidepressant medicines use review(MUR) to support suicide prevention, 
antipsychotic MUR to support relapse prevention, and improved adherence with 
medicines for diabetes or hypertension and inhalers to support admissions 
prevention. This has been extended to CPN case load for vulnerable patients 
living in primary care. 

• CWP Targeted Electronic Referrals to Community Pharmacy to notify of 
Clozapine treatment alerting community pharmacists to likely complications 
such as bowel obstruction, dyscrasias,  and the impact of smoking and other 
drug interactions on clozapine levels to reduce admissions. 

• STOMP Work-Stream - 4 month NHSE funded pilot across 3 GP practices 

Page 159



24 
 

during which all patients with learning difficulties and concurrent antipsychotic 
prescriptions were reviewed by specialist mental health pharmacist. 

• Agreed in-reach service to acute Trust to support medicines optimisation for 
mental health medicines in response to national NCEPOD report. To commence 
in March 2019. 

Use of Population Health 

• Development of Health e-Intent (health economy wide care  platform) to analyse 
medicines practice and drive performance improvements relating to 
antimicrobial prescription 

General 
• Multi sector partner group established 
• Workforce map for all sectors completed and communicated 
• Transition to the Pan Mersey area prescribing committee (new drug approval 

system for CCG funded drugs) is in progress 
• Successful Multi-sector education event 
• Supported ordering of factor Xa through WROCs system to support simplified 

ordering for GPs for low molecular weight heparins 
• Increased utilisation of fit notes to negate the need for GP appointments post 

discharge. 
 
Key deliverables for 2019/20 
Our priorities for delivery include the following work areas: 
 

• Introduction of models to estimate cost avoidance from medicines optimisation 
interventions 

• Reduction of Anti-microbial prescribing volumes to support the national anti-
microbial stewardship policy. 

• Delivery of QIPP programme with multi-sector support. 
• Extension of GPCP work supporting neighbourhood and primary care network 

working. 
• Review of supply routes to optimise best value for Wirral place 
• Maximise the use of patients’ own medicines to improve safety and reduce 

waste. 
• Review blister pack arrangements and supply 
• Investigate “not dispensed service” currently being delivered in Liverpool 
• Introduction of safety programme; initially to refine reporting and management 

systems for incidents at care interfaces and increase reporting rate, assurances 
on patient safety alerts. 

• Support in the delivery of safety board indicators. 
• Provision of point of admission and discharge information to community 

pharmacies to support the vision; right patient, right medicine, right time and 

Page 160



25 
 

eliminate unintended medicines discrepancies via electronic transfer of 
medicines to community pharmacy. 

• Control high cost drugs expenditure. 
• Continue to explore opportunities to optimise outcomes for patients with mental 

health conditions 
• Maximise medicines outcomes in care homes 

 
Benefits 
Financial 
Our expected financial benefits from the work we are undertaking are: 

• Biosimilars - £2.7 million for 19-20 based on 18-19 usage with no growth 
• QIPP to be confirmed with CSU colleagues 
• eTCP 717 potential bed days saved  leading to approx. £500K in savings based 

on extrapolating the data from local NHS Trusts admission rates (Oct 2018) and 
using a prediction tool to identify potential saving to the local health economy 
(based on the first year’s data at Newcastle NHS Trust) 

Non-financial 
• Medicines use optimised via a range of medicines reviews by all sectors to 

include MURS, poly pharmacy, de-prescribing 
• Robust incident reporting and risk mitigation strategies for the place 
• Health and Wellbeing measures to be confirmed, minor ailment schemes, 

DMIRS etc.  releasing GP capacity 
 
Activity Assumptions 
 
Activity plans have been agreed by both providers and commissioners which also meet 
the expectations within the planning guidance to set realistic baselines which also 
include an element of growth for 2019/20. 
 
The main activity based contract is with WUTH and WCCG and there were a number 
of steps taken to agree a realistic baseline with forecast outturn for 2018/19 being the 
starting point.  There were minor adjustments made to elective activity to reflect 
capacity available at WUTH to ensure that the waiting list does not deteriorate and an 
element of growth for 2019/20 was factored in for across points of delivery to reach an 
agreed baseline. 
 
There are a number of system programmes that will reduce activity, predominantly ED 
attendances and non-elective admissions but apart from streaming in ED these 
programmes have not been included within the baseline and will therefore have 
separate plans to reduce activity in year. 
 
 

Page 161



26 
 

Capacity Planning 

System Capacity and Demand Planning 

Wirral partners will build upon the learning from the previous two years capacity and 
demand modelling, with a view to utilising the model to inform capacity requirements 
for 2019/20. 

The approach will model system wide capacity and demand requirements to enable 
delivery of operational priorities, ensuring patient flow. The validation of the modelling 
assumptions will be undertaken by Healthy Wirral partners through the system 
programme boards which will inform future commissioning and delivery intentions. 

The model will challenge discussions regarding sustainability and directly focus 
attention where improvements can be made, understanding the impact across the 
whole system, evidencing return on investment  and where we would be best placed to 
invest the Wirral £. 

This work will focus upon the four key reasons which will impact upon system; namely 
ED performance, stranded level impact, occupancy and Transfer to Assess length of 
stay. System workshops are scheduled in February and March to take forward the 
work, ensuring close connection with the bed base review and BCF review. 

Winter Capacity Planning 

Wirral is currently reviewing learning from 2018/19 winter performance and delivery 
analysis. This includes analysis of the whole Unplanned care system and what we 
could do better and improve for 2019/20. 

The capacity and demand analysis work will also model additional winter requirements. 
This will be completed by April 2019. 

The Wirral Urgent Care Executive Group will consider the wider analysis and learning 
to inform planning intentions for 2019/20. The timescale for this work to be completed 
is end June 2019, ensuring any additional capacity plans are implemented in good 
time. The review of Better Care Fund (BCF) schemes and impact will also form part of 
our considerations. The bed base review and BCF review will be concluded by end 
March 2019. 

Wirral will produce a single winter plan, across the system, as achieved in the previous 
year, held as good practice by NHSE. 

The BCF will hold an element of funding to support winter capacity plans for which 
details be finalised in line with planning timescales. 

 

Page 162



27 
 

Workforce 
Wirral partners have a shared ambition to develop an effective and sustainable 
workforce, whose capability (capacity, competence and confidence) is aligned to the 
vision and aims of Healthy Wirral. This has resulted in a commitment to delivering a 
place based approach to the development of a Wirral People strategy and delivery 
plan.  
Wirral is adopting a system approach to mapping system capability and modelling 
future workforce needs.  Aligning this work to the wider place based programmes of 
work and working in partnership with system colleagues in Cheshire West, Wirral will 
implement an Aligning Capability model to analyse current issues and future needs.   
A primary focus of this work will be integration with the core and primary transformation 
programmes to ensure that future workforce needs are addressed. As the key agent of 
the delivery of place based health and care, neighbourhood/ primary care network 
development will be the initial priority for the People programme. 
Working closely with wider system partners across Wirral during 2018/19 has led to the 
development of a number of initial strategic priorities.  These have been incorporated 
into the key system deliverables for 2019/20 and will used to inform the Wirral long 
term People strategy.  They are:  

• Mapping and evaluation of system capability including workforce requirements 
and gaps  

• Aligning Capability gap analysis of neighbourhoods to inform Wirral and local 
neighbourhood People and Organisational Development  delivery plans 

• Development of  Wirral People Strategy and Delivery Plan 
• Establishment and delivery of a research programme to evaluate the 

programme and methodology, to ensure shared learning across the Cheshire 
and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership footprint and beyond 

• Building on the system capability profiles  to develop a single system offer for 
new roles, aligned to our place and neighbourhood programme 

• Explore the opportunities for joint education and training programmes to support 
system organisational  and workforce development 

 
As these priorities develop, the intention is for a number of task and finish groups to be 
set up (supported by Healthy Wirral partners) to focus on specific initiatives. This is 
summarised in the following driver diagram, which sets out the potential areas of focus. 
 

Page 163



28 
 

 
System Financial Position 
 

 
 
The above table summarises the financial position for all partners within the Wirral 
Health System with a planned surplus of £1.1m however due to the level of unidentified 

People Strategy and Delivery Plan 

Relationships 

Support for Neighbourhoods/care communities 

Relationships, conversations and conflict 

Identify POD initiatives within partner 
organisations  

Capacity 

Map existing system capability 

KPIs (e.g. vacancies, turnover, absence) 

Demand v capacity modelling 

Recruitment 

Retention – Working Longer / flexible working 

Competence 

Talent Management and Succession Planning 

New and shared roles (includes patient, carer 
and third sector) 

Career pathways 

Leadership and Management 

Coaching and Mentoring (inc health and team 
coaching) 

Well-being 

Environment (links to Estates and 
IT workstreams) 

Org Design 

HR Policies and processes that support 
resolution 

Job design and structures 

WUTH WCT CWP (prop'n) WCCG System Total
£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

19/20 deficit before CIP/QIPP and  central monies (32,005) (1,995) (1,117) (24,245) (59,362)

CIP/QIPP 13,201 2,000 965 24,245 40,411

MRET central funding 6,282 6,282
PSF allocation 6,872 990 304 8,166
FRF allocation 5,650 5,650

19/20 Submitted Net Planned Surplus / (Deficit) 0 995 151 0 1,146

Risk adjustment (14,793) (14,793)

Risk adjusted Planned Surplus / (Deficit) 0 995 151 (14,793) (13,647)

Wirral System Summary (excl LA)

Page 164



29 
 

QIPP within the CCG breakeven plan there is a revised CCG risk adjusted deficit of 
£14.8m, and therefore a net system risk adjusted deficit of £13.6m.  
 
In order for provider organisations to secure additional central monies of £20m the 
financial deficit for the system lies with the CCG, with system savings schemes being 
identified on a net cost saving basis as opposed to full PBR tariff, along with in year 
support from the CCG at £4.5m to support WUTH in achieving their breakeven control 
total. 
 
Contract activity and financial baselines have been agreed which are aligned across 
the system, however a Memorandum of Understanding will be agreed between WUTH 
and WCCG to determine the approach to contract variances which will share the risk 
for both organisations. 
 
There are a number of organisational specific CIP/QIPP savings schemes (see 
efficiencies section below) within the plans, however there are a number of key system 
programmes which have been prioritised in 2019/20 for the following: 
 

• Unplanned Care – reduction in ED attendances and NEL admissions. 
• Planned Care – predominantly outpatient transformation. 
• Medicines Optimisation. 
• High Cost Packages of Care. 
• Neighbourhoods. 

 
The CIPP/QIPP table below highlights both the planned and risk adjusted CIP/QIPP 
savings which clearly demonstrates the unrealistic target of £40.4m (5.7% of the 
system budget) to achieve the required planned surplus of £1.1m. However to achieve 
the risk adjusted deficit of £13.6m still requires a significant challenge of £22.5m (3.2% 
of the system budget) which is in excess of both what is required within the planning 
guidance and what has been recurrently delivered in previous years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



30 
 

 
 
Although the risk adjusted plan for the system is a deficit of £13.6m in 2019/20 it 
clearly demonstrates the ambition of Wirral Partners to stretch the savings target for 
2019/20 at 3.2% and build upon this with collective responsibility across the system to 
achieve a balanced position over the coming years within the long term plan to be 
produced in the coming months. 
 
Efficiencies 
 
2019/20 operating plans include savings of £22.5m (risk adjusted) for all system 
partners. A high level summary for each partner is outlined below: 
 
WUTH £13.2m 

• Theatre productivity – predominantly reducing late starts and early finishes with 
more effective job planning and scheduling, reducing on the day cancellations to 
ensure delivery of planned activity and improve patient experience. 

• Patient Flow – to reduce length of stay by 25% for those over 7 days and 
increase morning discharges to 26% by fully embedding the SHOP approach to 
ward rounds, afternoon huddles, targeted date for discharge along with the 
introduction of capacity management software to provide real time bed state. 

• Outpatient re-design – to develop a programme of change to improve patient 
experience/outcomes including alternatives to traditional face to face clinics and 
move towards a paperless environment. 

• CNST – to demonstrate compliance against the ‘ten maternity safety actions’ to 
secure incentive payment. 

• Diagnostic Demand Management – to reduce unwarranted variation and reduce 
pathology tests initiated by the Trust by 20%. 

• Digital Transformation – predominantly reducing administrative tasks via a 
number of work streams including telephony, paperless outpatients and digital 
dictation. 

 
WCCG £6.3m 

• NEL admission reduction – focussed management of identified high intensity 
users within each neighbourhood (marginal cost reduction only at provider).  

WUTH WCT CWP (prop'n) WCCG System Total
£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Planned CIP/QIPP 13,201 2,000 965 24,245 40,411
Total Expd * 377,173 80,441 37,942 207,400 702,956
% CIP 3.5% 2.5% 2.5% 11.7% 5.7%

WUTH WCT CWP (prop'n) WCCG System Total
£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Identified/Risk Adjusted CIP/QIPP 13,201 2,000 965 6,304 22,470
Total Expd * 377,173 80,441 37,942 207,400 702,956
% CIP 3.5% 2.5% 2.5% 3.0% 3.2%

* CCG Expd budget represents total budget less Wirral Partner contract values

CIP/QIPP Planned

CIP/QIPP Risk Adjusted

Page 166



31 
 

• Right Care – focussing initially on Gastroenterology, Respiratory and CVD. 
• Prescribing – focussing on repeat ordering, efficiencies at care homes, cost 

effective alternatives and reducing variation in GP practices. 
• Running Costs – reducing costs via vacancy control, consultancy and non-pay 

costs. 
• Commissioned OOH – review packages of care, more cost effective 

procurement and operational improvements. 
 
WCT £2m 

• Clinical and Non Clinical transformation and redesign. 
• Non pay and procurement efficiencies. 

 
CWP £1m 

• Actions through the quality improvement strategy – reducing ‘burden’. 
• ICT efficiencies. 
• Corporate and administration review. 
• Pay budget and long term vacancy review. 
• Procurement efficiencies. 

 
In supporting the delivery of these plans, Healthy Wirral system partners have also 
committed to delivering future system sustainability, adopting the principles of the 
Capped Expenditure Programme; CEP-Lite. System efficiencies will be sought through 
the agency of the Healthy Wirral core and primary programmes and the delivery of 
effective place-based neighbourhood health and care approaches.   
 
Key system-wide efficiencies will be implemented in 2019/20 through an agreed whole 
system focus on the following priorities: 
o Outpatient redesign – delivering the reform required in the Long Term Plan and 

shifting services towards neighbourhoods/Primary Care Networks. 
o Non-Elective Admissions reform and improving flow through reduced Length of 

Stay predominantly for High Intensity Users. 
o Medicines Optimisation – working as a system to reduce waste, support effective 

prescribing and reduce cost. 
o Developing Neighbourhoods/Primary Care Networks as service delivery networks 

and shifting services towards them. 
o Further developing community out of hospital care approaches.  
 

2019/20 plans are being aligned with long term transformation priorities to ensure that 
change can be achieved that is sustainable at a system level 
 
Clear mechanisms have been established to ensure that the system is effectively 
monitoring the impact of efficiencies on the quality of care. The following key 
governance strands have been put in place to enable this: 

• Our nine neighbourhoods are co-ordinated by G.P co-ordinators, who are 
reviewing all plans and processes.  They are supported through monthly 

Page 167



32 
 

meetings with oversight from the CCG Medical Director 
• All programme boards for the key primary programmes have clinical oversight 

and leadership, for example the Planned Care Board is chaired by the CCG 
Medical Director 

• Wirral has developed an independent Clinical Senate to provide oversight, 
clinical leadership and challenge to programmes.  The senate has 
representation from across the clinical and professional community of Wirral 
health and care commissioning and provision. 

• All programmes are subject to Quality and Equality impact assessment 
processes established and overseen by the Director of Quality and Safety for 
Wirral Health and Care Commissioning 
 

 

  

Page 168



33 
 

Appendix 1: Healthy Wirral Plan on a Page 

PLACE Title Healthy Wirral  

PLACE 
purpose/vision 

To enable all people in Wirral to live longer and healthier lives by taking simple 
steps of their own to improve their health and wellbeing. By achieving this together 
we can provide the very best health and social care services when people really 
need them, as close to home as possible’ 

Why are we doing 
this? 

Wirral has significant population health challenges. We have an ageing population 
and significant variation in health and wellbeing outcomes across our geography. 
Demand on the system is increasing and without significant transformation there 
will be insufficient funding to maintain the quality and standards that we want our 
population to experience. 

How are we going 
to do it? 

We will take a place-based system approach to transforming our services to ensure 
they meet the changing needs of our population and allow us to deliver safe and 
effective care within the resources available to us. We will do this by: 

1. Acting as One: Exemplified in actions and behaviours. Delivering net 
system benefit 

2. Clinical Sustainability: Sustainable, high quality, appropriately staffed, 
organisationally agnostic services. 

3. Improving Population Health: Delivering the Healthy Wirral outcomes 
around better care and better health using a place based approach. 

4. Financial Sustainability: Managing with our allocation, taking cost out, 
avoiding costs, delivering efficiency and better value 

5. Effective Engagement - working with our public and patients to promote 
self-care by involving them in all decisions made about them. 

How we will work 
together? 

• We will actively engage and work collaboratively and in good faith at all times 
in connection with the Healthy Wirral programme and be open, honest and 
transparent in all dealings.  

• We will jointly own the financial challenge and any agreed actions to address 
this and put mechanisms in place to ensure patient safety is not put at risk.    

• We will ensure the effective stewardship of financial resources and will share 
skills, knowledge, experience and resources effectively and in a prioritised way 
to sustainably deliver the best possible health and care outcomes for the 
people of Wirral.  

• We will engage effectively with clinicians and operational leads across the 
system, to deliver transformational change through the development of place-
based, clinically effective and organisationally agnostic health and care 
pathways.  We will work collectively and in partnership with Wirral people to 
deliver improved population health. 

What will be the 
outcome(s)? 

Big 5 – larger deliverables (require more 
investment/potentially more sensitive/controversial) 

Fast 5 – JDI’s/quick wins 

Wirral Organisational Development 
strategy implemented to deliver 
integrated place–based care 

Effective Neighbourhood based 
operating model 

Integrated Urgent Care Transformation Reduction in Non-elective admissions 
and ED attendances for frail and high 
intensity service users 

Sustainable financial strategy Improved care and value outcomes 
through the implementation of Medicines 
Optimisation approaches 

Implementation of Population Health 
Programme and full adoption of the 
Wirral Care Record 

Improved care outcomes and efficiency 
through shared service approaches 
within neighbourhoods 

Page 169



34 
 

Improved patient experience and 
increased care closer to home through 
Out-patient redesign 

Identification of key specialties and 
pathways for redesign in 2019/20 based 
on Right Care and GIRFT data. 

What will the 
benefits be? 

• Children are supported to have a healthy start in life 
• People are supported to have a good quality of life 
• Inequalities in healthy life expectancy are reduced 
• People are supported  to be as independent as possible, and when they need care can 

access timely responsive and high quality care and support, and have informed choice 
and control over services 

• People feel safe and respected  and are kept safe and free from avoidable harm 
• People and their families can access jargon free information and are engaged in the 

setting of their outcomes and the management of their care, from organisations that talk 
to each other 

• People are supported by skilled staff, delivering seamless, person centred care 
• People access acute care only when they need to 
• Financial Balance is achieved 
• People can access shared and integrated information 
• Interventions happen earlier to prevent health problems 

Main Milestones 

Milestone: By When: 
Healthy Wirral System Operational Plan April 2019 
Healthy Wirral 5 Year System Sustainability Strategy Autumn 2019 
  

Interdependencies 

Which other programmes or outputs is 
the Place programme reliant upon? 

What will the Place programme enable 
elsewhere in the health system? 

Carter at Scale (Non-clinical) 
programme 

Shared learning around Place based 
workforce strategy 

Cardio-vascular programme Health and Care Integration 
Workforce Programme Shared learning on Neighbourhood 

Leadership development 
 

Page 170



 

Neighbourhoods 

   

2020/21  Create Leadership model framework for 
Neighbourhoods in context of PCN’s 

 Work closely with the community and voluntary sector 
to understand what increased capacity is required 

 Develop agreed TOM (Y1) 

 Population health - Integrating system (Health & Care) 
(Y1) 

 Neighbourhoods have clear priorities and support 

 Population health issues are identified by 
neighbourhood 

 Neighbourhood priorities feed into a neighbourhood 
delivery plan 

 Population health improvements 

2021/22  Development of Neighbourhood operating model: 
- Integrated infrastructure fully operational 

(Y2) continues to develop and working 
relationships between neighbourhoods and 
PCN’s clear 

 Integrated efforts to improve population health 

 

2022/23 (2 year programme which finishes end of year 2020/21. All transformation embedded and into Business as Usual 
delivery starting 2021/22) 2023/24 

Children and Families 

Timescale Actions 
 

Outcomes 

2020/21  Ensure effective implementation and localisation of 

new 0-19s service (core Healthy Child Programme) 

 

 Implement HPV vaccination programme for all boys 

aged 12 and 13 years 

 

 

 Re-procure Community Midwifery service 

 
 

 Implement a Family Nurse Partnership-led pilot to 

support families with complex needs (including 

 Effective and timely support from Health Visitors, 

School Nurses and Family Nurses 

 

 Reduction of HPV infections amongst boys that may 

cause specific cancers. Reduction in spread of HPV 

infections to girls. 

 

 Safe and effective midwifery care within the 

community 

 

 Breaking the cycle of ‘trauma’. Reduction in family 

breakdown, social care intervention, health and care 

P
age 171



 

adverse childhood experiences) 

 

 Implement the new Mental Health Support Teams 

across 43 Primary Schools in the 40% Lower Super 

Output Areas  

 

 Develop community support offer for children and 

young people with autism 

 
 Evaluate ‘Family Connector’ model and build business 

case for expansion if required 

 
 

 Review risk-management offer to young people  

service usage 

 

 Children and Young People able to access fast and 

effective support for low-level mental health issues 

 

 

 More appropriate support within the community as 

oppose to hospital admission at time of crisis 

 

 Families accessing low-level practical support, 

avoiding the need for more intrusive, expensive 

intervention 

 

2021/22  Empower frontline staff to work in ‘trauma-informed’ 

way and drive ‘Be The Difference’ across key frontline 

staff groups 

 

 Develop a community ‘deal’ for Children, Young 

People and Families 

 

 

 Using the evidence from the Family Nurse Partnership 

pilot, expand support to vulnerable families with 

complex needs (NOTE: This will need to be driven as a 

priority across all 5 years of plan) 

 

 Increase ‘Continuity of Carer’ performance for local 

maternity services, with particular emphasis on BME 

and disadvantaged women 

 Issues resolved in a more timely and practical 

manner. Reduction in ’pass it on’ culture. Increased 

job satisfaction 

 

 Families taking responsibility where appropriate, 

leading to increased resilience and less reliance on 

statutory services 

 

 Families avoid crisis, breakdown, need for social and 

health care interventions. Children grow up free from 

legacy of adverse childhood experiences 

 

 

 Increased continuity of care leading to less 

miscarriages and pre-term births. Greater satisfaction 

for clients and staff 

 

P
age 172



 

 Develop more integrated risk-management offer for 

young people 

 

 Reduction of duplication, increasing efficiencies of 

resource use, smoother pathway for young people 

 

2022/23  Review treatment pathway for children with severe 
complications related to their obesity, such as 
diabetes, cardiovascular conditions, sleep apnoea and 
poor mental health 
 

 Evaluate mental health crisis care delivery for children 
and young people 

 More children treated appropriately for complications 
due to obesity 

 
 
 

 More accessible support at times of mental health 

crisis 

2023/24  Ensure that local women have access to their 
maternity notes/advice and information through their 
smart phones or other devices 
 

 Increase availability of postnatal physiotherapy 

 Women enabled to make choices about their care 
and access services and information in a more 
convenient and efficient way. 
 

 Less women experiencing mild to moderate 
incontinence and prolapse 

 

Planned Care 

When will we do 
it? 

What Will we do? What will be different? 

2020/21 Respiratory:  
Admission Avoidance: 
• Development of community offer  
Prevention: 
• Air quality and Air Pollution - Link with Health 

Connectors  
• Advice on healthy eating and exercise 
Management: 
• Virtual clinic/ advice and guidance business model 

for patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD). 

Diagnosis: 
• Dual screening for lung cancer and COPD 
 

• High quality, safe services delivered consistently 

• Improvement in referral to treatment times in line 

with national targets 

• Quality premium will be achieved if e-referral 

utilisation increases  

• Lower ‘Did Not Attend’ rates, reduce need for 

return visits 

• Move towards tier 2 services that are capable and 

resourced to triage all primary and consultant to 

P
age 173



 

Long Term Conditions:  
Healthy Wirral Review: 
• Phase 2, Development of a Long Term Conditions 

Community Model of Care 
 
Endoscopy: 
• Pilot Referral Assessment System (RAS) for 

referral triage 
• Review GIRFT (Get It Right First Time) data and 
agree actions 
• Monitor referral rates and provide referral guidance 

and support as appropriate 
• Undertake data analysis and ensure effective 

referral 
 
Ophthalmology: 
• Review options for E-referral by Community 

providers directly to providers 
• Explore opportunities for E-consult and electronic 

interfaces between community and secondary care 
to undertake pre-referral assessment 

• Seek further opportunities to “shift left” 
• Implementation of new ophthalmology model  
• Effective triage within the community to support 

right place, right time. 
 
Stroke Pathway Improvement: 
• Improve the use of self-care and early diagnosis 

technology for Atrial Fibrillation to avoid emergency 
admissions and strokes 

• Improved outcomes for patients on Wirral from 
preventative diagnostics and reduced strokes on 
Wirral Enhanced Early Supported Discharge model 
of care to be agreed 

• Delivery of the targets in the Long Term Plan 

consultant referrals 

• Clinic space released for agreed alternative use; 

consultant workload altered 

• Improved reported patient satisfaction of 

outpatient care 

• Delivery of patient choice of first outpatient 

appointment 

• Better patient experience 

• Optimal rates for virtual outpatient clinics 

• Increase use of advice and guidance/ advice only 

referrals  and reduction of  face to face first 

outpatient appointments  

• Reduction of need for face to face follow up 

appointments  and increase in non-face to face 

approaches 

• Reduction in consultant to consultant referrals 

and increase in primary care appointments 

• Reduce unnecessary hospital visits through acute 

hospital efficiencies and adoption of best practice, 

supporting delivery of national standards. 

• Reduce avoidable hospital visits where care could 

be supported or provided more appropriately or 

effectively elsewhere. 

P
age 174



 

relating to Stroke 
 
Nephrology:   
Reduction of referrals: 
• Continue to monitor new referral pathway  

Cardiovascular:  
 
Cancer:  
Prevention: 
• All boys aged 12 and 13 to be offered the Human 

Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccination 
Early Detection: 
• new faster diagnosis standard for cancer will begin 

to be introduced so that patients receive a definitive 
diagnosis or ruling out of cancer within 28 days  

• Work with Public Health England to develop a plan 
for extension of the bowel cancer screening 
programme, to cover reduction in age to 50, and 
increase in sensitivity level  

• Support Cheshire & Merseyside Cancer Alliance to 
establish one RDC for the region  

• Continue rollout of HPV primary screening for 
cervical cancer 

• Support  the Cancer Alliance in the rollout of Faecal 
Immunochemical Test (FIT) in the bowel screening 
programme 

Follow up pathway: 
• All breast cancer patients will move to a 

personalised (stratified) follow-up pathway once 
their treatment end 

• Colorectal and Prostate cancer patients will move 
to a personalised (stratified) follow-up pathway 
once their treatment ends. 

 
Outpatient Redesign: 

• Impact on carbon emissions via reduced patient 

travel 

P
age 175



 

• Continuation of Advice and Guidance (e-RS RAS) 
6 Month Trial – Gynaecology, ENT and Renal – 
Wallasey PCN (North Coast Alliance) and 
Birkenhead PCN (Arno Primary Care Alliance) 

• Review and widespread rollout to remaining PCN’s 
• Continue to support and enable Wirral University 

Teaching Hospitals (WUTH) and GP’s to 
collaborate together to find agreement on  devising 
novel new treatment pathways in: 

- Nephrology 
- Urology 
- Haematology 
- Orthopaedics (part of MSK) 
- Ophthamology 

• Refer to, and implement where appropriate, the 
ideas and suggestions put forward in the published 
NHS England Elective Care Guides. 

• Engage with the Cheshire & Merseyside 
Programme work streams and implement their 
solution design appropriate to Wirral: 

- Dermatology 
- End of Life 
- Endoscopy (Gastrointestinal) 
- Haematology 
- Nephrology 
- Ophthalmology 
- Orthopaedics (part of MSK) 
- Urology 

 
End of Life: 
• In conjunction with “Place” review the education, 

training and support needs of the system with a 
particular focus on Personalisation and early 
identification. 

• Review electronic records, identifying initiatives to 

P
age 176



 

improve information flow to ensure a quality 
package of care within the integrated system. 

• Implement “Place” initiatives identified in the year 1 
planning process and monitor progress through 
QOF 

• Monitor process against Year 1 initiatives, 
developing further as required. 

 
Dermatology: 
• Continue to monitor and evaluate pilot study for 

treating dermatology patients in Primary Care 

2021/22 Long Term Conditions:  
Healthy Wirral Review: 
• Phase 2, Development of a Long Term Conditions 

Community Model of Care 
 
Cardiovascular Disease:  
• Early response: improve community first response 

and build defibrillator networks to improve survival 
from out of hospital cardiac arrest 

 
Cancer: 
Follow up pathway: 
• Identify other cancer patients that could benefit 

from a personalised (stratified) follow-up pathway 
once their treatment end 

 
Early Detection: 
• Targeted Lung Health Checks Programme 

(continuation) 
 
End of Life: 
• Support the wider system to provide enhanced 

levels of support and care through for example 
education and training with a clear emphasis on 

 

P
age 177



 

“place” at the heart of patient pathways e.g. care 
homes, community assets, carers. 

• Review access to Specialist Palliative Care to 
ensure it is robust and meets the needs of patients 
and the wider system 

• Ensure case reviews and peer reviews are 
undertaken within Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 
to support the identification of further improvements  

• Monitor process against Year 2 initiatives, 
implementing and developing further as required. 

 
Outpatient Redesign: 
• Continuation of Advice and Guidance (e-RS RAS) 

6 Month Trial – Gynaecology, ENT and Renal – 
Wallasey PCN (North Coast Alliance) and 
Birkenhead PCN (Arno Primary Care Alliance) 

• Review and widespread rollout to remaining PCN’s 
• Continue to support and enable WUTH and GP’s to 

collaborate together to find agreement on  devising 
the novel new treatment pathways: 

• Refer to, and implement where appropriate, the 
ideas and suggestions put forward in the published 
NHS England Elective Care Guides. 

• Engage with the Cheshire & Merseyside 
Programme work streams and implement their 
solution design appropriate to Wirral: 

 
Gastro / Endoscopy: 
• Review opportunities relating to shared decision 

making and self-management 
• Review impact of Direct access fibroscan 
• Review impact of community based fibroscan pilot. 

2022/23 Long Term Conditions:  
Healthy Wirral Review: 
• Phase 2, Development of a Long Term Conditions 

 

P
age 178



 

Community Model of Care 
 
Cancer:  
Early Detection: 
• Targeted Lung Health Checks Programme  
Outpatients: 

 Stratified, follow-up pathways for people who are 
worried their cancer may have recurred. These will 
be in place for all clinically appropriate cancers. 

 
End of Life: 
• Ensure equal access is integral to plans at “Place” 

level.    
• Develop volunteer networks within the “Place” 

model to support patients and carers throughout 
the pathway.  Ensure robust education and training 
to maximise the support give.   

• Ensure equal access is integral to planning at 
“Place” level.   Review access to Palliative and End 
of Life Care and the patient experience with 
consideration to factors that impact equal access, 
for example: deprivation, homelessness, learning 
disabilities, and dementia.   

• Monitor process against Year 3 initiatives, 
implementing and developing further as required. 

 
Outpatient Redesign: 
• Embed new ideas and processes 
• Continue to review and develop policies. 
• Continue to support and enable WUTH and GP’s to 

collaborate together to find agreement on  devising 
the novel new treatment pathways 

• Refer to, and implement where appropriate, the 
ideas and suggestions put forward in the published 
NHS England Elective Care Guides. 

P
age 179



 

• Engage with the Cheshire & Merseyside 
Programme work streams and implement their 
solution design appropriate to Wirral: 

2023/24 Long Term Conditions:  
Healthy Wirral Review: 
• Phase 2, Development of a Long Term Conditions 

Community Model of Care 
 
Cancer: 
Early Detection 
• Targeted Lung Health Checks Programme 
 
Outpatients: 
• Stratified, follow-up pathways for people who are 

worried their cancer may have recurred. These will 
be in place for all clinically appropriate cancers. 

 
End of Life: 
• Develop champions within Primary Care Networks 

to further embed enhanced services, whilst 
identifying on –going development of services at 
“Place” level.  

• Monitor process against Year 4 initiatives, 
implementing and developing further as required. 

 
Outpatient Redesign: 
• Embed new ideas and processes 
• Continue to review and develop policies. 
• Continue to support and enable WUTH and GP’s to 

collaborate together to find agreement on  devising 
the novel new treatment pathways 

• Refer to, and implement where appropriate, the 
ideas and suggestions put forward in the published 
NHS England Elective Care Guides. 

• Engage with the Cheshire & Merseyside 

 

P
age 180



 

Programme work streams and implement their 
solution design appropriate to Wirral: 

 

Unplanned Care 

When will we do 
it? 

What Will we do? What will be different? 

2020/21 Agree the clinical model and estate design for the new 
“Hospital upgrade project” through active engagement of 
all economy partners. 
Commence procurement exercise for “hospital upgrade 
project) – Spring 2021 
Reduce bed occupancy to 95% 
Reduce patients in hospital 21 days by 50% 
Implement community urgent care pathway with single 
clinical governance 
Implementation of phase 1 pre-UTC of a single minor 
injuries and minor illness service provision at Arrowe Park 
site 
Further development of SPA offer and the link with Clinical 
Assessment Service – to include ensuring interoperability 
To meet requirements of Same Day Emergency Care  
Review of new clinical standards and whether 
improvement in service delivery is required 
Increase use of tele health in the admission avoidance and 
discharge pathways 
To implement revised ‘two hub’ model for Intermediate 
care  
Reduce length of stay in intermediate care beds 
Capacity and demand model – expand across system and 
review of acuity levels 
 
 
 
 
 

Reduce number of beds in hospital – closure of one ward 
Reduce risks to patients due to prolonged hospital stay 
such as deconditioning leading to increase in physical 
dependency 
Better patient experience 
Consistent pathways 
Increase patient’s independence and ability to remain in 
their own bed and home.  
To meet constitutional standards linked to urgent care 
To improve efficiencies in both clinical resource and also 
financial resource 
 

P
age 181



 

 
 

2021/22 Development of a full Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at 
Arrowe Park Hospital site 
Elimination of patients in hospital 21 days 
Review of MDT and pathways and new innovative ways of 
integrating therapies 
Further development of telehealth 
Link with Primary Care Networks in the admission 
avoidance and discharge pathways 
Market shaping and development of the domiciliary care 
market – including recruitment and retention of staff and 
development of an integrated workforce model.  
Award construction contract for “hospital upgrade project” 
– Late Summer 2021 

Reduce number of beds in hospital – closure of one 
ward. 
Meet winter pressures within existing capacity 
Increase patients independence and ability to remain in 
their own bed and home.  
To meet constitutional standards linked to urgent care 
To improve efficiencies in both clinical resource and also 
financial resource 
Reduce risks to patients due to prolonged hospital stay 
such as deconditioning leading to increase in physical 
dependency 
Better patient experience 
Consistent pathways 
 

2022/23 Implement UTC via new build at Arrowe Park Hospital site 
Maintain elimination of 21 day hospital stays 
Integrated capacity tracking across the whole system 
Opening of “hospital upgrade project” redesigned Estate at 
Arrowe Park Hospital site – Late summer 2022 

Increase patients independence and ability to remain in 
their own bed and home.  
To meet constitutional standards linked to urgent care 
To improve efficiencies in both clinical resource and also 
financial resource 
Reduce risks to patients due to prolonged hospital stay 
such as deconditioning leading to increase in physical 
dependency 
Better patient experience 
Consistent pathways 
 

2023/24 Maintain elimination of 21 day hospital stays 
Telehealth embedded in admission avoidance and 
discharge pathways 
Centralised acute service across the two hospital sites – 
Clatterbridge Hospital being the centre for planned non-
complex care 

Increase patients independence and ability to remain in 
their own bed and home.  
To meet constitutional standards linked to urgent care 
To improve efficiencies in both clinical resource and also 
financial resource 
Reduce risks to patients due to prolonged hospital stay 
such as deconditioning leading to increase in physical 
dependency 

P
age 182



 

Better patient experience 
Consistent pathways 
 

Mental Health 

When will we do 
it? 

What Will we do? What will be different? 

2020/21 Perinatal Mental Health 

• Review and develop existing specialist perinatal care 
to: 
- Ensure increased access for women from pre 

conception to 24months post birth. 
- Offer an assessment to partners of women 

accessing specialist care to enable support and 
signposting as required.  

 
• In partnership with Insight Concern develop a pilot of 

maternity outreach clinic to combine maternity, 
reproductive health and psychological therapies for 
women experiencing mental health difficulties  

 
Children and Young People 
• Undertake baseline assessment of access rates of 0-

18 and 18-25 accessing funded mental health 
services in 18/19 and 19/20. 
 

• Increase access to wider NHS funded services 
through the Children & Young People (CYP) pathway 
launch and wider communication campaign.  
 

• Maintain existing Eating disorder standards for 
assessment and treatment. 
 

• Pilot and implement joint working with adult liaison 
and street triage service to widen access for CYP 
crisis care. 

 
Women and their partners will receive the emotional 
health and wellbeing support required from pre 
conception up to 2years post birth. 
 
Improvement in sustained family relationships. 
 
Support new parents with maintaining everyday activities 
and return to work where appropriate. 
New parents wider health needs are met in one setting 
with multi-agency work.  
 
 
 
 
Robust mental health pathway to meet needs of 0-25 
cohort. 
 
 
Clear understanding across Wirral population of how and 
where to access support including early help and 
prevention.   
 
CYP with an eating disorder are assessed and treated in 
a timely manner and to maximise recovery.  
  
Increased crisis provision and points of access for CYP 
in urgent mental health need. 
 

P
age 183



 

 
• Continue to refresh the CYP Long Term Plan on an 

annual basis through the ‘Future in Mind’ steering 
group and multi-agency commitments from 
Partnership for Children and Families strategy.  
 

• Review alignment of Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) agenda in line with CYP Mental 
health and identify robust action plans to align 
strategic planning.  
 

• Consider national and regional guidance regarding 
the implementation and alignment of services for 0-25 
and develop project scope for implementation.  

 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
and Common mental health problems 
• Undertake a targeted focus of older adults access 

levels  
 

• Fully implement Long term Conditions IAPT pathways 
in at least 4 condition pathways  
 

• Ensure delivery of referral treatment times and 
recovery targets.  

 
Adult Severe Mental Illnesses (SMI) Community Care 
• Implement the recommendations from the physical 

health and Mental health task and finish group to 
deliver an integrated care model in line with the 
neighbourhoods, initially focusing on SMI.  
 

• Consider the recommendations from the Cheshire & 
Merseyside (C&M) Personality disorder work stream 
in delivering new models of care across C&M for this 

 
Partnership plan to deliver improved MH outcomes for 
CYP which is aligned across different strategic directions.  
 
 
 
Improved visibility and oversight within MH planning of 
the needs of SEND. 
 
 
 
Improved support for 18-25 cohort who are not ready to 
transition to adult services.  
 
 
 
 
Increased number of older adults accessing IAPT with an 
improvement in overall health and well-being.  
 
Integrated MH and physical health delivery pathways to 
improve holistic needs of patients.  
 
Patients are seen within national referral to treatment 
timeframes and improvement in recovery and longer term 
outcomes for wellbeing.  
 
Patients will have their physical and mental health needs 
met within a primary care setting.  
 
 
 
Improved community model for support for people with a 
personality disorder and a reduction in out of area, high 
cost placements  

P
age 184



 

patient group.  
 

• Implement the SMI shared care guidance and mental 
health registry to increase numbers of physical health 
checks undertaken for people with an SMI. 
 

• Monitor the implementation of the IPS service 
launched in Oct 19 and the numbers of people 
accessing IPS.  
 

• Continue to achieve the Early Intervention (EI) 
standards and ensure data quality issues affecting 
performance in 2019 have been resolved.  
 

• Monitor CWP EI action plan to deliver National 
Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) concordance 
supported through the additional investment 
committed in 2019/20.  

 
Mental Health Crisis Care and Liaison 
• Implement the enhanced Crisis resolution & Home 

Treatment (CRHT) service for adults in line with 
additional investment and transformation bid. 
 

• Further commitments are outlined in CYP section.  
 
Therapeutic Acute Mental Health Inpatient Care 
• Continue to maintain no out of area bed usage for 

CWP. 
 

• Undertake a review of bed status given East Cheshire 
community redesign and escalation status of inpatient 
services during 2019, ensuring appropriate bed usage 
and capacity to meet demand. 

 

 
 
Numbers of people with a SMI receiving a physical health 
check will increase which will improve life expectancy 
and reduce premature mortality and other conditions.  
 
Individuals with a SMI are supported to return to 
employment or training as appropriate. 
 
 
People with a diagnosis of EIP are seen within the 
national timeframes to support quality care delivery and 
avoidance of deterioration. 
 
Service staffed in line with NICE guidance.  
 
 
 
 
 
People in Mental health crisis have their needs met 
within the local community and without having to attend 
A&E  
 
 
  
 
Patients and families have a better experience of 
inpatient care as they do not have to travel to receive 
specialist treatment.  
 
Ensure the appropriate number of beds are available to 
meet demand, considering any trends with admissions.  
 
 

P
age 185



 

Suicide Reduction and Bereavement Support 
• Continue through the Crisis Care Concordat to 

monitor the progress of the Wirral Suicide reduction 
programme and consider any wider C&M benefits. 

• Align our actions on Wirral to support the 
achievement of the C&M goal for zero suicides  

 
Problem Gambling mental health support  
• Monitor existing gambling provision from Beacon 

Trust and CAB gambling programme to consider 
demand and capacity.  

 
Rough sleepers  
• Understand opportunities for co-commissioning of 

homeless provision across PC, MH and Public health 
contracts  

 
Place Addition  
• Establish shadow arrangements for Integrated 

Provider with delegated commissioning functions 

 
Reduce the numbers of incidents of suicide across 
Wirral. 
 
 
 
 
 
Understand local population gambling habits to 
commission appropriate gambling service provision.  
 
 
 
Robust integrated provision for rough sleepers that 
combines housing, social, mental and physical health 
needs.  
 
 
Proposed shadow year for testing an Integrated Provider 
model to include delegated commissioning functions 

2021/22 Perinatal Mental Health 
• Review outcome and learning of pilot from maternity 

outreach clinics and implement fully.  
 
Children and Young People 
• Consider opportunities for alignment of NHS 111 (2) 

and CYP advice line. 
• Pilot inclusion of CYP delivery into CRHT and 

consider any alignment with CYP assertive outreach 
teams.  

• Consider use of Beyond Places of Safety (BPOS) 
(Spider project) for 15-18 cohort and review any 
alternative provision required to provide alternative to 
Accident and Emergency Department for CYP.  

• Review CYP approach re addictive gaming habits as 

 
Understand opportunities to fully implement wider 
maternity outreach clinic.  
 
 
Single point of access for mental health crisis for all 
ages.  
 
More CYP will be supported in the community and 
reduced need for inpatient admission.  
 
CYP will be able to access alternative crisis provision 
and reduced need to attend A&E.  
 
Increased awareness of long term effects of gaming and 

P
age 186



 

part of wider Partnerships for Children and families 
strategy and link to future planning for gambling 
clinics.  

 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
and Common mental health problems 
• Maintain delivery of all national IAPT standards. 

 
Therapeutic Acute Mental Health Inpatient Care 
• Consider therapeutics outcomes and average bed 

usage to drive forward reduction to 32 days.  
 
Rough sleepers  
• Develop options appraisal and explore opportunities 

for additional funding to support specialist provision 
for rough sleepers. 

 
Place Addition 
• Shadow arrangements for Integrated Provider with 

delegated commissioning functions 

risks relating to gambling.  
 
 
 
 
 
Wirral population receive timely access to IAPT services.  
 
 
Improved experience for people admitted to an inpatient 
bed.  
 
 
Rough sleepers have improved access to specialist 
provision. 
 
 
 
Proposed implementation of Integrated Provider with 
delegated commissioning functions 

2022/23 Children and Young People 
• Undertake final evaluation of CYP crisis care 

requirements and delivery options and develop 
clinical pathways to meet requirements for all age 
crisis care service.  

 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
and Common mental health problems 
• Maintain delivery of all national IAPT standards. 
 
Adult Severe Mental Illnesses (SMI) Community Care  
• Consider wider community integration for PD, Mental 

Health rehabilitation and Eating disorders with primary 
care – specifically evaluating the learning from SMI.  

 

 
Robust clinical pathway for all age crisis service. 
 
 
 
 
 
Wirral population receive timely access to IAPT services.  
 
 
 
Improved community provision of specialist services.  
 
 
 

P
age 187



 

Suicide Reduction and Bereavement Support  
• Consider scope of existing bereavement and third 

sector suicide bereavement support and develop 
options appraisal to deliver requirement of suicide 
bereavement support services.  Engage in wider C&M 
work stream discussions re this agenda. 

•  Align our actions on Wirral to support the 
achievement of the C&M goal for zero suicides  

 
Problem Gambling mental health support  
• Pilot early help/prevention approach to CYP and 

families relating to gambling and gaming addiction.  
 
Rough sleepers  
• Pilot rough sleepers Mental Health provision services 

considering links with housing, social care and MH 
services. 

 
People who have been bereaved by suicide will receive 
targeted support. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CYP and families receive targeted support and 
awareness relating to gambling. 
 
 
Robust integrated provision for rough sleepers that 
combines housing, social, mental and physical health 
needs. 

2023/24 Children and Young People 
• Successfully implement 24/7 all age crisis services inc 

CYP.  
 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
and Common mental health problems 
• Maintain delivery of all national IAPT standards 

 
Problem Gambling mental health support  
• Ensure the implementation of gambling clinics for 

specialist problem gambling treatment 

CYP receive the same level of crisis support as adults.  
 
 
 
Wirral population receive timely access to IAPT services.  
 
 
 
CYP and families receive targeted support and 
awareness relating to gambling. 
 

Learning Disabilities and Autism 

When will we do 
it? 

What Will we do? What will be different? 

2020/21 Maintain reduction in inpatient bed base for both children 
and adults 
 
 

More community services for people with learning 
disabilities and/ or autism who display behaviour that 
challenges, including those with a mental health 
condition. (Building the Right Support, BRS, NHS Long 

P
age 188



 

 
 
 
 
 
Ensure community services are robust and can provide the 
right care at the right time in the right environment. 
 
 
 
 
Annual Health Checks 
 
Increase in the use of technology 
 
 
 
Housing - Ensure we have good quality and appropriate 
accommodation to meet the needs of our local population. 

Term Plan & Transforming Care (TCP)) 
 
Utilise DSD to maximise required effect and become 
more preventative and less reactive. 
 
Reduced admissions & facilitate timely discharges. Les 
reliance on inpatient facilities  
Improve people’s quality of life and ensure that nobody 
loses one day in the community than is necessary for 
their good health and well-being. 

Decreased mortality rates and increased quality of life 
 
Increase people’s ability to remain in the community and 
increase self-management and independence where 
possible. 
 
Reduction in failed placements and increase in meeting 
individual needs/outcomes 

2021/22 Maintain reduction in inpatient bed base for both children 
and adults 
 
 
 
Actions to improve the accuracy of GP registers to support 
the delivery of Annual Health Checks  
 
Continuation of research into, and deployment of 
technology 
 
 
Housing - Ensure we have good quality and appropriate 
accommodation to meet the needs of our local population. 

The development and sustainability of ISF would be to 
ensure providers have the required skills to meet 
individual needs and maintain their aptitude for their 
clients to remain within a community setting. 
 
Decreased mortality rates and increased quality of life 
 
 
There is a range of technology to support people to 
maintain their independence and be supported in the 
community 
 
A robust and responsive market that will enable them to 
support people in the community. 

2022/23 Work towards having an increase in screening numbers to 
support Annual Health Checks  

Decreased mortality rates and increased quality of life 
 

P
age 189



 

2023/24 Maintain reduction in inpatient bed base for both children 
and adults 
 
 
 
 
Continue work towards achieving national targets for 
Annual Health Checks 
 
Increase technology 
 
 
Housing - Ensure we have good quality and appropriate 
accommodation to meet the needs of our local population. 
 

Robust all age community services to ensure that 
admission to hospital is the exception. 
 
 
 
 
Decreased mortality rates and increased quality of life 
 
 
A wider range of technology available to support all 
aspects of people remaining in the community. 
 
People will have a home within their community, to be 
able to develop and maintain relationships, and get the 
support they need to live healthy, safe and rewarding 
lives. 
 
 

Getting the Best from Medicines in Wirral 
When will we do 
it? 

What Will we do? What will be different? 

2020/21 Develop an integrated service to deliver medicines 

optimisation without boundaries 

 

 

 

Respond and support as a system the changes in the 

community pharmacy contract (Community Pharmacy 

Contractual Framework – CPCF) (Year2) moving 

community pharmacy into a more integrated central role 

within primary care, enabling the sector to help to deliver 

the ambitions set out within the NHS Long Term Plan 

including referrals from GP surgeries and NHS11 online 

Pharmacy services, working as one to realise quality 

outcomes for patients, safety management systems 

within medicines processes and cost savings for the 

system. 

 

Utilise the planned changes to optimise medicines 

optimisation in Wirral Place 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 190



 

 

Support the new GP contract (Year 2) 

1. supporting prescribing safety with(a) the 

expansion of clinical pharmacists in general 

practice; (b) the nationally-backed roll-out of the 

pharmacist-led information technology intervention 

for medical errors (PINCER or equivalent) by the 

AHSNs35; (c) the drive to tackle polypharmacy for 

complex patients, including in care homes; and (d) 

the quality payment scheme for community 

pharmacy 

2. Support the new national structured medication 

review and care homes requirements.  

3. The expansion of clinical pharmacists working in 

networks. 

 
Support the Anti-Microbial Resistance 5 year strategy 

working closely with the population health work stream 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Waste – Review dispensing for Care Homes and 

Domiciliary care providers to reduce the need for blister 

packs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increase the numbers of pharmacists maximising 

medicines outcomes in primary care networks 

 

Reduce antibiotic consumption across the place 

Reduce the proportion of broad spectrum antibiotics 

prescribed 

Gain a greater understanding of formulary compliance 

across the system 

Public facing messages prepared and co-orindated 

collaboratively 

Reduce the number of blister packs in 

the system 

 

Improve safety of medicines administration in care 

settings 

 

P
age 191



 

 

System wide response to the Medicines Safety Assurance 

Model 

 

Optimise medicines for patients in care homes through 

medication use review 

 

TCAMs extend project to increase benefits. Medicines 

reconciliation will form part of this from the CPCF 

 

Extend not dispensed scheme to maximise savings 

 

Extend to DOAC work to include all DOAC preparations 

 

National guidance followed in Wirral Place 

 

 

Continue to improve prescribing and enhance 

mediciness optimisation 

 

 

Increase numbers, decrease bed days 

 

Reduce wasted medicines 

 

All DOAC patients will be prescribed most appropriate 

cost effective medicine for their condition 

2021/22 Support the new GP contract (Year 3) 
1. Mental Health focus 
2. CVD and inequalities requirement 

 
 

Respond and support as a system the changes in the 
community pharmacy contract (year 3) moving community 
pharmacy into a more integrated central role within primary 
care, enabling the sector to help to deliver the ambitions 
set out within the NHS Long Term Plan including referrals 
from urgent treatment centres, potential national case 
finding service for CVD and expansion of new medicines 
service 
 
AMR 5 year strategy (covered in Population Health 
Programme). Consider the need for Wirral place to have a 
system wide Antimicrobial Stewardship Pharmacist 
 
Delivery of QIPP/CIP programmes with multi-sector 

Review how Pharmacy Medicines Optimisation can 
support PCNs and wider primary Care to implement 
these changes focussing on in year priorities 
 
 
Utilise the planned changes to optimise Medicines 
Optimisation in Wirral Place 

P
age 192



 

support as detailed by individual stakeholders 

2022/23 Support the new GP contract (Year4) 
 

 

Support the new Community Pharmacy Contract (Year 4) 
 
AMR 5 year strategy (covered in Population Health 
Programme 
 
Delivery of QIPP/CIP programmes with multi-sector 
support as detailed by individual stakeholders 

Review how Pharmacy Medicines Optimisation can 
support PCNs and wider primary Care to implement 
these changes focussing on in year priorities 
 
Utilise the planned changes to optimise Medicines 
Optimisation in Wirral Place 

2023/24 Support the new GP contract (Year 5). Networks will have 
5 clinical pharmacists. Review of prescribing incentive 
schemes 
 
Support the new Community Pharmacy Contract (Year 5) 
 
AMR 5 year strategy (covered in Population Health 
Programme 
 
Delivery of QIPP/CIP programmes with multi-sector 
support as detailed by individual stakeholders 

Review how Pharmacy Medicines Optimisation can 
support PCNs and wider primary Care to implement 
these changes focussing on in year priorities 
 
Utilise the planned changes to optimise Medicines 
Optimisation in Wirral Place 

Our People 
When will we do 
it? 

What Will we do? What will be different? 

2020/21  Aligning Capability – The Aligning Capability gap 
analysis and Culture Assessments are scaled-up 
beyond the original ‘pilot sites’ with a key focus on 
100% Wirral Neighbourhoods coverage - The size 
of this scaling-up will very much depend on OD 
resource availability vis-à-vis funding. In addition 
progress will be determined by the pace of the 
infrastructure integration detailed within the 
overarching Healthy Wirral 5 Year Summary  

 Aligned common purpose/vision and consistent 
approaches 

 Shared language across the system’s partners 

 Improved team work and conversational 
capability 

 Conflicts surfaced and addressed effectively 
across the system  

 Reduced duplication and improvement of 

P
age 193



 

 Following on from our work with the 
Communications and Engagement Programme, co-
designing the Healthy Wirral Staff Awareness 
Survey, we will look to work with the 
teams/organisations that are shown to need our 
support as a priority. The People Programme will 
support in progressing the capability of teams, 
meeting them at their point of need and helping 
them prepare for large scale cross-organisational 
transformation. 

 Leadership Capability – The Healthy Wirral 
Leadership development programme matures from 
the 2019/20 3rd Sector programme model. This will 
include opportunities for delegates to increase their 
understanding of their own Wellbeing and that of 
their colleagues around them, not simply traditional 
leadership principles and methodologies. Delivered 
wherever possible by local qualified/experienced 
facilitators it will provide opportunities to both those 
who are new to leadership and those who are more 
experienced in their understanding 

 Conversational Capability – building on the work 
carried out with Chairs and Chief Executives this 
development opportunity will be delivered to 
system teams/areas that have been identified 
through the Aligning Capability diagnostic. Initially, 
Neighbourhoods will be focused on to support 
proactive systems change and continuation of 
relationship development. 

 The Task & Finish group will develop and create a 
Compact Agreement for inter-organisational 
behaviours. This will not only lay down a set of 
expectations for the behaviours that will be 
displayed when working with Healthy Wirral 
partners, but also an approach to follow when 

processes, leads to capacity released which can 
be reinvested in multiple ways (Continues over 
following years as the Aligning Capability model is 
scaled-up across the Healthy Wirral footprint) 

 Individuals more empowered to deliver against 
their role 

 New roles and career pathways within the system 
are identified 

 Individual skills are utilised as effectively as 
possible and are not restricted by job description 
alone 

 Improved Leadership capability across the 
system 

 P
age 194



 

people do not adhere to them; holding colleagues 
to account. 

 The Task and Finish group will develop and 
implement a bespoke training offer based on 
Imposter Syndrome. This is a subject that has kept 
resurfacing and colleagues have asked for more 
support in dealing with it. 

 Attract, Develop and Retain Capability within 
the Healthy Wirral System – a range of initiatives 
will be explored and developed which will include: 

a) Develop a Healthy Wirral approach to career 
progression 
b) Develop Healthy Wirral Apprenticeship(s)     
c) Develop Healthy Wirral approach to the 
identification of (and training for) new roles.  
d) Develop Healthy Wirral approach to 
workforce modelling which focuses on 
knowledge, skills and behaviours and new 
roles     
e) Develop a Healthy Wirral approach to 
recruitment and retention 
f) Establish opportunities for joint education and 
training programmes to support system 
organisational  and workforce development 

 Developing a joined up approach to harmonising 
and utilising a single Trainee Nurse Associate 
programme. 

 Developing a process for cross-organisational 
shadowing to enable cross organisational 
knowledge transfer and learning, and enable large 
scale change with a single common purpose.  

 Wellbeing – Deliver a single Healthy Wirral 
approach to Mental Health First Aid training with a 
single procurement process across the footprint. 

 Once the MHFA offer has been implemented, the 

P
age 195



 

Task and Finish group, will consider consolidating 
further offers  and approaches to staff across 
Healthy Wirral including: 

o Flexible working options/policies  
o Training on Domestic Abuse 
o Know your numbers ‘blood pressure’ 
o Health Checks 
o Resilience and Change management 

training  
o Wellbeing Coaches 

2021/22 Objectives beyond 2021 will be further refined and scoped 
as the People Programme Task and Finish Groups 
progress through their respective P&OD pipeline. This will 
ensure Wirral People and System needs are routinely 
tracked and updated whilst also ensuring both National 
and Cheshire & Merseyside HCP development/priorities 
are taken into account.  
 
Equally, where the Healthy Wirral Programme Board or 
external factors dictate, the priority of these objectives and 
their proposed delivery date/year can be adjusted to help 
drive progress of the overall Healthy Wirral programme. 
 

 Aligning Capability – The People programme will 
continue to work with Healthy Wirral 
Communication and Engagement leads, and using 
insight from staff surveys and other intelligence to 
support teams/organisations to align to the 5 year 
plan. Further support will be offered utilising the 
Aligning Capability model to establish the root 
cause of any barriers and develop supportive 
action plans. 

 Conversational Capability – Cross-organisational 
coaching will be offered, giving more Healthy Wirral 
organisations access to a wider variety of coaches 

 Reduced turnover and vacancies leading to 
reduction in use of bank/agency staff 

 Reduced absence and associated costs 

 Greater engagement and commitment of staff and 
Wirral people to the aims and objectives of the 
Healthy Wirral programme, and their role in 
delivery. 

P
age 196



 

– Both clinical and non-clinical 

 Attract, Develop and Retain Capability within 
the Healthy Wirral System – Develop a single 
Healthy Wirral approach to CPD investment 

 Wellbeing –explore the delivery of Flu Vaccination 
access for 3rd sector population facing colleagues 

 Explore the setup of Healthy Wirral Wellbeing Hubs 
at key staff locations across the footprint. The hubs 
will be open to all Healthy Wirral partners and will 
be a centre point for offering local services to staff 
in or near to their work environment. 

 

2022/23 Attract, Develop and Retain Capability within the 
Healthy Wirral System – Move towards an agreed Wirral-
wide set academic/training time that is reserved for 
members of staff to focus on their personal development, 
considering equally the needs of clinical and non-clinical 
staff of all levels. 

 

2023/24 Attract, Develop and Retain Capability within the 
Healthy Wirral System – Develop a Healthy Wirral 
employment passport system, including DBS and including 
online career/development history. 

Checks need only be performed once for colleagues 
looking to work with Healthy Wirral partners allowing for 
easier  and more cost effective flow of employment within 
the Wirral system and the retention of skills and 
experience 

 

P
age 197



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
DATE: 13/11/2019

REPORT TITLE Dementia Strategy

REPORT OF Nesta Hawker  Director of Commissioning 

REPORT SUMMARY
Background
Dementia is one of four key priority areas within the Healthy Wirral Mental Health 

Programme. As part of the dementia workstream, one of the main objectives was to 

update and refresh the Wirral Dementia Strategy for 2019-2022.

In November 2018, an engagement exercise took place with people with dementia, carers, 

families and people who work with people with dementia. The aim of this exercise was to 

understand people’s experiences of dementia on Wirral, from pre-diagnosis to end of life, 

and areas where the health and care system were working well, and areas where 

improvement was needed. We spoke to over 200 people as part of this engagement, and 

feedback received from participants helped shape the Strategy alongside our local 

Dementia Strategy Board and national documentation.

The strategy is structured around NHS England’s “Well Pathway for Dementia” which is 

based on NICE guidelines and includes the following themes:

 Preventing well

 Diagnosing well

 Living well

 Supporting well

 Planning well (also known as “dying well”)

Major areas of focus within the strategy include healthy lifestyle promotion to prevent 

people from developing dementia, redesigning secondary care dementia services, 

improving post-diagnostic support, developing dementia friendly communities and 

services, and promoting the importance of early end of life planning to ensure that people’s 

end of life care wishes are known.

Page 199

Agenda Item 10



2

Currently, 5 task and finish groups have been formed with representatives from our NHS 

Trusts, primary care, social care and third sector organisations to begin work on the 

strategy objectives.

The Wirral Dementia Strategy was signed off by the Dementia Strategy Board on 22nd 

August 2019 and by the Mental Health Programme Board on 2nd October 2019.

We are aiming to publish the strategy in November 2019.

RECOMMENDATION/S
For information only. 

Page 200



3

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
The strategy has been signed off by the Dementia Strategy Board and the Mental 

Health Programme Board. This is for the information of members of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board only.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
N/A

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
N/A

4.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
N/A

5.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
N/A

6.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
N/A

7.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
In November 2018, an engagement exercise took place with people with dementia, 

carers, families and people who work with people with dementia. We spoke to over 

200 people as part of this engagement, and feedback received from participants 

helped shape the strategy.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
N/A (Any redesign of dementia services will be informed and accompanied by the 
relevant equality impact assessments)

REPORT AUTHOR: Name: Laura Tilston
Role: Mental Health Transformation Officer
telephone:  0151 651 0011
email:   laura.tilston@nhs.net

APPENDICES

Wirral Dementia 
Strategy 2019-2022 FINAL.pdf

REFERENCE MATERIAL

Page 201



4

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
N/A

Page 202



Wirral Dementia Strategy 
 

2019-2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

P
age 203



 
  

2 
 

Foreword 
Dementia is a growing challenge nationally and locally, with over 7000 people estimated to be diagnosed with dementia on Wirral by 2035. This increase will place 

significant pressure on health and social care services and therefore it is imperative that we develop a health and social care system that has the necessary skills, 

capacity, and high quality services required to support people to live well with dementia, including carers, from diagnosis onwards. It is to this end that we have 

renewed the dementia strategy for Wirral. 

  

The Wirral Dementia Strategy for 2019-2022 outlines the key areas and actions needed over the next four years to meet our vision for dementia care, and improve 

the lives of those living with dementia on Wirral. 

 

Since the introduction of the national dementia diagnosis ambition in 2015, Wirral has consistently exceeded this target however, we know that living well with 

dementia is more than having just a diagnosis. We understand this more through after our engagement with people with dementia, carers and families on Wirral, 

who highlighted that post-diagnostic support needs to be more joined up, better communicated by health and care professionals, and made more accessible.  

Therefore one of our key areas of focus in the strategy is to review the post-diagnostic support “offer” on Wirral, to ensure that people with dementia and carers 

know where they can access the right care at the right time and that this care and support is high quality and person-centred. 

  

The strategy also focuses on how we can prevent people from developing dementia through healthy lifestyle promotion, how we can make the diagnostic process 

more streamlined and how we can improve the quality of end of life care for people with dementia.  

 

Ultimately, we want people living with dementia on Wirral to feel empowered, valued and confident in the knowledge that there is the support in place to enable 

them to live safe, meaningful and fulfilling lives in their communities. 

  

 
 

Dr Peter Arthur 

GP Clinical Lead for Mental Health 

Wirral Health & Care Commissioning 

P
age 204



 
  

3 
 

Introduction and Background  
Dementia is a collective term used to describe various symptoms of cognitive decline, which are usually progressive in nature. Symptoms may include a decline in 

memory, reasoning, communication skills, the ability to carry out daily activities and mood. Alzheimer’s disease is the most common cause of dementia, although 

not the only one. 

 

Dementia mainly affects people over the age of 65 and the likelihood of developing dementia increases significantly with age. As a result people living with 

dementia often have other long-term health conditions and co-morbidities such as hypertension, diabetes and depression.  Dementia can also affect younger 

people. People under the age of 65 with dementia are often described as 'younger people with dementia' or ‘early-onset dementia’.  

 

Dementia can be a devastating condition which impacts on the entire family and wider community; however it is possible for people with dementia to lead positive 

and fulfilling lives with the right support. 

 

This strategy sets out the strategic vision for Wirral to; reduce the risk of dementia (or delay it’s onset) via preventative measures; support people to live well with 

dementia (including carers) within their local communities and to ensure appropriate planning is in place so people are well cared for when the condition escalates 

and more support is required.  

 

The strategy is structured around the NHS England’s ‘Well Pathway for Dementia’ which is based on NICE guidance and includes the following themes:   

 Preventing well 

 Diagnosing well 

 Living well 

 Supporting well  

 Planning well  

 

Our Vision 
Wirral Dementia Strategy Board’s vision for this strategy is: 

‘To engage with people living with dementia, including carers, and healthcare professionals in order to improve support and services to enable people to live 

healthy, safe and fulfilling lives.  We want Wirral to be a borough which supports and is inclusive of people with dementia and their carers so they can enjoy the 

P
age 205

https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2016/03/dementia-well-pathway.pdf


 
  

4 
 

best possible quality of life and remain independent longer. When people do need care, this will be high quality, person centred and delivered seamlessly across 

the health and social care system.’ 

 

Our Objectives  
The strategy will help us to make better decisions about how we: 

 Value, understand and act upon feedback from those living with dementia, their families and carers 

 Enable people to remain independent for longer  

 Raise awareness and understanding of the condition to create a more ‘dementia friendly’ borough  

 Design our services to ensure that they are delivering to our population needs 

 Making the best use of our existing resources and assets 

 Encourage partnership working between services, people with dementia, families, carers and communities. 

 Encourage service providers across statutory and non-statutory services to work together for the benefit of all 

 

This strategy and its associated action plans do not stand alone. Dementia is a key priority nationally as identified in a number of documents including; the NHS 

Long Term Plan, Mental Health Five Year Forward View and Prime Ministers Challenge on Dementia 2020. Dementia has also been identified as a local priority as 

outlined in Wirral’s Ageing Well Strategy and is one of four key work streams for the Healthy Wirral Mental Health Programme. 

 

Where are we now?  
Wirral has a population of over 330,000 and is an area with significant inequalities, especially in relation to deprivation which is most prevalent in East Wirral, this 

leads to poorer health outcomes. In addition, Wirral has an older age profile when compared to the national average, especially those aged 65+. One in three 

people over 65 in Wirral live alone, which equates to around 24,000 people. 

 

Currently there are over 3000 people aged 65+ who have a diagnosis of dementia in Wirral, although we know there are people living with dementia without a 

diagnosis. Projections estimate that the total numbers of people living with dementia in Wirral will more than double to over 7000 by 2035.  

 

More information on local and national facts and figures regarding dementia can be found in the local JSNA. Click here to access the latest Wirral Dementia JSNA. 

 

P
age 206

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2813/dementia-jsna-chapter-for-circulation-final-v5.pdf


 
  

5 
 

How has this strategy been developed? 
This strategy has been developed in partnership with people living with dementia, including carers and families and members of the Wirral Dementia Strategy 

Board.  

 

An engagement exercise with local people living with dementia (including carers and family members) was conducted in early 2019; the views and feedback from 

this engagement exercise have helped shape this strategy. Click here to access the full engagement report. 

 

Wirral’s Dementia Strategy Board was re-established in January 2018 and is chaired by a local GP who is the Clinical Lead for Mental Health for NHS Wirral Clinical 

Commissioning Group. A range of statutory and non-statutory organisations are represented at the board including;  Wirral Health & Care Commissioning, 

Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, Wirral Health and Care Community NHS Foundation Trust, Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust, Wirral Borough Council, Age UK Wirral, Community Action Wirral, Alzheimer’s Society, Healthwatch Wirral, Dementia Together Wirral, Wirral 

Dementia Action Alliance (DAA), WIRED, Life Story Network, Wirral Multi-cultural Organisation and Wirral Mencap.  Members from our non-statutory services, 

specifically Dementia Together Wirral and Wirral DAA, represent the views of people living with dementia and their family and carers.  

 

The Wirral Dementia Strategy will be reviewed and updated (at least every two years) in light of feedback from service users, their families and carers, the evolving 

needs of our community and national mandates. This will involve ongoing engagement with people with dementia, families, carers and health and care 

professionals throughout the implementation of this strategy to inform the reviews and updates. 

 

How will the actions identified in this strategy be delivered?  
Working groups will be established with appropriate professionals from across the care system and people accessing services in order to deliver on the specific 

actions outlined in this strategy.  Performance indictors and outcome frameworks will be developed in order to monitor and identify progress with the actions. The 

local Dementia Strategy Board will receive updates from the working groups in the board meetings and review the action plans and outcome measures 

accordingly. Progress and updates will also be provided to the Healthy Wirral Mental Health Programme Board. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 207

https://wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/5983/dementia-engagement-full-report-final-may-2019-2.pdf


 
  

6 
 

Preventing Well 
 

Why is this theme a priority? 
Reducing the risk of dementia, or delaying the onset, is influenced by a wide range of lifestyle factors. Establishing and maintaining a healthy lifestyle is important 

to help lower the risk of dementia and help people to live longer, healthier lives. Vascular dementia is the second most common form of dementia and has the 

same risk factors as heart disease and stroke. There are a number of lifestyle factors that can increase the risk of dementia including:  

 

 A sedentary lifestyle (exercise in older people is associated with a slower rate of decline in memory and some cognitive skills that occur with ageing)  

o Wirral has less physically active adults (62.1%) compared to the national England average (66.3%) 

 

 Eating a poor diet high in saturated fat, sugar and salt and obesity in midlife 

o The number of obese adults in Wirral is around 70,000, with 2 in every 3 adults being at an unhealthy weight in Wirral 

 

 Smoking 

o Although Wirral's smoking rates have dropped since 2009, the latest reported prevalence rate for the borough is 15.9% (which is higher than the 

national average of 14.9%) 

 

 Excessive alcohol consumption (10% of dementia conditions are related to alcohol) 

o Wirral has a lower percentage of abstainers (10.6%) and a higher percentage of binge drinkers (23.8%) compared to national averages. 1.9% of 

Wirral’s adult population are estimated to be dependent drinkers 

 

We want Wirral residents to lead healthy lives and be better able to manage their own wellbeing. To achieve this, people need to be supported and encouraged to 

engage in healthy lifestyle behaviours and be open to early prevention and interventions. 

 

Outcomes 
 People living in Wirral to lead a healthier lifestyle, particularly those aged 40 and over 

 Raise awareness of dementia and associated risk factors across all ages  

P
age 208



 
  

7 
 

Area Action Outcome 
Better understand the number of 
residents that have had an NHS 
Health Check.  
 
The NHS Health Check is aimed 
at adults in England aged 40-74 
and people are eligible for health 
checks every 5 years. It's 
designed to spot early signs of 
stroke, kidney disease, heart 
disease, type 2 diabetes and 
dementia.  

Monitor and aim to increase the number of people aged over 40 in the borough 
who have had an NHS Health Check through the North West Coast Strategic 
Clinical Network (NWCSCN) Dementia Dashboard. 

To detect harmful behaviours early and 
inform people about their lifestyle 
choices in order to improve people’s 
physical and mental health at an early 
stage, when changes in behaviour can 
have a real impact on long term health 
and wellbeing. 

Monitor and aim to increase the number of people in the borough aged over 40 
who are identified as a ‘carer’ on their GP record and the number who have had 
an NHS Health Check through the Dementia Dashboard. 

Information on the NHS Health Check website advises that people will have a few 
simple tests to check the risk of: 

 heart disease 

 diabetes 

 kidney disease 

 stroke 
Only those aged over 65 will also be given advice on the signs and symptoms of 
dementia. 
 
In Wirral we want to raise awareness of symptoms of dementia earlier and 
encourage people to make positive changes. Hence we will encourage and work 
with GPs to provide information on dementia to people aged 50+ during their 
NHS Health Check. 
 

Better understand the number of 
Wirral residents that present 
with ‘unhealthy behaviours’ 
associated with increased 
likelihood of developing 
dementia. 
 

Monitor the prevalence of obesity, smoking, depression, excess alcohol use, 
cardiovascular disease (CVD), mild cognitive impairment and other risk factors 
linked to developing dementia on Wirral through the Dementia Dashboard. 

The prevalence of dementia risk factors 
will be monitored and data used to 
inform future awareness campaigns with 
professionals and the public.  

Raise awareness of the risk 
factors associated with 
dementia and actions that may 
reduce the likelihood of an 

Encourage professionals within services related to dementia risk factors, such as 
Diabetes, CVD and Weight Management services, to embed dementia prevention 
messages within their appointments with people aged 50+. This will be achieved 
via distribution of communications to healthcare staff within relevant services 

People with pre-existing conditions 
associated with increasing risk of 
dementia will have an increased 
awareness of how making positive 

P
age 209



 
  

8 
 

 

individual developing dementia 
among healthcare professionals.  

regarding the importance of providing dementia prevention information to 
people who are assessed as being “at risk”. 
 
In addition, communications will be distributed to all healthcare professionals 
regarding the importance of using the Making Every Contact Count (MECC) 
approach to increase opportunities to encourage people to think about making 
healthy lifestyle changes. 
 

changes to their lifestyle can reduce the 
risk of developing dementia in the future 
as well as their pre-existing conditions 

All age healthy lifestyle 
promotion 

Support the promotion of digital tools, such as Public Health’s “One You” 
campaign, to raise awareness of healthy lifestyles and to support people to make 
changes to the way they manage their health and wellbeing. Internal 
communications will be distributed to staff and the Dementia Strategy Board to 
raise awareness of digital tools. 
 
Feed into local online and telephone directories, such as ‘Live Well’ and 
‘Healthwatch’, with regards to healthy lifestyle services on the Wirral for the 
public and health and social care professionals to support with signposting those 
identified as ‘at-risk’ to preventative activities. An appraisal of local directories 
will take place with members of the Dementia Strategy Board will be undertaken 
to review the services listed, any gaps and to establish gatekeeping processes. 
 
Link in with the development of the wider Children’s and Families Strategy for 
shared working opportunities in order to strengthen dementia education, 
prevention and early intervention messages with children and young people to 
encourage healthy lifestyle choices at a young age. 
 

Encourage residents to take more 
responsibility for their health and 
wellbeing and have increased awareness 
of ways of improving their health and 
reducing risk factors associated with 
dementia and other long term conditions. 
 
Increased uptake of local healthy lifestyle 
services and improved, consistent 
signposting in the borough so people 
know where to go to access support and 
what type of support is available to 
people.  
 
As the number of people living with 
dementia increases, more children and 
young people are likely to be affected by 
dementia growing up. Educating young 
people about dementia will promote 
healthy lifestyle choices and support 
understanding and change attitudes 
towards dementia, creating a dementia 
friendly generation. 

P
age 210

https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/
https://www.nhs.uk/oneyou/
https://www.thelivewelldirectory.com/
https://healthwatchwirral.co.uk/signposting/


 
  

9 
 

Diagnosing Well 
 

Why is this theme a priority? 
Diagnosis is the first step in someone’s dementia journey; if people are concerned about dementia then they should visit their GP for an assessment at the earliest 

opportunity. If a GP is concerned about the individual’s memory or behaviour and they believe it is a result of possible dementia, then they make may a referral to 

Wirral’s Memory Assessment Service for further assessment.  

 

GPs have a key part to play in the dementia diagnosis process, often they are the first health professional body that someone with dementia and carers visit for 

advice and support. GPs should also be supported to diagnose dementia and offer guidance and signposting advice into appropriate support services. 

 

It is vital that there is access to accurate, clear information and advice about the signs and symptoms of dementia in GP Practices and other others, including 

information on local support services available in the community. A core aim of this strategy is therefore to ensure that effective information and support is 

available for people before and after a diagnosis. 

 

Nationally there is a target for dementia diagnosis rates which is 66.7% of estimated dementia prevalence. Although it is important to meet this target to ensure 

we accurately diagnose dementia, the drive to meet the diagnostic rate must not be seen as an end in itself; improving the support available to people once they 

have been given the diagnosis is equally, if not more important.  

 

In Wirral we want to see more people being diagnosed early and less people diagnosed at a time of crisis; a crisis that might have been avoided if the diagnosis had 

been made earlier.  

 

We recognise that services may need to be redesigned so that people with dementia are diagnosed in a timely manner and that they and their carers receive the 

right care and support at the right time, enabling them to live as well as possible with dementia. 

 

Outcomes  
 Support GPs to diagnose dementia 

 Increase training opportunities so health and care professionals can recognise the signs and symptoms of dementia and refer people into appropriate 

services  

P
age 211



 
  

10 
 

 Good quality support and information is available to people from the pre diagnosis stage and throughout the diagnosis journey and people know where to 

access this information 

 Strive to exceed the national dementia diagnosis target  

 

Area Action Outcome 
Strive to exceed the national 
diagnosis target of 66.7% of the 
suspected population with 
dementia 
 

Monitor diagnosis data for Wirral per GP practice and work with practices who 
may not be reaching the national target to understand reasons behind this and 
the extra support required to improve diagnosis rates. This data will be 
monitored by WH&CC through the Dementia Dashboard. 
 
 

Diagnosing the condition early will mean 
people, including carers, will be informed 
about support available to help them 
manage the condition and plan for the 
future.  
 

People with dementia who are under the care of their GP will be invited to 
review appointments every 6 months to discuss any changes in symptoms, mood 
or behaviour, prescribed medication and signposting to relevant support services 
as appropriate.  
 
Baseline the number of people with a dementia diagnosis who are entitled to 6 
monthly reviews and the percentage of people who are invited and attend 6 
monthly reviews with their GP. Once this baseline has been established WH&CC 
will work alongside Primary Care and Secondary Care colleagues to understand 
how we can improve the number of reviews attended. 
 

Regular reviews are important so any 
changes in behaviour or symptoms can 
be supported before situations escalate 
and become unmanageable. 
 
People with dementia under the care of 
their GP will have regular 6 monthly 
reviews and will feel supported with 
managing their condition throughout the 
dementia diagnosis journey.  
 

Secondary Care to continue to provide appropriate dementia training to Primary 
Care staff including GPs, Practice Nurses and other healthcare professionals, as 
outlined in the Locally Enhanced Service contract.  
 
 
 

Upskill Primary Care health and care 
professionals so they become more 
confident in identifying the signs of 
dementia and appropriate care pathway.  
This will result in quicker identification of 
suspected dementia and earlier diagnosis 
for individuals.  
 
 
 

P
age 212



 
  

11 
 

Waiting times between referral 
from a GP to initial assessment 
by NHS specialist secondary care 
services for dementia to be in 
line with NICE guidance which is 
6 weeks 

A review of the NHS dementia secondary care services will be undertaken during 
Autumn/Winter 2019 to consider the opportunities to improve the current 
health and care offer for people living with dementia. NHS Wirral CCG will lead 
on this project alongside representatives from the Dementia Strategy Board 
(DSB), Primary Care, Secondary Care and Third Sector organisations. Updates 
from the project group will be provided to the wider DSB. 
 
This review will involve mapping the current secondary care (non-inpatient) 
dementia resource such as Wirral’s Memory Assessment Service and identifying 
areas of potential redesign.  
 
Resource and care pathways will be considered as part of this review. Any areas 
of redesign must consider the development of an outcomes based framework. 
 
Supporting GPs to diagnose dementia will also be explored as part of the review. 
 
Input into this review and any redesign will be sought from statutory and non-
statutory organisations involved in dementia care. The redesign will also be 
informed by the feedback received from people with dementia and their families 
and carers. 
 

We understand that waiting for a 
diagnosis is a worrisome and unsettling 
time for the person who potentially has 
dementia as well as carers, family 
members and friends.  Hence diagnosing 
in line with national guidance timeframes 
will reduce the longevity of these 
emotions experienced by those going 
through this process. It will also ensure 
that people with dementia and carers are 
provided with and signposted to the 
support they need to manage the 
condition earlier.  
 

Ensure there is appropriate 
support information available 
from presentation through to 
diagnosis, for the person 
diagnosed as well as carers, 
family and friends 

Review, update and better communicate information with regards to what 
people can do if they are concerned about dementia and the national and local 
support available across statutory and non-statutory organisations.  This will 
involve reviewing the current support pack provided by the Wirral Memory 
Assessment Service to people referred to the service and carers and the wider 
local directory of services such as ‘Livewell’ and Healthwatch.  
 

Members of the public and health 
professionals will have access to 
information which is relevant and up to 
date, to enable better understanding of 
what support is available from the NHS, 
local authority, emergency services and 
wider community, including third, 
voluntary and charity sector.   
 

Improve diagnostic rates for 
BAME and LD communities 

Better engage with BAME and LD communities by working alongside local 
services, such as Wirral Multicultural Organisation, Wirral Change and Mencap, 
to increase awareness and reduce the stigma of dementia. This will include 

Staff will feel empowered to discuss 
dementia with their service users to 
break down the barriers and stigma 

P
age 213



 
  

12 
 

 

promoting the Dementia Champion scheme and supporting staff to access 
dementia awareness training and within these services. 

associated with dementia. People from 
the BAME community will be supported 
by staff to access health services for 
suspected dementia. 
 

Establish a baseline and monitor the number of people diagnosed with dementia 
from BAME and LD communities. Once this baseline has been gathered, work 
with BAME and LD services to determine how to increase dementia diagnosis 
rates in this cohort and review with clinicians whether the current assessments 
are appropriate and what steps can be taken to better support people from 
BAME and LD communities during the assessment process.    
 

Identify more people from BAME and LD 
community at an earlier stage so they can 
access appropriate support. 

Any dementia support information produced at a local level should be accessible 
e.g. available in different languages, ‘easy read’ format, British Sign Language etc.   
 
A one page dementia information sheet will be developed and translated into the 
top 3 most commonly spoken languages on Wirral (other than English). An easy 
read version will also be developed by Wirral CCG communications team. These 
documents will be distributed to health and care professionals on Wirral. 
 

To ensure Wirral’s healthcare services are 
inclusive of all communities. 

Carers to be identified early  Primary and Secondary Care professionals to identify carers of people with 
dementia and record them as being a carer, with their consent, on the Carers 
Register on the relevant heath care record software. All GP practices will have a 
secure EMIS Carers Register on which all carers of people with dementia will be 
recorded as early as possible. 
 

Carers of people with dementia will be 
identified and recorded as such. This will 
enable health and care professionals to 
recognise carers and offer support, 
advice and signposting and invite to NHS 
Health Checks. 

All people who are referred and 
assessed by NHS secondary care 
specialist service for assessment 
will be signposted to Join 
Dementia Research 
 

All people referred to the Wirral Memory Assessment Service, regardless of 
whether they are diagnosed with dementia, mild cognitive impairment or no 
diagnosis, will be signposted to Join Dementia Research to consider taking part in 
vital dementia related research initiatives. 

To increase the number of people 
participating in dementia research to 
support the development of our 
understanding of dementia and hopefully 
lead to the discovery of more effective 
treatments. 

P
age 214

https://www.joindementiaresearch.nihr.ac.uk/


 
  

13 
 

Supporting Well 

Why is this theme a priority? 

NHS Wirral CCG led an engagement exercise in late 2018/early 2019 to talk to people who were either:  

 Living with dementia (e.g. diagnosed with dementia, care for someone with dementia or had a family/friend living with dementia) 

 Health and care professionals who work with people living with dementia (including carers) across statutory and non-statutory organisations 

Overall the engagement exercise identified that there are some great support services in Wirral, however there are limitations of the current care offer which 

include:  

 The waiting times for a diagnosis once referred from primary to secondary care 

 Need for more adequate specialist support available within the community 

 Enhancing  the post diagnostic support offer in terms of quality 

 Provide further training required across a range of health, care and advocacy roles (particularly hospitals and care homes) 

 Lack of ‘crisis’ support 

A copy of the full engagement report can be accessed here. 

Mental and physical health is important whether we are living with a health condition or caring for someone with a health condition. We recognise that most 

people with dementia live at home and are supported by friends, neighbours and families. However there are many people in Wirral living with dementia who feel 

alone, including carers. Evidence tells us that isolation and depression are common amongst those living with dementia and those caring for someone with 

dementia. It is therefore vital that people have access to the right care and support when needed to avoid people reaching a crisis point. 

Our approach will be to better support people within the community and their own homes and this care should be person-centred. We want to encourage 

discussions about life issues in the broadest sense, at the earliest opportunity. For example, people will be encouraged to plan ahead when they receive their 

diagnosis and will be provided with information about legal and financial issues (including making a will, Power of Attorney and benefit entitlement), housing 

options and assistive technology in order to maintain independent living. 

 

P
age 215

https://wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/5983/dementia-engagement-full-report-final-may-2019-2.pdf


 
  

14 
 

Outcomes  
 Those living with and affected by dementia are able to lead fulfilling lives and live independently for longer 

 People with dementia, carers and families consider Wirral’s dementia care offer as high quality, person centred and proactive as opposed to reactive 

 People with dementia are enabled, with the involvement of their carers, to access services that help maintain their physical and mental health and 

wellbeing 

 People with dementia receive high quality care and support from staff appropriately trained in dementia care 

 People with dementia and their carers receive support with regards to health and care assessments and entitlements  

 People are supported in a community primary care setting for as long as possible before being referred to secondary care services 

 

Area Action Outcome 
Provide more enhanced post 
diagnostic support for people with 
dementia living in the community 
as outlined in the NHS Long Term 
Plan 

 

The NHS Long Term Plan outlines that there will be an increased focus on 
supporting people with dementia in the community through community 
multidisciplinary teams aligned with primary care networks (PCN) and increased 
working with the voluntary sector in order to provide better care in the 
community for people living with dementia.  
 
As mentioned under ‘diagnosing well’ a review of NHS dementia secondary care 
services will be undertaken. This review will consider any potential areas of 
redesign in terms of services and resources so we can look to provide more 
specialist post-diagnostic support in the community aligned with PCN’s. The 
review will also consider how secondary care can better link in with local 
voluntary sector organisations to better support people in the community living 
with dementia. 
 
Care pathways will be reviewed and developed as appropriate between primary, 
secondary and community organisations (including non statutory). 
 
The review should also consider pathways between dementia care and frailty, 
including the falls prevention service.  
 

People will be provided with enhanced 
post diagnostic and specialist 
community support to better enable 
people to manage their dementia in 
their own home and retain 
independence through a person centred 
delivery model. 
 
Seamless transitions between different 
health and care services which support 
dementia care will result in an improved 
experience for people living with 
dementia and their carers. 
 
People with dementia and their carers 
will feel confident in being able to 
navigate dementia care services. 
 

P
age 216

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan-june-2019.pdf


 
  

15 
 

Develop options for crisis care 
support  

The Wirral health and care system (across statutory and non-statutory 
organisations) need to develop options to deliver access to crisis support for 
people with dementia. The secondary care redesign of dementia services will 
scope crisis options available for people with dementia on Wirral, including how 
to better support people to prevent them from reaching crisis point.  
 
The review of secondary care dementia services will consider how we can better 
support people in the community and in care homes to provide more appropriate 
support which will enable people to stay out of hospital for issues that can be 
managed in the community.  People with dementia should only be admitted to 
hospital when necessary and will be treated in the community wherever possible.  
 

Reduce the number of inappropriate 
and avoidable hospital admissions for 
people with dementia. 

Promote and encourage the use of the Herbert Protocol initiative adopted by 
Merseyside Police and other forces for missing or vulnerable people. The Herbert 
Protocol form includes vital information about an individual should there be a 
need for the police to be involved in the search for someone living with dementia 
who is missing from home. The form is completed and owned by families and/or 
carers and provided to the police in the event of a loved one going missing. 
 
We will look to include information about the Herbert Protocol within the post-
diagnostic support pack provided by the Memory Assessment Service. 
Communications about the Herbert Protocol will be sent to health and care 
professionals and third sector organisations to ensure that staff are aware of the 
initiative and can support families and carers to access the form for use when 
needed. 
  

The Herbert Protocol provides the 
police with access to important 
information, helping to speed up and 
simplify a response, so that the search 
can be targeted appropriately and 
effectively and people can be found 
sooner. 
 

Hospital discharges should be 
dignified and timely with quality, 
person centred care support 
packages in place 

Any redesign of services will need to consider the discharge pathways for people 
with dementia from a hospital setting to peoples own homes, care homes, 
transfer to assess beds and reablement or rehabilitation services including third 
sector options as part of the discharge pathway. 
 
Membership input into any redesign regarding services/care pathways will be 
sought from statutory and non-statutory organisations involved in dementia 

People with dementia will experience 
timely and appropriate discharges from 
hospital. 

P
age 217



 
  

16 
 

care. This work will be informed by the feedback received from people with 
dementia and their families and carers. 
 

Support carers to care for their 
loved ones and to manage their 
emotional wellbeing. 

The local engagement exercise told us that people want and are happy to care 
for their loved ones however when extra support is required they want that 
support to be easily accessible and of high quality.  
 
Health and social care professionals will involve people with dementia and carers 
in planning their care and review care plans at regular intervals or when an 
individual’s dementia related behaviour has deteriorated. People with dementia 
and carers will be provided with information on accessing social care support as 
appropriate which may include: 

 Home care 

 Peer support groups 

 Social groups 

 Admiral Nurses  

 Day centres 

 Short term respite care 
 
Carers will be signposted to local Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(IAPT) services for counselling if they disclose that they are facing difficulties with 
their mental health. Carers can self-refer themselves to IAPT or their GP can refer 
on their behalf. The number of carers who are accessing IAPT services will be 
monitored. 
 
Additionally, carers will be provided with information regarding support available 
to them in the community such as peer support groups on Wirral, dementia 
awareness training, guidance on Carers Assessments and applying for carer’s 
allowance.  
 
Information should be accessible with regards to personalised health budgets, 
direct payments, NHS Continuing Healthcare, Section 117 Aftercare and council 
funded social care.  

People with dementia and their carers 
will feel empowered and have increased 
understanding, choice and control over 
their care. 
 
Carers will feel supported, well 
informed and confident in their ability 
to care for their loved one and support 
them to care for longer.  
 
Carers will feel supported in terms of 
their own health and mental wellbeing. 

P
age 218



 
  

17 
 

Increase training and education 
provided to professionals who 
engage with people living with 
dementia on a day to day basis 

Map the training offer for dementia that is provided on a local and national level 
for our services including; General Practice, Wirral University Teaching Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust, Wirral Community Health & Care NHS Foundation Trust, 
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, North West Ambulance 
Service, Care Homes and third sector partners.  
 
Discuss with key services how this training can be rolled out to include a wider 
audience of health and social care professionals. The design and development of 
future staff training plans will look to include contributions from people with 
dementia and carers as experts by experience. 
 
Include the requirement to deliver dementia training in relevant contracts when 
commissioning services. 
 
Promote the ‘forget me not’ scheme with health and social care professionals in 
order to raise awareness across health and social care professionals to support 
staff to more easily identify people with dementia who may need extra support 
when making home visits. Communications will be sent to primary care and 
secondary care to support awareness of this initiative. 
 

Caring for people with dementia can be 
challenging. Therefore health and care 
professionals will be better trained to 
improve their knowledge, confidence 
and attitudes in order to change 
behaviours and practice that can lead to 
better care and outcomes for people 
with dementia. 
 

Promote and enhance the use of 
assistive technology, including 
new technologies that will help 
keep people safe and independent 
for longer 

Establish a baseline of existing users and continue to develop and monitor the 
assistive technology provision, increase awareness of the availability and benefits 
of assistive technology for people with dementia as a support option. Ensure 
outcomes for people with dementia are measured appropriately.  
 
 

Assistive technology can support people 
with dementia to remain independent, 
safe in their own home and socially 
involved, whilst having a positive impact 
on the wellbeing of carers and families. 
Assistive technology can also provide 
reassurance to carers and support with 
daily caring tasks. 
 

P
age 219



 
  

18 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Supporting the development the 
Cheshire & Merseyside Strategic 
Clinical Network ‘dementia 
dashboard’ 

Cheshire and Merseyside Strategic Clinical Network are developing a dementia 
dashboard to enable local care systems to see how they are performing in 
relation to dementia care, as well as benchmarking how they are performing 
against other local areas. Wirral’s Dementia Strategy Board to consider the 
benchmark performance and consider any areas of best practice or 
improvements 
 

The data will help to establish baselines 
across a number of key indicators, 
monitor performance locally and 
regionally and help to identify areas of 
priority.  

P
age 220



 
  

19 
 

Living Well 
 

Why is this theme a priority? 
In Wirral we want to help and encourage those who live with dementia to remain as independent as possible and continue to experience and enjoy activities and 

hobbies in environments that are well designed and supportive of their needs.  

 

We also want those that are working at the time of diagnosis (including carers) to maintain their employment for as long as possible and encourage our 

communities and workplaces to work together to help make adjustments for people with a dementia diagnosis or caring responsibilities.  

 

In 2018, Wirral were awarded ‘working to become dementia friendly’ status as part of the national Dementia Friendly Communities initiative ran by the Alzheimer’s 

Society. Wirral’s Dementia Action Alliance (DAA) developed an action plan in order to maintain this status. The primary aim of the plan is to develop communities 

with; a good awareness of dementia; an understanding of what it is like to live with dementia; and communities which promote and adapt a sense of belonging for 

those living with dementia.  

 

We will focus on building on our achievements to date of ‘working to become dementia friendly’. This includes increasing the number of dementia information and 

awareness sessions and increasing the number of dementia friends and champions in Wirral.  We would also like to link in with and support the work that 

Liverpool DAA have been undertaking to improve transport services across Merseyside for people with dementia, including Merseytravel, Merseyrail and Arriva. 

The ageing well initiative lead by Wirral Borough Council which involves local retailers and businesses committing to providing older people with access to a seat, 

drink and/or a toilet will continue to expand. We will also work to improve the buildings and environments from which services are delivered across the borough, 

ensuring any modernisation or planned design such as the re-development of Birkenhead and the ‘Wirral Waters’ project are accessible for people with dementia.  

 

Simple changes to existing services and awareness raising for those who come into day-to-day contact with people with dementia, such as staff working in 

libraries, pharmacies, leisure centres etc., can help people with dementia feel more confident and welcome. 

 

Outcomes 
 Wirral to be a dementia inclusive borough 

 Wirral to maintain their  ‘working to become dementia friendly status’  

 

P
age 221



 
  

20 
 

Area Action Outcome 
Wirral to maintain the status of 
‘working to become a Dementia 
Friendly’ borough  
 
 
 
 
 

Maintain Wirral’s current “working to become dementia friendly” status, with 
focus on developing: 

 Dementia friendly neighbourhoods 

 Dementia friendly organisations  

 Dementia friendly workplaces 

 Dementia friendly buildings 

 Dementia friendly transport 
 
Recruitment and training of more dementia friends and champions in the 
community is also a key aspect of maintaining the ‘working to become dementia 
friendly’ status. Consider hosting dementia friends and champion training on 
Wirral to support this as part of the Wirral Dementia Action Alliance (DAA) action 
plan. We also want to consider expanding awareness and support across the faith 
sector and education.  
 
Contact with people living with dementia is not restricted to general 
practitioners, specialist nurses or consultants; there are a range of other 
professionals who would benefit from further education and training, for 
example, opticians, dentists and pharmacists who can recognise dementia 
related problems and signpost people to the correct service. 
 

People with dementia on Wirral will feel 
more understood, respected and valued 
as a member of their community.  
 
People with dementia will experience 
reduced feelings of loneliness and 
isolation and feel more confident in 
engaging with community activities, 
having a positive impact on health and 
wellbeing.  
 
All areas of the health and care system 
will be guided to adopt dementia 
friendly principles so people with 
dementia and carers will be able to 
access health and social care without 
barriers. 

Promote activities within 
neighbourhoods/localities  

Explore, support and promote activities and initiatives on Wirral aimed at 
increasing cognitive stimulation and reducing social isolation for people with 
dementia to develop Wirral’s social prescribing offer.  
 
Ensure that statutory services and third sector organisations know where and 
when to signpost people so they can find out more about what services are 
offered within the neighbourhoods/localities.   
 
 
 

People with dementia and their carers 
have greater opportunity to become 
involved in social activities feel more 
involved with the community. This will 
have a positive impact on health and 
wellbeing and will provide some 
assurance to people that they are not 
on their own.  
 
 

P
age 222



 
  

21 
 

 

Explore the offer of community support groups and activities for those diagnosed 
with early onset dementia and their carers. 

People diagnosed with early onset 
dementia and their carers will be able 
to access specific and relevant support 
for their needs, which can differ from 
people diagnosed with dementia over 
age 65. 

Support people to maintain their 
own identity and independence 

Work with local businesses on Wirral to encourage the development of dementia 
friendly policies and practices. This includes making reasonable adjustments for 
people with dementia to maintain their employment where possible, identifying 
employees who are carers and supporting carers with flexible working hours to 
enable them to continue working. Review previous work undertaken by the 
Alzheimer’s Society with the Chamber of Commerce to support people with 
dementia and carers to remain in employment for longer for learning. 
 

People diagnosed with dementia and 
carers will be able to stay in 
employment for longer, supporting 
them to retain independence which will 
improve carer wellbeing. 

Wirral to have greater availability 
of community housing options 
suitable for people with dementia  

Wirral Council colleagues to ensure that future housing or community 
development plans (such as the planned re-generation of Birkenhead town 
centre) include consideration of dementia friendly housing options including 
dementia care homes and dementia friendly buildings. 

As the numbers of people living with 
dementia on Wirral increases, there will 
be adequate dementia friendly housing 
provision that will meet this need in 
order to support people to live well 
with dementia in their community. 
 

Greater information and clarity to be provided to people with dementia and 
carers to support them access housing options that meet their care and lifestyle 
needs. 
 

People with dementia and their carers 
will receive information about housing 
and care home options available to 
them to support them to make 
decisions about the future in advance.  
 

Ensure that people living with 
dementia and carers feel safe and 
are protected from abuse 

Review safeguarding procedures for adults with dementia to prevent abuse and 
work alongside statutory and non-statutory organisations to ensure that these 
standards are embedded within local safeguarding frameworks and the work of 
the local safeguarding board. 

People will make reasonable steps to 
identify the possibility of abuse and 
prevent it before it occurs; and respond 
appropriately to any allegation of 
abuse. 

P
age 223



 
  

22 
 

Planning Well 
 

Why is this theme a priority? 
Following a diagnosis of dementia, putting legal, financial and end-of-life plans in place is one of the most important steps to take. The sooner plans are 

established, the better prepared the person with dementia and their carers and family will be. Creating a plan for the future in the early stage of the disease can be 

empowering, allowing the person with dementia to participate in making decisions that help family and friends know their wishes. We want to ensure planning for 

the future starts early, to ensure the person with dementia is still able to make decisions and is enabled and supported to express their wishes at every step. 

Involving the family and managing their expectations is part of good quality care. 

 

Outcome 
 People with dementia are supported to put legal, financial and end-of-life plans in place 

 People with dementia wishes with regards to end of life care are respected and upheld where possible 

Area Action Outcome 
People with dementia and their 
carers will be aware of the 
importance of advance care 
planning and end of life planning, 
and will feel supported and 
confident to make these plans in 
good time 
 
 
 

People with dementia and their carers will be offered information by an 
appropriate health and care professional regarding care planning and end of life 
planning and be supported/signposted in order to put these plans in place. This 
includes:  

 Advance Care Planning  

 Emergency Health and Care Plans 

 Advance Statements 

 Lasting Power of Attorney (Property and Financial Affairs LPA and Health 
and Welfare LPA) 
 

This information will be offered in a sensitive and timely manner following 
diagnosis to allow the individual to put their end of life wishes in place. 
 
Establish a baseline and monitor the number of end of line plans recorded in 

People with dementia will have end of 
life plans and wishes in place while they 
have the capacity to make these 
decisions. This will provide both people 
with dementia and their carers with 
peace of mind. 
 
Increase the amount of end of life plans 
recorded in patient records 
 
 
 
 

P
age 224



 
  

23 
 

 

patient records  
 

People with dementia will have 
their preferred place of death 
recorded in their patient record 
and upheld wherever possible 
 
 
 
 

Ensure that any end of life plans and wishes are recorded in the individuals case 
notes by the health or social care professional involved with planning and, with 
consent, are shared with relevant professionals involved in their care e.g. 
specialist nurses and doctors. The number of end of life plans recorded in patient 
files will be monitored. 
 
In line with Wirral’s Palliative Care and End of Life Strategy, support the 
development of more community based services such as Hospice at Home and 
enhanced Domiciliary Care to support as many people as possible to die at home 
wherever identified. 

Health and social care professionals will 
be aware of an individual’s end of life 
plan which will enable them to carry out 
care in line with the person’s wishes. 
 
An increased amount of people with 
dementia who have recorded their 
home as their preferred place of death 
will be supported to do so when they 
are identified as being in their last days 
of life. 
 

Education and training of health 
and social care staff in end of life 
planning and end of life care 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As mentioned in the “supporting well” section, as part of the mapping of 
dementia training available for health and social care professionals, we will also 
review current and potential training options in regards to end of life care and 
end of life planning with people with dementia and carers.  
 

GP’s and other health and care staff will 
feel confident in raising and discussing 
end of life planning with people with 
dementia. 

Health, social care and care home staff to receive training to support them to 
identify when a person with dementia is at the end of life stage, and to provide 
appropriate and compassionate end of life care to individuals in line with NICE 
guidelines. As above, a review of training available on Wirral will be undertaken 
to support this. 
 

Health and social care staff will be able 
to better identify when an individual 
with dementia is approaching the end 
of life stage. This will lead to an 
improvement in end of life care, 
including assessment and management 
of symptoms and pain.  

Carers to be provided with 
emotional support when a person 
with dementia is nearing end of 
life, and are signposted to 
bereavement counselling as 
appropriate 

Ensure that carers are signposted to local third sector organisations offering 
bereavement support and to Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
services (IAPT) for bereavement counselling if appropriate. Monitor the numbers 
of carers of people with dementia accessing IAPT bereavement services 

Carers will have access to high quality 
bereavement support in a timely 
manner.  

P
age 225



 
  

24 
 

Conclusion 
 

This strategy sets out our ambition to establish Wirral as a place where people who are living with or affected by dementia can live well. We know that by adopting 

a healthy lifestyle we can delay or even prevent the onset of dementia. By including a focus on healthy lifestyles, more people can enjoy more active and fulfilling 

lives. The strategy and action plans will develop as goals are achieved and circumstances change. We will be responsive to the information we gain through the 

involvement of organisations, groups and local people, particularly those living with and affected by dementia as well as national mandates.  

P
age 226



1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
DATE:  13TH NOVEMBER 2019

REPORT TITLE Wirral Older People Outcomes Baseline 2019

REPORT OF Nesta Hawker

INTRODUCTION / REPORT SUMMARY

Improving health outcomes and reducing inequalities remain the focus and overall goal of 
the Healthy Wirral programme assurance.  Through Wirral Health and Care Commissioning 
(WH&CC), Wirral has aligned its strategic priorities with the key health needs and health 
outcomes that need to be delivered around better care and better health.

WH&CCs priority is to focus on older people, and the following document provides high level 
baseline data against our first Wirral wide outcomes framework for older people.  This is 
also underpinned by operational analytical reporting across the Healthy Wirral workstreams.  
In this area, work is ongoing to establish and agree a comprehensive approach to health 
and care intelligence, ensuring we are harnessing data to make better informed decisions 
across the whole Wirral system.  We will work with our providers to understand how they will 
focus their services and interventions to improve our benchmark position.  

Proposed adult and older people population priorities going forward

Alcohol:  The biggest increase in burden of disease from 1990-2016 was liver disease 
(related to alcohol and obesity) and is one reason that people aged 35-44 in Wirral are, on 
average, less healthy than they were 25 years ago.  Alcohol remains a large and increasing 
cause of disease, with alcohol-specific hospital admissions rates remaining more than twice 
as high as England rates (age 18+ years).

Falls:  The rate of emergency hospital admissions due to falls has remained static over the 
last several years, however, remains substantially higher than England.  Research shows 
that frailty puts older adults at increased risk of falls, declining mobility, institutionalisation, 
hospitalisation and death.  Delivering high-quality care for frail older people, many of whom 
have multiple complex needs is a huge challenge for health and social care services1.  

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the contents of this report.

1 https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2510/frailty_review_final_7-8-2018.pdf

Page 227

Agenda Item 11



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 This report does not require decisions to be made and is for information purposes 
only.

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 No other options considered or applicable.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 2019/20 has been a year of development for the WH&CC and the development of a 
Wirral system-wide outcomes framework, focussing on Older People.
 

3.2 Wirral Older People Outcomes Baseline 2019 (Appendix 1)

The profile sets out the priority outcomes that need to be delivered for the older 
population of Wirral.  Its primary focus is to provide a current baseline position, 
highlighting variation that will inform the development of population-based 
commissioning, which will be refreshed as part of WH&CC assurance process for 
year 2.  The high-level priority outcomes reflect the following key health needs: 

*We want to reduce health inequalities for local people
1. Prioritise prevention, early intervention, self-care and self-management
2. Improve health, wellbeing and independence for local people
3. Good communication and access to information for local people
4. Deliver services that meet peoples’ needs and support their independence
5. Provide safe, effective and high-quality care and support
6. Deliver person-centred care through integrated and skilled service provision

*Healthy Wirral high level outcome

3.3 Summary of the outcomes baseline information

The rationale for the Healthy Wirral Outcomes framework illustrated in Appendix 1 
(as well as current performance, national ranking and relevant benchmarking), and 
any adjustments to metrics not captured in the original Commissioning and 
Transformation Strategy are outlined as follows:

Page 228



3

3.3.1. Overarching Outcome:  Reducing health inequalities for local people

Life expectancy at age 65 in Wirral has plateaued over the last several years for 
women and men; currently 20.4 and 18.1 years respectively.  Inequalities within 
Wirral, however, are a mixed picture. The gap in life expectancy at 65 between males 
in the most and least deprived areas of Wirral is decreasing but their gap in healthy 
life expectancy at age 65 is increasing.  In contrast, the gap in life expectancy for the 
female counterparts is increasing but the gap in healthy life expectancy is decreasing.

3.3.2. Outcome 1:  Prioritise prevention, early intervention, self-care and self-management

a) Bowel cancer screening has been historically poor, both locally and nationally; the 
60% target was not met in Wirral or England in 2018.  As such, bowel screening has 
been identified as a key priority for improvement in the Wirral Health Protection Group 
Action Plan.

b) Vaccination uptake in Wirral varies; flu vaccination for those aged 65+ are typically 
above the 75% target, whereas vaccination for Shingles is historically poor.  Uptake 
of the Shingles vaccine is another key priority for improvement identified in the Wirral 
Health Protection Group Action Plan.

c) Lifestyles factors in Wirral are a mixed picture but are improving in some areas; Wirral 
has a higher rate of successful 4-week quitters (smokers) than England, but alcohol-
specific hospital admissions rates remain more than twice as high as England.

3.3.3. Outcome 2:  Improve health, wellbeing and independence for local people

a) The rate of emergency hospital admissions due to falls has remained static over the 
last several years, however, remains substantially higher than England.

b) The government is supporting all local health and care systems to implement social 
prescribing connector schemes across the country by 2023: encouraging health and 
social care professionals to refer patients to nearby support programmes that inspire 
friendships and reduce feelings of loneliness.  Wirral partners have agreed to adopt 
and pilot the national indicators of loneliness, collaborating with Age UK and Wirral 
Community NHS Trust, Promoting Older People’s Independence Network (POPIN 
Team).  This will allow Wirral to test the indicators for loneliness that in future will 
enable Wirral to identify and develop the evidence base around the impact of different 
initiatives in tackling loneliness.

3.3.4. Outcome 3:  Good communication and access to information

a) The proportion of carers (aged 65+) who report feeling included within discussions 
about the person they care for have increased in Wirral over the last three years.  
However, rates are still lower than that seen nationally and for those aged 0-64 years 
in Wirral.

b) The NHS Long Term Plan (2019) sets out a new service model, which includes the 
priority for people to have more control over their own health and personalised care.  
This includes the inclusion of quality indicators expected to bring about improvement 
in End of Life Care.  The supportive care registry (developed as part of the Wirral 
Care Record) captures people who are enrolled on the Gold Standards Framework 

Page 229



4

Register in Wirral.  The registry will be live by the end of September 2019.  Work is 
being undertaken with End of Life Care leads to develop a framework that supports 
and evidences the improvement in well planned and coordinated care, identification 
and support for family and informal caregivers.

3.3.5. Outcome 4:  Deliver services that meet people’s needs and support independence

a) Social care packages for adults in Wirral reduced between 2017/18 and 2018/19.  
There was also a reduction in the proportion of packages that were for residential 
care, meaning that more people were allowed the opportunity to retain independence 
and stay at home. 

b) The proportion of people aged 65+ years in Wirral who are still at home 91 days after 
discharge from hospital has also increased.  The Trusted Assessor Review 
programme has also been rolled out following a pilot in 2018; this will enable people 
to have more timely and relevant changes made to their care packages in future.

c) Despite having a higher prevalence and incidence of Dementia, Wirral has also 
consistently had a higher proportion of follow up reviews for people diagnosed with 
Dementia.  In terms of hospital admissions, those aged 65+ years have a 
substantially higher rate of admission.  In contrast those aged under 65 years typically 
spend longer in hospital; 13.8 days compared to 11.6 days (for 65+ years).  

d) Related to this is hospital admissions where delirium has been identified; around a 
quarter of these admissions also have a record of dementia within the same hospital 
episode.  On average, patients with both delirium and dementia recorded are in 
hospital around a day longer compared to those patients where delirium only is 
recorded.

e) Emergency hospital admissions overall in Wirral (for those aged 50+ years) 
decreased between 2017/18 and 2018/19; this is also apparent for A&E attendances 
for the same population cohort and time period.

f) In terms of timely and responsive care, Wirral is consistently above national targets 
for referral pathways;

 Cancer Two Week Wait Referrals seen within 14 days: Wirral 2018/19 monthly 
average = 96.6% (Target = 93%)

 First treatment within 31 days of diagnosis: Wirral 2018/19 monthly average = 98.4% 
(Target = 96%)

3.3.6. Outcome 5:  Provide safe, effective and high-quality care

a) Proportionally, around 60% of those aged 65+ years assessed were diagnosed with 
severe frailty in 2017/18 and 2018/19.  A case finding tool for frailty has been 
developed as part of the Healthy Wirral programme and is currently being validated 
and tested prior to a full roll out across Wirral early 2020.  Care managers and 
clinicians will be able to see a record-level patient list with indicators for severe frailty 
and rising risk diagnosis from a GP, falls risk assessment and medications review.  
This will support the development of anticipatory care planning (ACP) for older people 
with frailty and people with multiple long-term conditions; enabling health and care 

Page 230



5

practitioners work with people and their carers to ensure the right thing is done at the 
right time. 

b) The proportion of Wirral residents reporting in the GP survey that they feel supported 
in managing their long-term condition decreased slightly between 2018 and 2019.  
However, is still higher than England (82.0% vs 78.0%).

c) Health Care Acquired Infection trend rates in Wirral give a mixed picture.  Between 
2017/18 and 2018/19 rates for e. Coli and MSSA have decreased, but rates for C. 
Diff and MRSA increased.  For C. Diff and E. Coli infections, infections are 
disproportionate between those aged 0-64 and 65+ years; the proportion of both 
infections are substantially weighted towards those aged 65+ years.

3.3.7. Outcome 6:  Deliver person-centred care through integrated and skilled service 
provision

a) Health and care staff are currently being supported to deliver personalised care and 
have coaching conversations focused upon what matters to that person. We will link 
this to Making Every Contact Count (MECC) a behaviour change approach that can 
drive a culture shift towards prevention addressing lifestyle behaviours and includes 
conversations relating to the wider determinants of health such as debt management, 
housing and welfare rights advice and directing people to services that can provide 
support. 

b) Work will be done with the whole system to ensure approaches such as health 
coaching, peer support and self-management education are systematically put in 
place to help people build knowledge, skills and confidence and support service 
transformation.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Not applicable to this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Not applicable to this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

Not applicable to this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

Not applicable to this report.

Page 231



6

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

Not applicable to this report.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Not applicable to this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Beverley Murray
Strategic Commissioning & Support, Public Health 
Intelligence, Wirral Intelligence Service, Wirral Council
telephone:  (0151) 666 5198
email:  beverleymurray@wirral.gov.uk   

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Wirral Older People Outcomes Baseline 2019

REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
N/A

Page 232



Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 1 of 24

Wirral Older People Outcomes Baseline 2019

This profile has been designed as a resource to accompany the Healthy Wirral Outcomes 
Framework for Older People (see Appendix 1).  Its primary focus is to provide a high-level 
baseline position, highlighting variation that will inform the development of population-based 
commissioning.

The report is designed to prompt local discussion and agreement on how service integration and 
new service models will help deliver the move from reactive care towards active population health 
management for our ageing population.  To reduce health inequalities by improving upstream 
prevention of avoidable illness, providing better support for patients, carers and volunteers and to 
enhance ‘supported self-management’ particularly of long-term conditions.  This supports the 
Healthy Wirral programme and its key challenge in delivering outcomes around better care and 
better health.   

Background information and overview of Global Burden of Disease

For a health and social care system to work optimally, it should be aligned with the nature of the 
health challenges people face and how these change over time. The Global Burden of Disease 
(GBD) study quantifies and ranks the contribution of various risk factors that cause premature 
deaths in England1.  Burden of disease data is useful for prioritising health and public health 
policy and investments, for instance, by knowing which risk factors (like smoking or alcohol) use 
cause the most deaths. These priorities guide the renewed NHS prevention programme and 
has enabled Wirral to focus on its own vision for ageing well in Wirral.

Since 1990, the burden has been falling for many diseases, particularly CVD, while the burden of 
alcohol-related disease and dementia is increasing.  Table 1 shows overall burden of various 
conditions and diseases by their DALYs (disability adjusted life years).  DALYs are a summary 
measure of disability and lost years of life compared to an optimal expectation.

Looking at three-year averages, the diseases with the largest absolute change were stroke and 
ischemic heart disease, which both fell considerably in terms of the burden of disease, due to 
changes in risk factors and other influences such as changes in surgical and clinical 
management.  The burden of disease due to lung cancers has also fallen, which is thought to 
be due to a historical decrease in smoking prevalence since the 1970s.  The burden of disease 
due to dementia has increased due to the ageing population; diagnosis rates have also 
improved in this time but the GBD data does consider undiagnosed disease, so increased 
diagnosis should not be a driver of the increase.  The burden of cirrhosis and chronic liver 
disease has increased, which may be due to a long legacy of people drinking too much alcohol 

1 https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)32207-4/fulltext

APPENDIX 1:  Wirral Older People Outcomes Baseline 2019

Page 233

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)32207-4/fulltext


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 2 of 24

or being alcohol dependent, as well as increases in obesity leading to increases in non-alcoholic 
steatohepatitis (NASH or fatty liver).  In Wirral, the economic costs of alcohol were estimated to 
cost the borough £131 million 2.  This supports the need to develop a Healthy Wirral Outcomes 
Framework for Adults which will be the focus for Wirral in 2020.  Healthy Wirral partners will 
work to deliver programmes to achieve improved outcomes for our adult population and reduce 
health inequalities by improving upstream prevention.  

Table 1:  Disease groups with the biggest absolute change in DALYs per year in Wirral from 
1990-92 to 2014-16

Disease Absolute 
change 
(DALYS 
per year)

Relative 
change 

(%)

Cirrhosis and other chronic liver 
diseases 1,104 115%

Alzheimer disease and other 
dementias 544 19%

Age-related and other hearing loss 482 26%

Low back pain 413 8%

Falls 388 23%

Lower respiratory infections -699 -23%

Road injuries -801 -44%

Tracheal, bronchus, and lung cancer -1,266 -21%

Stroke -2,446 -36%

Ischemic heart disease -12,119 -61%

2 https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2890/alcohol-jsna-21-3-2018.pdf 

Key messages 

 The burden of disease from dementia has increased significantly since 1990 
 Rates of years lived with disability in Wirral increase steadily from age 15 to age 60, then 

show an accelerated increase from age 60 onwards 
 Alcohol is a large and increasing cause of disease and is one reason that people aged 

35-44 in Wirral are, on average, less healthy than they were 25 years ago
 The leading causes of years lived with disability for people of working age (we used age 

20-64) are low back and neck pain, followed by migraine, depressive disorders, skin and 
sense organ diseases (e.g. vision disorders). This may indicate that to improve economic 
productivity these diseases need to be prioritised. 

Burden of disease 
increasing

Burden of disease 
falling

Page 234

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2890/alcohol-jsna-21-3-2018.pdf


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 3 of 24

Reduce health inequalities for local people

People are supported to live in good health and good quality of life

Life expectancy at age 65 (Male and Female), 2013-15 to 2015-17

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019

People are supported to have a good quality of life
Wirral England

Carer-reported quality of life score
2018/19

Social care-related quality of life score (65+ only) 
2017/18

Health related quality of life score for older people
2016/17 0.718

19.2

7.6

0.735

18.9

7.8

Source1: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019
Source2: Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework, 2019 (1A, 1D)

Note: Wirral scores are RAG rated against England

Key Observation(s)

Indicators A1.1 and A1.2
 Life expectancy at age 65 has 

remained constant over the last 
3 periods

 Females in Wirral have seen a 
0.1 year increase, compared to 
no increase in their England 
counterparts

 In both, Wirral and England, 
males have seen an increase; 
0.1 years in England and 0.2 
year in Wirral

Key Observation(s)

Indicators A2.11, A2.22 and A2.32

 Wirral saw a smaller decrease in scores for carer-reported quality of life than England between 2016/17 and 
2018/19; 7.7 to 7.6 vs 8.0 to 7.8 respectively

 The EQ5D has been removed from the GP survey, therefore the health-related quality of life for older people 
statistics will no longer be available

Page 235

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 4 of 24

Inequalities in healthy life expectancy are reduced

Inequality in healthy life expectancy at age 65 (male and female), 2014-16 to 2015-17

Source: Public Health Intelligence Team, Wirral Intelligence Service, 2019

Inequality in life expectancy at age 65 (male and female), 2013-15 to 2015-17

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicators A3.1a and A3.1b
 The inequality1 in healthy life 

expectancy at age 65 in Wirral:

 reduced for males; 2.7 years 
in 2014-16 to 1.8 in 2015-17

 increased for females; 2.4 
years in 2014-16 to 2.5 in 
2015-17

1difference between those in the most and 
least deprived deciles

Key Observation(s)

Indicators A3.2a and A3.2b
 The inequality1 in life expectancy 

at age 65 in Wirral:

 increased for males; 5.2years 
in 2013-15 to 6.7 in 2015-17

 reduced for females; 5.8 
years in 2013-15 to 4.9 in 
2015-17

1difference between those in the most and 
least deprived deciles

Additional Resources: Reduce health inequalities for local people
For more in-depth detail around Life Expectancy and the inequalities both within Wirral and between Wirral and 
England, please refer to the current (and previous) Life Expectancy reports on the Wirral Intelligence website:
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/wirral-population/life-expectancy/

Other resources available for data in this section are:
Public Health Annual Report 2017: Expect Better
Public Health Outcomes Framework: Overarching Indicators
Public Health England Segment Tool
Adult Social Care Analytical Hub, NHS Digital
Health Inequalities Dashboard
Local Insight Wirral (and Support Page)

Page 236

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/wirral-population/life-expectancy/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2248/public_health_annual_report_2017.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://connect.healthdatainsight.org.uk/health_inequalities/segment_tool/
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNTZlMDRmYTYtM2JhNi00OGJlLWE3YjgtYWQ2MDQwNDUzZWUwIiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://connect.healthdatainsight.org.uk/health_inequalities/dashboard/
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/map-insight/using-wirral-community-insight/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 5 of 24

Prioritise prevention, early intervention, self-care & self-
management
Interventions take place early to tackle emerging problems or support those 
most at risk

Cancer screening: Bowel cancer (persons, 60-74 years), 2018
Cancer Screening: Breast Cancer (female, 53-70 years), 2018

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019

Older People Vaccination Uptake: Flu (persons, 65+ years), 2017/18
Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV), (persons, 65+ years), 2017/18
Shingles (persons, 70 years), 2017/18

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicators 1A.1 and 1A.2
 Bowel cancer screening did 

not meet the 60% ambition in 
2018

 This figure has increased 
from 56.1% in 2015

 Breast cancer screening 
exceeded the ambition of 
70% in 2018; this is the 
lowest figure over the last 9 
years 

Key Observation(s)

Indicators A1.3, A1.3 and A1.5
 Flu vaccination in those aged 

65+ exceeded the national target 
(76.0% vs 75.0%) in 2017/18

 PPV vaccination in those aged 
65+ did not meet the national 
target (72.5% vs 75.0%) in 
2017/18

 Shingles vaccination in those 
aged 70+ did not meet the 
national target (44.4% vs 60.0%) 
in 2017/18

Page 237

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 6 of 24

Alcohol-specific Hospital Admissions (male and female, 18+ years) 2009/10 to 2017/18

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019

Smokers that have successfully quit at 4 weeks (CO Validated, persons, 16+ years),
2013/14 to 2018/19

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Physically active adults (persons, 19+ years), 2015/16 to 2017/18

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 1A.7
 The figures shown in the chart (right) are 

rates per 100,000 based on the estimated 
number of smokers aged 16+

 Wirral typically has a higher rate of 4-week 
quitters than England

 In 2018/19, Wirral continued an upward trend 
compared to a decreasing trend nationally

Key Observation(s)
Indicator 1A.6
 Historically, Wirral has had a rate of 

admission episodes for alcohol-specific 
conditions that is substantially higher than that 
seen nationally

 The admission rates for Wirral males is 
consistently around twice that seen in Wirral 
females; in 2017/18 the rates for males was 
1,664 compared to 769 per 100,000 for 
females

Key Observation(s)
Indicator 1A.8
 Estimated physical activity in Wirral 

adults has fluctuated over the three 
periods 

 Between 2015/16 and 2016/17 
prevalence increased by 4.6% before 
decreasing by 5.6% in 2017/18

 Such fluctuations could be explained 
by figures being calculated using 
modelled survey responses, but remain 
unclear

Page 238

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 7 of 24

Improve health, wellbeing and independence for local people
People are supported to have a good quality of life

Patients “moving to recovery” following treatment (male and female, 50-64 and 65+ years), 
Quarter 1, 2019/20

Source: Wirral CCG, August 2019
Note: This is a baseline using Quarter 1 data (2019/20) only as earlier data is not available due to changes in provider. Moving to recovery means 
when a person scores above the cut off on clinical questionnaires before treatment but below at the end of treatment.

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 2A.1
 Males aged 65+ have the 

highest proportion of patients 
“moving to recovery” out those 
cohorts included; 50.0% in 
Quarter 1 2019/20 (n = 6)

 Females aged 50-64, however, 
only have 25.5% “moving to 
recovery” once treatment has 
been completed (n = 12)

 As can be seen, due to the 
short baseline period, actual 
numbers are small

Additional Resources: Prevention, early intervention and self-care
For more in-depth detail around the topics covered in this section please see the following links:

Wirral Intelligence Service:
 Cancer
 Health Protection
 Alcohol
 Tobacco
 Physical Activity 

Public Health Outcomes Framework:
 Overarching Indicators
 Productive Healthy Ageing
 Local Health
 Health Protection
 Cancer Services
 Local Alcohol Profiles for England
 Local Tobacco Control Profiles
 Physical Activity  

NHS Digital:
 Breast Screening (interactive 

report)

Page 239

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/cancer/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/health-protection/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/alcohol
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/tobacco/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/physical-activity/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/healthy-ageing
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-protection
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/cancerservices
file://wir0201central4/PHDATA$/DATA/PH-All-folders/PH-PHIT/Wirral%20Health%20&%20Care%20Commissioning/ICH%20Workstream/Older%20People/%E2%80%A2%09https:/fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles
file://wir0201central4/PHDATA$/DATA/PH-All-folders/PH-PHIT/Wirral%20Health%20&%20Care%20Commissioning/ICH%20Workstream/Older%20People/%E2%80%A2%09https:/fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-activity
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiYTFmMjVjYWEtN2MwZS00NWRmLWE0YzAtMmIxNzYxMjdmNWM4IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiYTFmMjVjYWEtN2MwZS00NWRmLWE0YzAtMmIxNzYxMjdmNWM4IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 8 of 24

Emergency hospital admissions due to falls (persons, 65+ years), 2010/11 to 2017/18

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 2A.2
 Wirral’s rate of emergency admissions due to falls in those aged 65+ has been consistently higher than rates in 

England since 2010/11 (earlier data unavailable)
 The proportion of emergency admissions in Wirral is substantially weighted towards those aged 80+ years; this 

cohorts makes up around two thirds (≈66%) each year

Page 240

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 9 of 24

Additional Resources: Improve health, wellbeing and independence
For more in-depth detail around the topics covered in this section please see the following links:

Wirral Intelligence Service: 
 Mental Health
 Falls (older people)
 Loneliness
 Public Health Annual Report 2012/13: Social Isolation

Other:
 Catalyst: Prescribing Reports (public insight portal)
 ONS National measures of loneliness

Public Health Outcomes Framework:
 Overarching Indicators
 Productive Healthy Ageing
 Local Health
 Mental Health & Wellbeing

 Governments Loneliness Strategy
 Campaign to End Loneliness

Indicator 2A.3: Identification/reduction in the rate of loneliness

Most people will experience loneliness at some point in their lives. However, the experience of long-term 
loneliness can seriously impact an individual’s well-being and their ability to function in society.  As loneliness 
has been shown to be linked to poor physical and mental health as well as personal well-being, with potentially 
adverse effects on communities, it is an issue of increasing interest to policymakers at local and national levels 
as well as internationally.  In January 2018, the Prime Minister tasked the Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
with developing national indicators of loneliness suitable for use in major studies to inform future policy in 
England.  The Government is supporting all local health and care systems to implement social prescribing 
connector schemes across the country by 2023: encouraging health and social care professionals to refer 
patients to nearby support programmes that inspire friendships and reduce feelings of loneliness.  

Wirral’s approach to tackling loneliness is to identify the loneliest older people in our communities.  Wirral 
partners have agreed to adopt and pilot the national indicators of loneliness.  The pilot will be carried out in 
collaboration with Age UK and Wirral Community NHS Trust, Promoting Older People’s Independence Network 
(P.O.P.I.N Team), who provide support for those over 65 years to support and maintain independence.  This will 
allow us to test the indicators for loneliness that in future will enable Wirral to identify and develop the evidence-
base around the impact of different initiatives in tackling loneliness, across all ages and within all communities.  
A baseline will be established with the pilot providers by April 2020.  

Recommended measures of loneliness

Measures Items Response Categories

The three-item UCLA
Loneliness scale

1.   How often do you feel that you 
lack companionship?

Hardly ever or never, Some of the
time, Often

2.   How often do you feel left out? Hardly ever or never, Some of the
time, Often

3.   How often do you feel isolated 
from others?

Hardly ever or never, Some of the
time, Often

The direct measure of 
loneliness How often do you feel lonely? Often/always, Some of the time, 

Occasionally, Hardly ever, Never

Source: Office of National Statistics

 

Page 241

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/mental-health/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/falls-older-people/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/social-isolation-loneliness/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2243/public-health-annual-report-201213.pdf
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/catalyst-public-insight-portal
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/compendium/nationalmeasurementofloneliness/2018
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/healthy-ageing
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 10 of 24

Good communication and access to information
People and their carers feel respected and able to make informed choices

Carers who report that they have been included or consulted in discussion about the 
person they care for (persons, 65+ years), 2014/15 – 2018/19

Source: Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework, 2019 (3C)

Key 
Observation(s)
Indicator 3A.1
The changes seen at a 
local level mean that 
carers (aged 65+) are 
now less likely to feel 
consulted or included in 
discussions about the 
person they care for, 
compared to the 
previous time period and 
their counterparts ages 
18-64

Indicator 5A.3: Dying in preferred place / place of choosing / Recording of preferred 
place of death
The NHS Long Term Plan (2019) sets out a new service model, which includes the priority for people to have 
more control over their own health and personalised care. To support this, two new quality indicators (QIs) have 
been included in the 2019/20 Quality Outcome Framework (QOF)2. The inclusion of the two QIs is expected to 
bring about improvement in the following aspects of End of Life Care:

 Early identification and support
 Well planned and coordinated care
 Identification and support for family/informal caregivers

The Supportive Care Registry (developed as part of the Wirral Care Record) captures people who are enrolled 
on the Gold Standards Framework Register3 in Wirral. The registry will be live by the end of September 2019 and 
work is being undertaken with End of Life leads from Wirral CCG to develop indicators for the framework using 
this tool.

2 Investment and Evolution: A five-year framework for GP contract reform to implement the NHS Long Term Plan
3 Gold Standards Framework website

In the interim, analysis has been undertaken showing the place of death by broad age band for Wirral residents 
whose death occurred in 2017.

The data shows that people in Wirral aged 65-84 and 85+ years are more likely to die in hospital. However, the 
second most common place of death for those cohorts differ; those aged 65-84 years are more likely to die at 
home whereas those aged 85+ years are more likely to die in a care home. Figures published by Public Health 
England on the End of Life Care Profile show that temporary resident care home deaths in Wirral increased from 
25.6% in 2015 to 31.9% in 2016; this is where place of death is a care home but is not the usual place of 
residence. Page 242

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.bma.org.uk/-/media/files/pdfs/collective%20voice/committees/gpc/gpc%20england/investment-and-evolution-five-year-framework.pdf?la=en
http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/4/gid/1938133060/pat/46/par/E39000026/ati/165/are/E38000208/iid/92453/age/1/sex/4


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 11 of 24

Deliver services that meet people’s needs and support 
independence
People are supported to be as independent as possible

 Social Care packages provided by Adult Social Care (Wirral), 2018/19

Source: Adult Social Care Intelligence Team, Wirral Intelligence Service, 2019

Number of people receiving a review of their care package, (persons, 18+ years), 2018/19

Source: Adult Social Care Intelligence Team, Wirral Intelligence Service, 2019

Key Observation(s)
Indicator 4A.1i
 Overall in 2018/19, there were 3,446 

cases; 2,784 domiciliary care 
packages, 282 nursing packages and 
380 residential packages

 Care packages reduced in 2018/19 
compared to 2017/18; 3,446 vs 3,659 
respectively

 In addition to an overall reduction, the 
number of people receiving residential 
care packages also reduced (380 vs 
492) allowing more people the 
opportunity to stay in their home

Additional Resources: Good communication and access to information
For more in-depth detail around the topics covered in this section please see the following links:

Wirral Intelligence Service:
 End of Life
 Carers
 Vulnerable Adults

Public Health Outcomes Framework:
 Overarching Indicators
 End of Life

NHS Digital:
 Adult Social Care Analytical Hub

Number of deaths by place of death and broad age band (persons), Wirral, 2017

Source: Public Health Intelligence Team, Wirral Intelligence Service, 2019 (using Primary Care Mortality Data, NHS Digital, 2019)
Note: Data has been suppressed (*) due to numbers <5

Page 243

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/end-of-life/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/carers/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/vulnerable-adults/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNTZlMDRmYTYtM2JhNi00OGJlLWE3YjgtYWQ2MDQwNDUzZWUwIiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 12 of 24

Emergency admissions for delirium and delirium with dementia (persons, 18+ years), 
2017/18-2018/19

 
Emergency (Non-Elective) 

Admissions
Emergency (Non-Elective), Short 

Stay* Admissions

 Delirium Only Delirium and 
Dementia Delirium Only Delirium and 

Dementia
Total Spells (n) 1,791 666 80 28
Total Bed Days (days) 36,688 14,198 62 16
Average Length of Spell (days) 20.5 21.3 N/A N/A
Average Age at Admission (years) 80.3 84.2 75.1 84.2
Age Range at Admission (years) 81 (20 to 101) 49 (52 to 101) 77 (23 to 100) 18 (77 to 95)
Proportion aged < 65 years (%, n) 8.3% (n=149) 1.5% (10) 21.3% (17) 0% (0)
Proportion aged 65+ years (%, n) 91.7% (1,642) 98.5% (656) 78.7% (63) 100% (28)

Source: Public Health Intelligence Team, Wirral Council and Wirral CCG Business Intelligence Team, 2019
Notes: Short stays are hospital spells where the patient is discharged < 2 days after admission.

Delirium induced by substance misuse has not been included within this extract.

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4A.1ii
Following a successful pilot period in 2018, the Trusted Assessor Review programme has been implemented in 
Wirral since January 2019, with new providers being brought on board each month. Baseline data for the full 
programme will be available for 2019/20 and will offer more insight into the packages that require review following 
a change in circumstance. For more information, please see guidance from the Care Quality Commission.

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4A.2:
The above figures have been calculated using the Secondary User Service (SUS) hospital data from two pooled 
years (2017/18 and 2018/19). Hospital episode data where delirium was diagnosed was extracted together with 
all other episodes related to the same patient spell in hospital. Over the two years, there were 2,457 non-elective 
(emergency) hospital admissions were patients were diagnosed with delirium; around one in four of these 
admissions (27.1%) also recorded a diagnosis of dementia before discharge. 

Analysis has also been done on the primary diagnoses of these emergency (non-elective) hospital admissions:

  Emergency (Non-Elective) Admissions
  Delirium Only Delirium and Dementia

To
p 

Pr
im

ar
y 

D
ia

gn
os

es

1 Urinary Tract Infection (14.9%) Urinary Tract Infection (17.6%)
2 Sepsis (12.8%) Sepsis (11.6%)
3 Lobar Pneumonia (10.2%) Lobar Pneumonia (9.8%)
4 Delirium (9.6%) Delirium superimposed on dementia (9.6%)
5 Pneumonia (unspecified) (6.1%) Delirium (7.1%)

Source: Public Health Intelligence Team, Wirral Council and Wirral CCG Business Intelligence Team, 2019
Note: Short Stay admissions have been omitted due to small numbers. Delirium superimposed on dementia falls under the dementia 
classification rather than delirium classification

The top primary diagnoses for both cohorts are almost identical, with the only difference being the addition of 
‘Delirium superimposed on dementia’ for those where both delirium and dementia have been recorded.

Page 244

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20180625_900805_Guidance_on_Trusted_Assessors_agreements_v2.pdf


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 13 of 24

Older people still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital (person),
2015/16 to 2017/18

Source: Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework, 2019 (2B.1)

People with dementia diagnosis receiving a follow up review (age), 2015/16 to 2017/18

Source: CCG Impact Assessment Framework, 2019 (126b) 

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4A.3
 The proportion of older people still at 

home 91 days post-discharge has 
increased in 2017/18 for all areas 
compared to 2016/17

 Locally, rates for those aged 75-84 and 
85+ have increased consistently and 
substantially between 2015/16 and 
2017/18

 Rates for those aged 65-74 in Wirral 
increased between 2015/16 and 
2016/17, but then decreased slightly in 
2017/18

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4A.4i
 Despite having higher 

prevalence and incidence of 
dementia, Wirral has 
consistently had a higher 
proportion of diagnosed patients 
having a follow up review than 
nationally

 In fact, Wirral has seen 
increases in recent periods, 
compared to decreases in 
England in the same period

Data included for Indicator 4A.4ii shows that emergency admissions for dementia (without delirium) typically last 
around 12-14 days, i.e. nearly half the length of those with delirium. In other words, patients with a diagnosis of 
delirium and dementia spend nearly twice as long in hospital as patients with a delirium only diagnoses.

It is not currently possible to understand the events leading up to hospital admissions for these patients, or what 
the long-term outcomes following discharge. However, with the launch of the Longitudinal Wirral Care Record in 
September 2019, there are opportunities for analytics to be developed to reduce avoidable admissions.

Page 245

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 14 of 24

Rate of dementia-related admissions (<65 and 65+ years, person), 2018/19

Source: Wirral CCG BI Team, 2019

Three of more emergency admissions in last three months of life (person), 2015 to 2017

Source: CCG Impact Assessment Framework, 2019 (105c)

People access acute hospital services only when they need them

Attendances at Accident & Emergency by 5-year age band (persons), 2018/19

Source: Wirral CCG BI Team, 2019
Note: This refers to AE attendances at Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust only

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4B.1
 The total number of A&E 

attendances for people aged 50+ 
was 35,481 in 2018/19 

 These attendances involved 
23,460 different patients

 Around 30% of these patients 
attended A&E more than once 
within the year (n=6,719)

 Risk stratification is available to 
enhance this data

Key Observation(s)
Indicator 4A.4ii
 Despite the rate of 

admissions being higher for 
those aged 65+ years, those 
aged < 65 years typically 
spend longer in hospital; 13.8 
vs 11.6 days respectively

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4A.5
 Wirral and England have both seen 

decreases in the proportion of people 
with 3+ emergency admissions in the 
last 3 months of life over the last 3 time 
periods

 Despite being consistently higher than 
England, the gap has reduced from 1.0% 
in 2015 to 0.6% in 2017

Page 246

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 15 of 24

Patients on non-emergency pathways seen within 18 weeks (person), 2017/18 to 2018/19

Source: NHS England, 2019

Non-elective admissions to hospital by 5-year age band (person), 2018/19

Source: Wirral CCG BI Team, 2019
Note: This refers to AE attendances at Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust only

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4B.2
 In 2017/18, 76.2% of people on a Referral To 

Treatment (RTT) pathway were seen within 18 
weeks, increasing to 81.8% in 2018/19

 The lowest proportion by speciality was 62.5% in 
2017/18 (General Surgery) compared to 66.7% for 
Cardiothoracic Surgery in 2018/19,

 In 2017/18, 8% of patients in Wirral had to wait 
29.3 weeks or longer, compared to 25 weeks in 
2018/19 (based on the 92% operating standard)

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4B.3
 The total number of non-

elective admissions in 
2018/19 was 24,881

 These admissions involved 
16,368 different patients

 Around 30% of these 
patients had more than one 
non-elective admission 
within the year (n=4,854)

 Risk stratification is available 
to enhance this this data

Page 247

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 16 of 24

People have access to timely and responsive care

Referrals through Two Week Wait scheme seen within 14 days (person),
2017/18 and 2018/19

Source: NHS England, 2019

First treatment received within 31 days of diagnosis (person), 2017/18 and 2018/19

Source: NHS England, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4C.1i
 There appears to be no seasonality pattern associated with Wirral’s proportional trend of people referred 

through the Two Week Wait (TWW) scheme being seen within 14 days
 The average proportion seen within 2 weeks did decrease from 96.6% in 2017/18 to 93.8% in 2018/19, 

however this is still above the 93% national target

Indicator 4C.2: GP Appointments in Wirral
The availability of GP appointments is essential to patients having access to timely and responsive care. 
Software that allows the monitoring of capacity and demand has recently been commissioned and is currently 
being piloted with a small group of GP practices. Full roll out and training is to be completed during September 
2019. Data around availability of GP appointments in Wirral can therefore be baselined from Quarter 3 (2019/20) 
in readiness for future monitoring. 

In relation to patient experiences of making appointments with their GP surgery, the most recent GP Survey 
results shows that 79% of those aged 65+ years in Wirral rated their experiences as good* compared to 75% 
nationally. This is also a higher proportion than in patients aged 16+ years both locally and nationally; 73% and 
67% respectively.

Page 248

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 17 of 24

Provide safe, effective and high-quality care and support
People are supported by high quality care and support

People with a diagnosis of severe frailty (person, 65+ years) 2017/18 to 2018/19

Source: NHS Digital, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 4C.1ii
 There appears to be some seasonality to Wirral’s proportional trend of people referred through the TWW 

scheme receiving their first treatment within 31 days; falling proportions over the summer period, before a 
temporary increase in November

 The average proportion increased from 98.1% in 2017/18 to 98.4% in 2018/19; both above the 96% national 
target

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 5A.1i
 In 2017/18, 21,899 (or 32.1% of) registered patients with 

a Wirral GP surgery and aged 65 years had a frailty 
assessment, compared to 12,831 (18.2%) in 2018/19

 Of those assessed, 21.6% (n=4,727) were found to have 
severe frailty in 2017/18, compared to 16.2% (2,081) in 
2018/19

 These figures equate to 6.9% and 2.9% of all patients 
aged 65 and over in 2017/18 and 2018/19 respectively

 This also means that 1 in 20 patients (4.9%) aged 65+ in 
Wirral have been assessed as severely frail since April 
2017

Additional Resources: Deliver services that meet people’s needs and support 
independence
For more in-depth detail around the topics covered in this section please see the following links:

Wirral Intelligence Service:
 Dementia
 End of Life
 Vulnerable Adults

Public Health Outcomes Framework:
 Overarching Indicators
 Dementia
 End of Life

NHS England:
 Consultant-led Referral to Treatment (RTT) Waiting Times
 A&E Attendances and Emergency Admissions
 Cancer waiting times

NHS Digital:
 Appointments in General Practice (interactive report)
 Adult Social Care Analytical Hub

Page 249

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/dementia/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/end-of-life/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/vulnerable-adults/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/end-of-life/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waiting-times/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ae-waiting-times-and-activity/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/cancer-waiting-times/
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiYzU2OTA2ODktZTIyNy00ODhmLTk1ZGEtOGVlZmRlZDNjYzY3IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNTZlMDRmYTYtM2JhNi00OGJlLWE3YjgtYWQ2MDQwNDUzZWUwIiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 18 of 24

People who feel supported to manage their long-term condition (person), 2018 and 2019

Source: GP Survey, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 5A.2
 Both Wirral and England 

saw a 1% decrease in the 
proportion of people 
feeling supported by local 
services in managing their 
long-term condition

 Wirral has maintained 
higher proportion of 
people feeling supported; 
(4% higher) than England 
in both 2018 and 2019

Indicator 5A.3: Quality of care in last months of life
The NHS Long Term Plan (2019) sets out a new service model, which includes the priority for people to have 
more control over their own health and personalised care. To support this, two new quality indicators (QIs) have 
been included within the 2019/20 Quality Outcome Framework (QOF)2. The inclusion of the two QIs is expected 
to bring about improvement for the following aspects of End of Life Care:

 Early identification and support
 Well planned and coordinated care
 Identification and support for family/informal caregivers

This measure was originally included in the VOICES Survey, a national survey undertaken by ONS with 
bereaved carers. The survey is no longer undertaken, and so work is currently being done locally to develop 
indicators for the framework using the Supportive Care Registry. The registry captures people who are enrolled 
on the Gold Standards Framework Register in Wirral and is intended to go live by the end of September 2019.

2 Investment and Evolution: A five-year framework for GP contract reform to implement the NHS Long Term Plan

Page 250

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.bma.org.uk/-/media/files/pdfs/collective%20voice/committees/gpc/gpc%20england/investment-and-evolution-five-year-framework.pdf?la=en


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 19 of 24

People are kept safe and free from avoidable harm

Rate of C. Difficile infection by broad age band (person), 2017/18 and 2018/19

Source: HCAI DCS, 2019, and ONS, 2019

Rate of MSSA infection by broad age band (person), 2017/18 and 2018/19

Source: HCAI DCS, 2019, and ONS, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 5B.1i
 The C Diff rate per 100,000 

people (all age) in Wirral 
increased from 37.5 to 46.4 
between 2017/18 and 
2018/19

 There was also a rate 
increase when looking at 
those aged 65+ only

 The rate for those aged 65+ 
is substantially higher than 
for all age; this imbalance is 
also highlighted in the 
proportional breakdown of 
cases by broad age band

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 5B.1ii
 The MSSA rate per 100,000 

people (all age) in Wirral 
increased from 25.1 
(2017/18) to 25.4 (2018/19)

 In contrast there was a 
decrease in the rate for 
those aged 65+ over the 
same period; 55.2 to 53.0

 The rate for those aged is 
substantially higher than 
that seen for all ages

 The majority of MSSA 
cases occurred in those 
aged 0-64 in both periods

Page 251

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 20 of 24

Rate of MRSA infection by broad age band (person), 2017/18 and 2018/19

Source: HCAI DCS, 2019, and ONS, 2019
Note: Figures cannot be shown due to small numbers (<5)

Rate of E. Coli infections by broad age band (person), 2017/18 and 2018/19)

Source: HCAI DCS, 2019, and ONS, 2019

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 5B.1iii
 The MRSA rate per 

100,000 (all age) in Wirral 
increased from 0.6 in 
2017/18 to 2.5 in 2018/19

 There was also an 
increase in rate for those 
aged 65+ over the same 
period; 3.0 to 5.7

 The rate for those aged 
65+ is substantially than 
that seen at all age

 In fact, no MRSA cases 
occurred in people aged 
0-64 in 2017/18 in Wirral

Key Observation(s)

Indicator 5B.1iv
 The e Coli rate per 100,000 (all 

age) in Wirral decreased from 
90.5 (2017/18) to 86.3 
(2018/19)

 This also occurred in the 65+ 
only rate; 322.6 decreasing to 
282.2 over the same period

 The rate for 65+ is substantially 
higher than that seen at all age

 This imbalance is also 
highlighted by the proportional 
breakdown of cases by broad 
age group

Additional Resources: Provide safe, effective and high-quality care and support
For more in-depth detail around the topics covered in this section please see the following links:

Wirral Intelligence Service:
 Long term conditions
 Frailty Evidence Review (2018)
 Wirral Long Term Condition

Model 2017
 Health Protection

Public Health Outcomes 
Framework:
 Overarching Indicators
 Antimicrobial Resistance
 Health Protection

NHS Digital:
 Quality Outcomes Framework (interactive 

report)
 GMS/PMS Core Contract Data
NHS England:
 Long term conditions

Page 252

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/people-with-a-long-term-condition
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2510/frailty_review_final_7-8-2018.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2401/wirral-long-term-conditions-model-v10-final-for-website-2.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2401/wirral-long-term-conditions-model-v10-final-for-website-2.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/health-protection/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/amr-local-indicators
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-protection
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiODliN2M3NTQtOGFjMC00NjMxLTk5ZWMtMjg2MmQ0NDI3Nzk5IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiODliN2M3NTQtOGFjMC00NjMxLTk5ZWMtMjg2MmQ0NDI3Nzk5IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://digital.nhs.uk/services/general-practice-gp-collections/service-information/gms-pms-core-contract-data-collection-2017-18
file://wir0201central4/PHDATA$/DATA/PH-All-folders/PH-PHIT/Wirral%20Health%20&%20Care%20Commissioning/ICH%20Workstream/Older%20People/NHS%20England:-


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 21 of 24

Deliver person centred care through integrated and skilled service 
provision
People and their families are engaged in the setting of their outcomes and 
management of their care

People are supported by skilled staff, delivery person-centred care

Indicator 6A.1 and Indicator 6A.2:
Personalised care supports people to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence they need to more effectively 
manage and make informed decisions about their own health and health care.

The Patient Activation Measure (PAM) tool measures someone’s ability to self-care.  People who are more 
activated are more likely to attend screenings, check-ups, immunisations and adopt positive health behaviours.  

Personalised Care and Support Planning (PCSP) is a series of facilitated conversations in which the person, or 
those who know them well, actively participates to explore the management of their health and well-being within 
the context of their whole life and family situation. This process recognises the person’s skills and strengths, as 
well as their experiences.

Health and care staff are currently being supported to deliver personalised care and have coaching 
conversations focussed upon what matters to that person. We will link this to Making Every Contact Count 
(MECC) a behaviour change approach that can drive a culture shift towards prevention addressing lifestyle 
behaviours and includes conversations relating to the wider determinants of health such as debt management, 
housing and welfare rights advice and directing people to services that can provide support. 

Work will be done with the whole system to ensure approaches such as health coaching, peer support and self-
management education are systematically put in place to help people build knowledge, skills and confidence and 
support service transformation.

Indicator 6B.1:
Following discussions with Cheshire & Wirral Partnership Trust (CWP), who are leading on the Healthy 
Wirral Workforce Workstream, it has been identified that this area of the framework links in with the 
sub-workstream around “Conversational Capability”. 

A task and finish group are currently working on the development of a system-wide capability to initiate 
conversations that avert conflict and support behaviours which lead to trust-based relationships 
centred on a common-purpose.

Indicator 6B.2:
Please refer to text for Indicator 6A.1 and Indicator 6A.2

Page 253

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 22 of 24

Appendix 1:  Outcomes Framework for Older People

The Healthy Wirral Outcomes framework sets out the vision for ageing well (older people 
and frailty)

The framework focuses on the two high level outcomes we want to achieve across the Healthy Wirral 
system and beyond:

 Increased healthy life expectancy
 Reduced differences in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy between communities

These outcomes reflect the focus we wish to take, not only on how long we live – our life expectancy, but 
on how well we live – our healthy life expectancy.  Our focus is also on reducing differences between 
people and communities from different backgrounds.

Our overarching indicators domain presents these high-level outcomes.

We want to reduce health inequalities for local people
Prioritise 

prevention, 
early 

intervention, 
self-care and 

self-
management

Improve 
health, 

wellbeing and 
independence 

for local 
people

Good 
communicati

on and 
access to 

information 
for local 
people

Deliver 
services that 

meet peoples’ 
needs and 

support their 
independence

Provide safe, 
effective and 
high-quality 

care and 
support

Deliver 
person 

centred care 
through 

integrated 
and skilled 

service 
provision

A.  We want to reduce health inequalities for local people

People are supported to live in good health and have a good quality of life

• The average number of years a person would expect to live in good health

• The proportion of people reporting a good quality of life

Inequalities in healthy life expectancy are reduced

• The gap in health-related quality of life for older people between the most and least deprived areas

• The gap in rates of preventable deaths between the most and least deprived areas

Page 254

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 23 of 24

1.  Prioritise prevention, early intervention, self-care and self-management

Interventions take place early to tackle emerging problems, or to support people in the local 
population who are most at risk

Increase the proportion of people accessing national cancer screening programmes:
•  Bowel Cancer
•  Breast Cancer

Increase population vaccination coverage:
•  Flu vaccination (over 65)
•  Pneumococcal (PPV) (over 65)
•  Shingles vaccine (70 years and 78 and 79 year olds as a catch up)

Decrease in alcohol related hospital admissions

Increase smoking identification and cessation referral

Percentage of physically active adults

2.  Improve health, wellbeing and independence for local people

People are supported to have a good quality of life

Increase in recovery rates for psychological therapy

Reduction in the number of falls in the over 65s

Identification/reduction in the rate of loneliness

3.  Good communication and access to information for local people
People and their carers feel respected and able to make informed choices about services and 
how they are delivered
Increase the proportion of people and carers reporting that they have been involved or consulted as 
much as they wanted to be, in discussion about the care, support or services provided

Increase in the number of people dying in their preferred place

4.  Deliver services that meet peoples’ needs and support their 
independence
People are supported to be as independent as possible

Increase in people accessing the support available to them in their local communities
Respond to the needs of people with dementia and delirium (crisis and long term) so that they can stay 
in their own home
Proportion of people 65+ who are still at home three months after a period of rehabilitation
To provide treatment, care and support as needed, so those with dementia can live well with the 
condition?
Reduce repeat emergency admissions during end of life care

Page 255

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Older People Outcomes Framework       October 2019 Page 24 of 24

People access acute hospital services only when they need to

Reduction in number of A&E attendances

Consultant-Led Referral to Treatment Waiting Times

Reduction in number of non-elective admissions

People have access to timely and responsive care

Reduction in waiting times for Cancer 
•  (2 week waits)
•  One Month (31-day) diagnosis to first treatment wait
•  Two Month (62-day) urgent GP referral first treatment wait

Improving access to GPs

5.  Provide safe, effective and high-quality care and support

People are supported by high quality care and support

Increase number of people being screened for frailty

Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their (long term) condition

Increase in proportion of bereaved carers reporting good quality of care in the last three months of life

People are kept safe and free from avoidable harm

Reduction in healthcare acquired infections and serious incidents

6.  Deliver person centred care through integrated and skilled service 
provision
People and their families are engaged in the setting of their outcomes and the management of 
their care

Ability to self-care (knowledge, skills and confidence a person has in managing their own health and 
care)

Increase in the number of people with an LTC who has a personalised care and support plan

People are supported by skilled staff, delivering person-centred care

•  Increase in staff satisfaction levels

•  Proportion of staff who have completed person-centred care and support planning training  

Page 256

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
DATE: NOVEMBER 2019

REPORT TITLE NHS ENGLAND QUARTERLY REPORT TO WIRRAL 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

REPORT OF NHS England

1. Purpose of this report 

The aim of this report is to update Wirral Health and Wellbeing Board regarding the 
activities and responsibilities of NHS England and NHS Improvement. This report outlines 
the national and regional activities July 2019 to October 2019 together with specific 
updates on priorities of NHS North West

2. NHS England and NHS Improvement: Working Together

From 1 April 2019, NHS England and NHS Improvement came together to act as a single 
organisation. The Boards of NHS England and NHS Improvement will continue to operate 
separately meeting as committees in common. The two Boards share an integrated 
management team. 
The organisational change is being conducted over three phases. Phases one and two are 
complete and were concerned with establishing a single management structure at 
executive and regional level. Phase three is concerned with establishing the integrated 
staffing structure for NHS England and NHS Improvement below executive level. Staff 
were consulted on prosed changes through July and August 2019. The outcome of the 
consultation was published in September 2019 and phase three implementation began in 
October with internal recruitment to posts continuing until the end of December 2019.

Page 257

Agenda Item 13



2

3. Planning

3.1. Long Term Plan Implementation Framework

Further to the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan and the subsequent Implementation 
Framework (both can be found here: www.longtermplan.nhs.uk), local systems have been 
working hard to develop their five-year strategic plans. Draft plans were submitted to NHS 
England and NHS Improvement in September and have continued to be refined through 
October with final versions of system plans to be agreed with system leads and regional 
teams by mid November 2019. Publication of the national implementation programme for 
the Long-Term Plan is expected in December 2019.
  
3.2. The NHS’s recommendations to Government and Parliament for an NHS Bill
The NHS Long Term Plan included suggested changes to the law to help implement the 
Plan. In Spring, NHS staff, partner organisations and members of the public were invited to 
give their views on these proposals. The NHS has published its response to the views it 
received during engagement and set out its recommendations to Government and 
Parliament for an NHS Bill. This Bill could help deliver improved patient care by removing 
barriers and promoting collaboration between NHS organisations and their partners. The 
recommendations can be read in full here: NHS-recommendations-Government-
Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill

4. Delivery

4.1. NHS drive to increase uptake of vaccines
Immunisation and vaccination is one of the most impactful public health interventions in 
terms of reducing preventable morbidity and mortality. In England, vaccinations are offered 
to patients throughout their lives and are delivered through a combination of general 
practice led services, school health services and other providers such as community 
pharmacy.  
Whilst coverage for most vaccines, especially primary courses of childhood immunisations, 
is high, there has been a small but steady decline in the last few years, with coverage 
dropping in each of the past five years, below the important recommended level of 95%.
Nationally, vaccination rates are at 91.2% for measles, mumps and rubella (MMR). 
meaning that we do not have a high enough coverage to prevent onward transmission of 
infections, particularly measles.

Page 258

http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf


3

One of the consequences of this is that the UK lost its “measles-free” status with the World 
Health Organisation (WHO). The WHO has stated that in the first six months of 2019 
reported measles cases globally are almost three times as many as the same time last 
year. 
There are a multitude of factors which affect this.  Macro-factors include changing public 
attitudes to expert opinion, perception of risk of diseases which are now thankfully rare, 
and the impact of social media.  Micro-factors include the practical logistics of accessing 
appointments, accurately tracking coverage and communicating with patients and parents.
Measures to be taken forward for discussion include:

 Introducing a consistent way of reminding people to attend vaccination 
appointments;

 Ensuring that IT systems can alert staff to people who need to be vaccinated in the 
community;

 Broadening access to training for healthcare professionals;
 Continuing to promote information on vaccine safety and effectiveness to tackle 

concerns about misinformation.

General practice has an important role to play in supporting increased uptake and the 
findings of the review will feed into DHSC’s broader vaccination strategy.
  
For Wirral, according to the latest available data:

 0-5 years olds: uptake has decreased across the 0-5 year immunisations including 
MMR. This decrease reflects the national picture. Wirral uptake remains higher than 
the Cheshire & Merseyside and England averages but below the national target 
(95%)

 School aged immunisations: Uptake of the first dose of HPV vaccine has increased 
in comparison with the previous year and is above the Cheshire & Merseyside 
average. 

 Adult immunisations: Shingles vaccination uptake has continued to decrease. 
Uptake in Wirral is below the Cheshire, Wirral, Warrington average and England 
average.  Pre-natal Pertussis vaccination rates remain above the averages for 
Cheshire & Merseyside

 There continues to be significant variation in uptake across Wirral GP practices for 
all immunisations 

NHS England North West is continuing to work with LA and CCG colleagues to improve 
uptake, there is a local improvement plan and a Measles Elimination plan for Cheshire and 
Merseyside is being developed.

Page 259



4

4.2 Winter planning
Preparations regarding winter planning and strengthening urgent care resilience have 
been underway for several weeks. The focus being on building system capacity and 
responsiveness to emerging service pressures through increasing seven-day working, 
reducing long lengths of stay, addressing workforce challenges and understanding social 
care capacity. 
Daily winter reporting will commence in November and is anticipated to be in place until 
March 2020.

4.3 Reducing long hospital stays
Nearly 350,000 patients currently spend over three weeks in acute hospitals each year.
Many of those are older people who are often frail, and while a short period of treatment in 
hospital is sometimes necessary, staying too long can leave them vulnerable to infections 
or deconditioning.
Research suggests that more than one in three 70-year-olds experience muscle ageing 
during a prolonged stay in hospital, rising to two thirds of those aged over 90, which can 
leave some permanently less mobile or able to perform tasks they could before.
To support staff in planning care for patients recovering from an operation or illness, a 
campaign, called ‘Where Best Next?’ , has been launched which aims to see around 
140,000 people every year spared a hospital stay of three weeks or more.
As well as being better for those individuals who get home with the right support quicker, 
the drive could also free up more than 7,000 beds for other patients, the equivalent of 
building an extra 15 large hospitals.
NHS England and NHS Improvement have worked with a number of partners to identify 
five key principles which can help ensure that patients are discharged in a safe, 
appropriate and timely way.
The five principles relate to different stages of a patient’s stay: 

 Plan for discharge from the start
 Involve patients and their families in discharge decisions
 Establish systems and processes for frail people
 Embed multidisciplinary team reviews
 Encourage a supported ‘Home First’ approach

4.5 Sepsis: Alert and Action Technology.
In a major nationwide push to tackle sepsis, this year the NHS made it mandatory for all 
hospitals in England to implement national sepsis guidance. Sepsis (also known as blood 

Page 260

https://www.england.nhs.uk/urgent-emergency-care/reducing-length-of-stay/reducing-long-term-stays/


5

poisoning) is a life-threatening response to an infection in the body, where the immune 
system damages tissues and organs.
New ‘alert and action’ technology is being introduced which uses algorithms to read 
patients’ vital signs and alert medics to worsening conditions that are a warning sign of 
sepsis.
Three leading hospitals are using alerts to help identify sepsis and tell doctors when 
patients with the serious condition are getting worse, ahead of the measures being rolled 
out across England.
NHS leaders in Cambridge, Liverpool and Berkshire are now helping the rest of the health 
service to adopt tools to spot it, which costs 37,000 lives a year and is notoriously difficult 
to identify.

 In Liverpool, the hospital’s digital system brings together laboratory results and 
patient observations into one place to help staff diagnose and treat suspected 
sepsis, saving up to 200 lives a year.

 In Cambridge, deaths from sepsis have fallen consistently over the last three years, 
with at least 64 lives saved in the past year thanks to the innovative alert and action 
feature.

 In Berkshire since introducing a digital system, the Trust has increased screening 
rates by 70% with nine in 10 patients now consistently screened for sepsis during 
admission as opposed to two in ten beforehand, allowing doctors to spot more 
cases sooner.

The schemes are part of a national effort to push best practice and new technology across 
the NHS, to help hospitals learn from the success of others and spread use of the best 
technology further, faster.

ENDS

REPORT AUTHOR: Name: Nicola Allen
Role: Head of Medical, NHS England and NHS 

Improvement – North West
email:   nicola.allen7@nhs.net

 

Page 261



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	Minutes

	6 LIVERPOOL CITY REGION WEALTH AND WELLBEING PROGRAMME
	Appendix

	7 AIR QUALITY IN WIRRAL - STATUS ,PROGRESS AND PRIORITIES
	8 2019 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT - CREATIVE COMMUNITIES
	Appendix 1

	9 HEALTHY WIRRAL - UPDATE
	Healthy Wirral Place Programme
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	10 DEMENTIA STRATEGY
	Appendix

	11 OLDER PERSONS FRAMEWORK
	Appendix 1

	13 PARTNER UPDATES FOR NOTING

